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Vision
To be a leading figure in the world of energy,

driving its sustainable evolution and innovating
each day to improve people’s quality of life.

Mission

We have guaranteed efficient, safe and excellent energy
services to the community for over 180 years.

We favour the energy transition, creating the networks
of the future and promoting innovative, sustainable
solutions. We take care of local communities.

We fuel positive, productive relationships with all

of our stakeholders: individuals, companies, suppliers
and shareholders. We enter new markets where we can
apply our distinctive expertise. We promote the growth
of individuals and develop talent, creating inclusive,
stimulating work environments.

Purpose

Pioneers by passion and builders by calling, we bring
all our energy to accelerate the ecological transition.
We do it for us. We do it for everyone.

Disclaimer

The Integrated Annual Report contains forward-looking statements, specifically in the "Business Outlook” section, relating to: investment plans,
financial structure evolution, future operating performance and project execution. The forward-looking statements, by their nature, involve risks and
uncertainties as they depend on the occurrence of future events and developments. The actual results could therefore differ from those announced
in relation to various factors, including: actual operating performance, general macro-economic conditions, geopolitical factors such as international
tensions and socio-political instability, the effects of the pandemic, the impact of energy and environmental regulations, the successful development
and application of new technologies, changes in stakeholder expectations and other changes in business conditions, action by competitors

The names ltalgas, Italgas Group or Group refer to Italgas S.p.A. and the companies included in the scope
of consolidation.
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The structure of the Italgas Group as at 31 December 2022 changed, compared to that
in place as at 31 December 2021, due to:

— the incorporation on 15 April 2022 of Immogas Sr.l. (a 100%-owned subsidiary of
Toscana Energia S.p.A.) as a result of the non-proportional and asymmetrical partial
demerger of Valdarno Sr.l;

— the deconsolidation of Gaxa S.p.A. following the sale of a majority stake to Edison
Energia S.p.A. (completed on 4 May 2022);

— the merger by incorporation of Fratelli Ceresa S.p.A. into Geoside S.p.A. (formerly
Seaside S.p.A.), whose agreement was signed on 20 July 2022, with accounting and
tax effects as at 1 January 2022;

— the acquisition, completed on 1 September 2022 through Italgas Newco S.p.A., of
the entire share capital of DEPA Infrastructure Single Member S.A. (DEPA Infrastruc-
ture), company which fully controls Thessaloniki - Thessalia Gas Distribution S.A.
(EDA Thess), Attiki Natural Gas Distribution Single Member Company S.A. (EDA At-
tikis) and Public Gas Distribution Networks Single Member S.A. (DEDA);

— the sale of 10% of the share capital of Italgas Newco S.p.A., sole shareholder of DEPA
Infrastructure, to Phaeton Holdings Single Member S.A,, a financial company of the
Greek industrial group Copelouzos;

— Medea's acquisition of the entire share capital of Janagas Sr.l, the company that
holds the concessions for the distribution and sale of LPG in 12 Municipalities in Sar-
dinia, on 13 December 2022;

— Medea S.p.A’s subscription of 49% of the share capital of Energie Rete Gas Sir.l, a
company active in gas transmission through a network of regional methane pipe-
lines, which took place on 21 December 2022 through the transfer of Medea’s gas
transmission business to Energie Rete Gas Sir.l.
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Letter to Shareholders
and Stakeholders

NFS

Dear Shareholders and Stakeholders,
In an energy scenario characterised by
a process of profound transformation,
gas distributors play a crucial role

in achieving the objectives of energy
security, diversification of supply

and decarbonisation of consumption.

A role that, in the aftermath of the outbreak of war on Europe’s doorstep, was even
more specifically defined by the REPowerEU.

The European Commission document, in fact, in indicating biomethane and hydrogen
as sources intended to contribute to the replacement of about 50% of the gas that the
EU imported from Russia (155 billion cubic metres in 2021), emphasised the extraordi-
nary role of gas distribution networks both as a carrier of these renewable gases and as
a stimulus to their production. This is a logical choice, since we can count on an ex-
tremely capillary network that in Europe stretches for about two million kilometres and
which, suitably transformed, is capable of favouring the progressive replacement of gas
of fossil origin and the achievement of the net-zero economy.

In the changed scenario, the characteristic of capillarity makes these networks not only a
driver for distribution, but also and above all a driver for gas collection: a biomethane
plant is much more likely to be located close to a distribution network than a transmis-
sion network, and feeding it into the grid is also easier due to lower operating pressures.

As ltalgas has demonstrated in recent years, working with foresight and vision on the
digital transformation of assets and processes, the starting assumption is that digitisa-
tion must necessarily precede the energy transition. Itis an infrastructural issue: prepar-
ing the assets to accommodate and manage multiple commodities at the same time,
to recognise in real time the types of gas that are being distributed, thus the amount of
energy, to assess the correct network set-up at a given time, and so on.

Already today, it is not only gas of fossil origin that flows through our networks. There is
also biomethane produced from the wet fraction of waste and agricultural residues;
and in the near future it will also be the turn of hydrogen and synthetic methane. Con-
sequently, the infrastructure must be smart, “alive”, flexible and able to react to condi-
tions that are not and will no longer be standard conditions, precisely because of the
arrival of different gases. Italgas has been working on this since 2017, accompanying
and supporting this transformation with upskilling and reskilling activities to enable its
people to manage and anticipate change. A path that by the end of 2023 will lead us to
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provide the country with an almost entirely digitised network, ready to accommodate
renewable gases and thus contribute to the achievement of climate targets.

In this context, biomethane is crucial for encouraging the ecological transition of Italy
and Europe.

The potential is such that several studies agree that the amount of biomethane that Ita-
ly could produce by building new plants and upgrading existing biogas plants, which
cannot be injected into the network due to its composition, is around 8 billion cubic
metres. 8 billion cubic metres corresponds to more than 10% of the country’s current
needs, roughly the amount that TAP from Azerbaijan or twice as much as GreenStream
from Libya brings to Italy today.

At the European level, the calculations are even more significant: the EU Commission
estimates a potential annual production of between 25 and 30% of the European Un-
ion’s current gas consumption. We need only consider that, from 2018 to 2021, instal-
lations in Europe almost tripled to 1,023 in nineteen countries, and it is not a coinci-
dence that most of them are connected to distribution networks.

In ltaly, there are 54 biomethane plants with a capacity of 479 million cubic metres per
year, still far from Italy’s potential and that of other countries that are further advanced
in the development of the sector, such as France (with 365 plants and 620 million cu-
bic metres produced) and Germany (242 and 1.2 billion cubic metres). The growth
margins are extensive, especially in Southern ltaly, where, by virtue of its agricultural
tradition, estimates point to a production capacity of 2-3 billion cubic metres to be de-
veloped by 2030.

ltalgas is playing its part with more than € 100 million of investments aimed at facilitat-
ing the connection of biomethane production plants to the distribution network and
establishing reverse flow technology towards the transmission network, so as to ena-
ble the acceptance of quantities that are not consumed locally.

However, there is one fact that needs to be reflected upon: today, in Italy, most of the
connection charges fall on the biomethane producer while only 20% are borne by the
system. In other EU countries, this relationship is often the opposite, and this has been
an important development factor.

On both fronts — reverse flow and connection costs — in line with the objectives set by
REPowerEU, it would be desirable for the European legislator and the national regula-
tor to intervene in order to define a framework of rules to promote their effective de-
velopment, drawing also on the use of NRRP funds, which is something that has a rela-
tively short-time horizon.

As for green hydrogen, our forecast is that its era will not begin for five to seven years:
the conditions must be created for its cost to be competitive with other sources. And
for this to happen, a large surplus of energy from renewable sources and a lower cost
of electrolysis than at present would be required.

In the meantime, however, numerous experiments are underway by industry players,
and ltalgas is also working to be ready. In Sardinia, we are implementing a pilot project
based on Power-To-Gas (P2G) technology for the production of green hydrogen. The
project is in partnership with important research institutions such as the Polytechnic
University of Turin and the CRS4 Research Centre of the Sardinia Region, and is in the
final stages with regard to the administrative authorisations that need to be obtained.

The choice of this island is not accidental: in the only region that did not experience
the benefits of methane until 2020, Italgas has created a network of “digital native” net-
works — the most advanced in the country — that has allowed it to overcome the natu-
ral gas challenge within two years and to attract new operators in the sector, reactivat-
ing an important economic domain. An energy system, dubbed the "Sardinia model’,
based on state-of-the-art networks and cryogenic deposits of liquefied natural gas
("small scale LNG") that made it possible to overcome the shortage of pipeline connec-
tivity. A model that, thanks to P2G technology, can also highlight the contribution of
sector coupling to decarbonisation, energy diversification and security.

This solution can be adopted in all those areas where traditional supply is complex or
uneconomical, such as in some areas of Greece, where ltalgas completed the acquisi-
tion of 100% of DEPA Infrastructure as well as its distribution companies EDA Thess,
EDA Attikis and DEDA in 2022. A process of sharing technical and technological know-



how has already begun with them, in support of the common goal of building an infra-
structure of excellence that will contribute to achieving the coal and lignite phase-out
targets set by the Greek government in line with EU targets.

Itis precisely this capacity for technological innovation, which has made Italgas a glob-
al benchmark, that has enabled the company’s daily operations and process manage-
ment to become digitally transformed in recent years, starting with network control
and gas leakage prevention activities. In this area, the definitive adoption of Picarro
technology, the most cutting-edge in the world in the field of preventive network mon-
itoring, has brought about a Copernican revolution in the control of fugitive methane
emissions, to the point of reducing leakage from Italgas networks to less than 0.1%.

Innovation is also at the heart of the Group's presence in the energy efficiency sector,
where it offers advanced solutions and products that guarantee systematic energy sav-
ings. Those same solutions that are proposed to the market have already been applied
in our operations and have enabled us to achieve savings of more than 20% in energy
consumption over the past year, in both electricity and gas.

Together with technological innovation, decarbonisation, the circular economy, the
sustainability of its supply chain, safety of assets, training, diversity and inclusion are
also strategic drivers through which Italgas intends to implement the 2022-2028 Sus-
tainable Value Creation Plan, approved last 14 December by the Italgas’ Board of Direc-
tors, which is part of the trajectory of the € 8.6 billion investment Strategic Plan. A Plan
that has defined three directions - Planet, People and Partnership (for a sustainable fu-
ture together)- corresponding to lines of action with clear commitments, measurable
targets and expected medium- and long-term results.

Thanks to adjusted revenues of € 1,537.3 million (€ 1,555.9 million in the reported con-
figuration) and an adjusted net profit attributable to the Group of € 395.7 million (€
407.3 million in the reported configuration), the Group's growth trend, which has been
constant and uninterrupted since its return to the Stock Exchange in 2016, was also
confirmed in 2022. These are results achieved thanks to the contribution of all Italgas
people, who have combined change, innovation and improvement, and which allow
us to propose the distribution of a dividend of 0.317, an increase of +7.5% compared to
2022, to the satisfaction of our Shareholders.

Pioneers by passion and builders by calling, we bring all our energy to accelerate the
ecological transition. We do it for us.

We do it for everyone.

Benedetta Navarra Paolo Gallo

Chairwoman & Non-Executive Chief Executive Officer
Independent Director and General Manager
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2022 Highlights!

Consolidated economic and financial highlights?

1,5373 M1 €

Adjusted total revenues
+12.1% compared to 2021

1,082.7 we

Adjusted EBITDA
+7.3% compared to the 2021 result

6228 Ml €

Adjusted EBIT
+6.8% compared to the 2021 result

1. The consolidated economic and financial highlights and operational
highlights reflect the effects of the consolidation of the DEPA
Infrastructure Group on 1 September 2022.

3957 Ml €

Adjusted net profit attributable
to the Group
+7.6% compared to the 2021 result

8143 Ml €

Investments
€ 865.1 million in 2021

5717 M1 €

Cash flow from operating activities?®
€ 831.9 million in 2021

2. For the economic and financial analyses for the financial year 2022,
the company considered it more representative to comment on the
adjusted results, i.e. the recurring results, comparing them with the
adjusted recurring results for the financial year 2021.

3. Net of the effects deriving from IFRS 15.



6,000.1 we

Net financial debt*
€ 4,985.9 million on 2021

5,928.1 we

Net financial debt (excluding the effects
of IFRS 16)°
€ 4,915.9 million on 2021

€ 0317 per share

Proposed dividend
+7.5% compared to the dividend
paid in 2022

4. he item does not include liabilities for € 34.8 million consisting of

the pro-rata share of the shareholder loan to Italgas Newco S.p.A,
subordinated and convertible into shares, subscribed by the shareholder
Phaeton Holding SA, deemed not to be financial debt. In accordance
with Consob Communication no. DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006, the
net financial debt including the effects of this shareholders’ loan as

well as the effects of IFRS 16 payables is presented in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements and amounts to € 6,034.9 million.
See paragraph 5.24 Reclassified Statement of Financial Position.

Operating highlights®

4135 tousana

New smart meters installed
to replace traditional meters

+5357/

Distribution network in operation
for an overall length of approximately
81,309 km

2 / 044 municipalities

Municipalities with gas distribution
service concessions

(1,898 as at 31 December 2021)

of which 1,950 operating

(1,822 as at 31 December 2021)

5. The item expresses net financial debt excluding the effects of IFRS
16 payables and the Italgas NewCo shareholder loan. See paragraph
5.24 Reclassified Statement of Financial Position.

6. Considering the affiliates over which Italgas does not exercise
control.

15
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Sustainability highlights’ onF

Italgas for the future of the planet

141 : 2 10°tc0O,eq

Scope 1l and 2
-12.1% on 2021

137 5 10°tc0o,eq

Scope 3 supply chain
-6.6% on 2021

79613 wom

Volumes of gas distributed
-10.4% on 2021

0.06

Energy intensity®
in line with 2021

0.0877%

Gas leakage rate®
in line with 2021

9 O . 5 sm3/km network

Fugitive emissions
-15.2% on 2021

472.

Net energy consumption
-21% on 2021

97.6%

Sending of waste produced
by the Group

94.57%

Sending of waste produced
by contractors for recovery
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Italgas for the future of people Italgas for a sustainable future together I
9
@
4 . ; o SMEs and start-ups -
3
Women in positions of responsibility Innovative companies considered
as compared with 22% in 2021 for possible collaborations related to II

digitisation, technological innovation,
energy efficiency, security and

1'7 8 O/ sustainability of Group processes
. o

O O/
Women in the company 4 o about

as compared with 16.4% in 2021

Strategic suppliers for sustainability
1 9 O O involved and trained on ESG issues
2 / ; hours I

Training delivered
+15.4% on 2021, of which 33,155
for topics relating to digitisation

S1USLIDIL)S JeldueUl{ Pa1eplloSuor)

S1USWIDIL)S JeIdURUI{ PR1ePIIOSUOY) SY) O} SaXauuy <

7. Highlights in reference to the Italian scope.

8. Calculated as the ratio of total Group energy consumption and gas
distributed.

9. Volume of fugitive emissions of natural gas/volume of gas
distributed.
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Methodological note

Integrated Annual
Report 2022 ¢ w=

Objectives of the
document

The ltalgas Group (hereinafter also referred to as ‘Ital-
gas” or the "Group”) has presented the annual financial
report in the form of an Integrated Annual Report (here-
inafter also referred to as the "Report” or the “Integrated
Report’) as a tool for the integrated reporting of finan-
cial and non-financial data. It consists of the Directors’
Report (with both financial and non-financial reporting),
the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Sepa-
rate Financial Statements of Italgas S.p.A.

By way of this document, the ltalgas Group also aims to
meet the requirements of ltalian Legislative Decree
254/16, issued in order to ‘implement Directive
2014/95/EU of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 22 October 2014 amending Directive
2013/34/EU as regards disclosure of non-financial and
diversity information by certain large undertakings and
groups” . Also, "to the extent necessary to ensure un-
derstanding of the business, its performance, results
and the impact it produces, the document covers envi-
ronmental and social matters, personnel-related issues,
respect for human rights and the fight against active
and passive bribery, which are important, considering
the activities and characteristics of the company”.

The Integrated Annual Report makes it possible to pro-
vide stakeholders with an accurate, extensive and trans-
parent report of the Group's activities, the results
achieved and their progress, in addition to the services
provided.

Having joined the United Nations Global Compact, Ital-
gas also decided to update the annual Communication
on Progress (CoP) within its Integrated Report, by sup-
plementing its content in order to notify all internal and
external stakeholders of the activities undertaken and
results achieved when implementing the Ten Principles
of the Global Compact.

10. Il Global Compact (GC) delle Nazioni Unite, liniziativa volontaria
di cittadinanza d'impresa piu ampia al mondo, prevede per le aziende
'adesione a dei principi che promuovono lintegrazione della
sostenibilita nel business. Le Societa/Organizzazioni che aderiscono
all'iniziativa sono tenute a comunicare a tutti gli stakeholder interni ed

Reference framework
and reporting standards

In relation to the financial information, the Italgas Inte-
grated Annual Report was prepared using the following
references:

— International accounting standards (IAS/IFRS);

— ltalian Legislative Decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998,
as amended ("Consolidated Finance Act” or "TUF");

— Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002;

— ltalian Legislative Decree no. 25/2016, implementing
European Directive 2013/50/EU.

Pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 254/2016, the re-
porting of non-financial information is carried out “in
accordance with the methods and principles required
by the reporting standard used as a reference or by the
independent reporting method used to prepare the
statement’.

For this aspect, the Group used the following technical
and methodological references:

— for reporting of the information required by Italian
Legislative Decree 254/16, Italgas has adopted the
"Global Reporting Initiative Sustainability Reporting
Standards” (hereinafter “GRI Standards’) issued by the
"Global Reporting Initiative” in 2016, as amended. In
particular, according to the provision of the GRI
Standard 1: Foundation, requirement 8, the ltalgas
Group prepared the document in accordance with
GRI Standards for the period 01.01.2022 - 31.12.2022.
The references to the GRI Standards reported on are
contained in both the Integrated Annual Report and
the table of indicators;

— the Integrated Annual Report refers to the Guiding
Principles and Content Elements required by the In-
ternational Integrated Reporting Framework (herein-
after also "IIRF" or "IR Framework”), issued by the In-

esterni le attivita intraprese e i risultati raggiunti nellimplementazione
dei principi del Global Compact. Alle Societa aderenti &, infatti,
richiesto di comunicare annualmente agli stakeholder il progresso
raggiunto attraverso la pubblicazione sul sito del GC di un documento
di rendicontazione annuale (Communication on Progress, COP).



ternational Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC) and
updated in January 2021

For the reporting related to the requirements of Leqisla-
tive Decree 254/2016, a specific reconciliation table has
been prepared that shows the issues required by the de-
cree by correlating them to the paragraphs/chapters in
which they are addressed in this document, the materi-
al topics, capital and, finally, the GRI indicators.

Where estimations were required in order to report par-
ticular data, this is specified in the description or in the
notes to the table.

In addition, with reference to the requests for informa-
tion correlated with European Taxonomy, the report is
made in compliance with the provisions of the "Regula-
tion (EU) 2020/852 of the European Parliament and of
the Council of 18 June 2020 on the establishment of a
framework to facilitate sustainable investment, and
amending Regulation (EU) 2019/2088" as well as with
the Delegated Acts applicable to it with reference to the
date of publication of this document.

The document is published annually and is available on
the website: https://www.italgas.it/investitori/bilan-
ci-e-presentazioni/

To facilitate the reading of this document, specific icons
have been used to identify the minimum elements re-
quired by ltalian Legislative Decree 254/16 (NFS) and the
principles required by the Global Compact (&).

Reporting scope
and period

The data and information reported in this Integrated An-
nual Report refer to the performance of the ltalgas
Group™ in the financial year ending 31 December 2022.

Changes in the scope of consolidation are illustrated
under the Chapter entitled Italgas Group Structure as at
31 December 2022 (page 5).

For the non-financial reporting, the quantitative data in
this document refer, where possible, to the 2020, 2021
and 2022 financial years. This is to ensure comparison
of the information with information from previous fi-
nancial years, as required by lItalian Legislative Decree
254/16, and also to comply with the comparability prin-
ciple under the GRI Standards.

11. Please note that for the purposes of non-financial reporting

in the Integrated Annual Report, the Italgas Group only includes
companies over which Italgas exercises control and not also affiliates
that are not subsidiaries, for which the operating data is stated. For
the list of companies consolidated using the line-by-line method, see
the details in point B) "Consolidated Financial Statements” as at 31
December 2022.

12. https://www.italgas.it/en/group/companies/italgas-reti/

13. https://www.italgasacqua.it/

The reporting boundary of the non-financial data in-
cludes:

— ltalgas S.p.A., parent company with offices in Milan,
Via Carlo Bo 11;

— ltalgas Reti S.p.A.%2, with offices in Turin, at Largo Re-
gio Parco 11, whose core business is nationwide gas
distribution;

— ltalgas Acqua S.p.A%, with offices in Caserta, at Via
Falco 31, whose core business is water distribution in
five municipalities of the Campania region;

— Medea S.p.A¥, with offices in Sassari, at Loc. Predda
Niedda strada 1 angolo strada 2, whose core busi-
ness is the distribution of natural gas and propane air
in the Sardinia region;

— Toscana Energia S.p.A"%, with offices in Florence, at
Piazza E. Mattei 3, whose core business is gas distri-
bution primarily in the Tuscany region;

— Geoside S.p.A®, with offices in Bologna, at Via E.
Cristoni 88, an Energy Service Company (ESCo) pro-
viding consulting services and technological and fi-
nancing solutions in the energy efficiency sector;

— Bludigit S.p.A.Y, with registered office in Milan, at Via
Carlo Bo 11, whose core business is tied to the man-
agement of the ltalgas Group business and assets in
the IT area and the creation of a commercial offer of
IT services;

— DEPA Infrastructure SA™ with registered office at Me-
sogeion Avenue 207, Athens, the holding company
of a group whose core business is gas distribution in
Greece through its subsidiaries Thessaloniki - Thes-
salia Gas Distribution S.A. (EDA Thess)®, Attiki Natural
Gas Distribution Single Member Company S.A. (EDA
Attikis)?® and Public Gas Distribution Networks S.A.
(DEDA)?.

The figures in the Consolidated Non-Financial Statement
for DEPA Infrastructure SA and its subsidiaries reflect the
effects of consolidation as at 1 September 2022.

Data relating to Janagas S.r.l. is not included in the 2022
non-financial reporting boundary insofar as the com-
pletion of acquisition of control took place in Decem-
ber 2022 and has no significantly material effects on the
report.

Any exceptions to the criteria set out above are detailed
in the individual sections of the document in the form
of a footnote to a table or page.

14. https://www.italgas.it/en/group/companies/medea/
15. https://www.toscanaenergia.eu/

16. https://www.geoside.com/

17. https://www.italgas.it/en/group/companies/bludigit/
18. https://depanetworks.gr/

19. https://www.edathess.gr/

20. https://edaattikis.gr/

21. https://deda.gr/
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Reporting process

Preparation of the Italgas Integrated Annual Report involved across-the-board engage-
ment of all Italgas Group companies, departments and divisions and the performance
of the following activities:

— identifying the reporting scope for financial and non-financial information;

— preparing and updating the materiality analysis, including through stakeholder en-
gagement;

— collecting the qualitative and quantitative data to be reported, with the direct en-
gagement of the company divisions/units in charge of such data;

— consolidating the data and preparing the draft Integrated Annual Report;

— approvalon 9 March 2023 by the Board of Directors of the Integrated Annual Report
and the draft financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022;

— theissuance of reports by the independent auditing firm appointed.

More specifically, the following independent auditors’ reports contain the results of the
audits conducted by Deloitte & Touche S.p.A:

— Report in accordance with Article 3, paragraph 10 of Italian Legislative Decree no.
254 of 30 December 2016 and Article 5 of CONSOB Regulation no. 20267/2018,
drawn up in relation to non-financial information reporting in the document;

— Reports in accordance with Article 14 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 39 of 27 Janu-
ary 2010 and Article 10 of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014, drawn up in relation to the
financial information in the Consolidated Financial Statements and Separate Finan-
cial Statements.

Materiality analysis

The structure of the NFS contents of the Integrated Annual Report starts from the anal-
ysis of the material topics, i.e. those considered to have the highest impact for the
Company, taking into account not only the minimum elements indicated by Legislative
Decree 254/2016 (Article 3, subsection 1), but also the business model, its own charac-
teristics and the expectations of the Company's stakeholders.

Italgas updates the materiality analysis on an annual basis, taking into account stake-
holder requests, changes in the regulatory environment, the Group's strategy and any
drivers capable of significantly affecting the Group's capacity to generate value in the
short, medium and long term. For 2022 reporting, the Group has adopted a new ap-
proach, in line with the updated standards and frameworks. In particular, the process of
adapting to the EU Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) has begun, ap-
proved by the European Parliament on 28 November 2022 (in force from 2024), for
which draft standards are already available that address the approach to be followed in
carrying out the materiality analysis.

The new Directive proposes a "dual materiality” approach, identifying two directions in
which to frame corporate governance, social and environmental issues: namely how
these affect a company’s financial performance and long-term value (impacts suffered,
outside-in perspective) and what effects the company causes on society and the sur-
rounding environment (impacts generated, inside-out perspective).

In this context, an important role is played also by the new sustainability reporting stan-
dards of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), published in 2021 and effective from Jan-
uary 2023, which require a revision of the materiality analysis path. The objective of the
new GRI materiality (Impact Materiality) is to identify what effects (positive and nega-
tive) a company causes on society and its environment (generated impacts). It is there-
fore required to report, as material, on the issues that represent the most significant
impacts generated by the Group on the economy, the environment and the people.

Anticipating what will become mandatory starting from 2024, Italgas has approached
Financial Materiality following the new regulatory framework proposed by the Europe-
an Financial Reporting Advisory Group (EFRAG) through an initial quali-quantitative



analysis of issues from a financial point of view, i.e. those issues that generate (or may
generate) financial effects on the company (impacts suffered), producing risks and op-
portunities or influencing its cash flow or value in the short, medium or long term, even
if this cannot be detected by financial reporting.

Italgas has implemented its process seeking to update the materiality analysis, assessing
the impacts generated (so-called “Impact Materiality”) through a set of activities engaging
and listening to key qualified, expert interlocutors, as suggested by the reference guide-
lines (GRI Universal Standards 2021 — GRI 3). An activity that goes beyond the concept of
a materiality “matrix” in favour of a prioritised list of material topics and a reporting thresh-
old established on the basis of assessment of the most significant impacts.

The methodology used by the Group consisted of four stages:
1. Identification of impacts generated by Italgas and updating of material topics

2. Evaluation of material topics from the point of view of the impacts generated by the
Group and collection of stakeholder expectations

3. Involvement of Top Management to explain the findings, collect further feedback
and validate the analysis

4. Evaluation of the impacts suffered by the Group from a Financial Materiality per-
spective through interviews with Top Management

Phase 1

Identification of impacts generated by Italgas and updating of material
topics

To identify the topics to be submitted for assessment, the starting point was the revision of
the relevant topics of the 2021 reports, updated according to changes to the internal and
external context, and regulatory evolutions.

In response to the standards and the new Double Materiality approach, the review of the
material topics has led to:

i. the updating of the declarations of the material topics “Innovation” to "Network Digi-
tisation and Innovation” and “Environmental Sustainability” to “Ecosystem and Biodi-
versity Management” from an ‘impact-oriented” perspective, in order to enhance
the impacts that the Company generates for its stakeholders;

ii. the integration of the new topics "Network Development’, "Network Cybersecurity”
and "Adoption of Circular Economy Principles’, carried out in light of the changed
conditions of the reference context and consistent with the objectives set out in the
"2022-2028 Sustainable Value Creation Plan”.

a new clustering of topics in line with the 2022-2028 Sustainable Value Creation Plan:
"Planet’, "People”, "Sustainable Future” (see Chapter 6) as well as the "Governance”
cluster ("Responsible Governance and Risk Management”, "Economic Value Genera-
tion and ESG Finance” and "Compliance, Transparency and Anti-Corruption”), which
was defined for some cross-cutting issues in the three Pillars of the Plan.

Phase 2

Evaluation of material topics from the point of view of the impacts gener-
ated by the Group and a compilation of stakeholder expectations

Listening and engagement of external and internal stakeholders has taken place both
through the organisation of a Multistakeholder Forum and by asking all external partici-
pants and all Group employees (ltaly and Greece) to assess, through a survey, the ma-
terial topics in terms of Generated Impact, Urgency and Perceived Oversight, on a
Likert scale (from 1 to 5).

21

10daYy ,SI0109UI(Q e

b
—

I

S1USWIDIL)S JeldueUl{ Pa1epPIoSUoD)

S1USWIDIL)S JeIdURUI4 PR1ePIIOSUOY) SY) O} SaXauUy <




22

Integrated Annual Report 2022

Impact Materiality Financial Materiality
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Phase 3

Involvement of Top Management to explain the evidence, gather further
feedback and validate the analysis

The third phase involved the Group's top management, called to assess, through a
dedicated survey, the material topics already classified for Impact, Urgency and Over-
sight and to discuss and approve the results of the activities completed.

Phase 4

Evaluation of the impacts suffered by the Group from a Financial Materiality perspective

Although Financial Materiality is not required for the year 2022, Italgas has nevertheless
begun an initial exercise to assess the impacts suffered by the Company by taking as a
reference the standards - still in draft — of the EFRAG (mandatory from 2024), and will
follow a gradual and more qualitative approach®.

At the end of the entire process to collect and summarise the various contributions
made for Impact and Financial Materiality, also involving Top Management, the follow-
ing summary view was obtained of the main impacts generated and suffered in relation
to Italgas’ material topics?.

4.0 5.0

22. In the lack of definitive standards, the Financial Materiality exercise
was not subject to assurance activities

23. In the topic "Ecosystem and Biodiversity Management”, the
aspects relating to the management of water resources and
biodiversity are, in their individual meanings, not deemed relevant

to Italgas’ core business (it should be noted that the Group is not
required, for its gas and water distribution activities, to carry out an
environmental impact assessment pursuant to Directive 2011/92/
EU). With reference to water resources, since 2018, Italgas carried out
an environmental analysis that showed that, considering the size of
the volumes of water withdrawn, the type of use made of the water

(hygiene-sanitary or fire-fighting uses) and the geographical location
of the Italgas Companies, the impacts on the water resource are
considered negligible; moreover, the incidence of the business on

the total Group revenues of the company Italgas Acqua, whose only
activity is the distribution of drinking water, is less than 1%. Despite this,
as evidence of the fact that the aspect is in any case monitored and
supervised, the above section sets out the withdrawals, discharges and
consumptions of the Group, in compliance with the requirements of
Italian Legislative Decree no. 254/16. Finally, impacts on biodiversity
were also considered negligible, in light of the fact that the Group
operates predominantly in an urban environment (from “city gate” to
meter, see paragraph "Biodiversity”, Chapter 6.1).
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Newtorks digitalization and innovation

Energy transition and fight against climate change

Safety of network, assets and people

Cybersecurity

Quiality of services and customer satisfaction

Economic value generation and ESG finance

Network development

Protection, inclusion, enhancement and well-being of human resources
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Compliance, transparency and fight against corruption

Responsible governance and risk management
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Sustainable management of the supply chain

Respect tor human rights

Adoption of circular economy principles

Dialogue and value creation on territory

Management of ecosystems and biodiversity

Corporate identity (founding corporate values, historical legacy)
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Continuous dialogue with stakeholders is a priority for the Group, allowing it to constant-

ly monitor the level of satisfaction of a company’s work. It is also a chance to gather use- I
ful insights in order to improve the quality of services and operational and management

models. Accordingly, Italgas adopts diversified and flexible dialogue and involvement

practices, in response to the various characteristics and needs of its stakeholders.

The stakeholder categories identified and stakeholder engagement activities carried
outin 2022 are set out below.

Stakeholder category Stakeholder interaction methods

Periodic financial reports and conference calls about these; presentation of the business plan;
Investors and lenders shareholders’ meeting; physical and on-line meetings and conference calls with analysts and
investors, also focusing specifically on SRI matters; corporate website; social networks.

Suppliers Dedicated meetings, supplier conventions; annual training and engagement initiatives.

Direct, ongoing relationship with the sales personnel through dedicated dialogue channels;
periodic workshops with sales companies; interactions with end customers through the
customer portals; customer satisfaction surveys.

Customers and sales
companies

Periodic meetings, continuous dialogue and workshops for debate, and discussion of

Authorities and Associations sustainability topics on an Italian and international level.

S1USWIDIL)S JeIdURUI4 PR1ePIIOSUOY) SY) O} SaXauUy <

Training events; periodic meetings; annual meetings to discuss career development paths;

People i ) .
newsletters; company environment analyses; company Intranet.

Meetings with representatives of local communities, associations and organisations; social and

Communities and local areas D
cultural initiatives.
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1. The Italgas Group
value creation process

1.1 Corporate identity wws

ltalgas is the leading gas distributor in Italy and Greece
and the third in Europe: with its affiliates and the work of
4,281 people at the various offices across lItaly and
Greece, it manages 81,309 kilometres of gas distribu-
tion network, through which, in 2022, it distributed
more than 8,500 million cubic metres of gas to 7,959
thousand users. In Italy, the Group holds 1,904 distribu-
tion concessions, with a historical presence in ltaly’s
main cities, including Turin, Venice, Florence and Rome,
and a market share of over 33%. In 2022, the comple-
tion of the DEPA Infrastructure transaction enabled Ital-
gas to acquire the distribution licence in 140 municipal-
ities in Greece, of which 105 are already in operation.

With more than 185 years of history, Italgas is unani-
mously acknowledged as the company that has
brought gas into ltalian homes, contributing towards
the country’s social and economic development. Itis a
contribution that is also renewed today: the most signif-
icant example is the methanisation of Sardinia, where
since it first started back in 2018, the Group has installed
910 km of new digital native networks and in 2020, the
first natural gas was distributed on the island.

ltalgas has always had a firm focus on the future, aware
of the role its infrastructure plays and will play in sup-
porting the energy transition, guaranteeing the coun-
try's energy security. Through the major investment
plan announced in June 2022, the 2022-2028 Business
Plan, the Group continues its extension and repurpos-
ing of the network, not only in order to guarantee its
safety and efficiency, but also the capacity to distribute
renewable, low-carbon, hydrogen and synthetic gases,
which look set to play an increasingly important role
over the next few years.

The recent acquisition of DEPA Infrastructure S.A. in
Greece will also allow the Group to further strengthen
its position in the European gas sector, entering a mar-
ket that offers significant growth opportunities, making
its network digitisation and development capacities
available to support Greece's energy transition.

The Group's business

The core business of Italgas is focused on gas distribu-
tion, which it carries out as part of the wider national

system, involving the distribution of gas on behalf of
sales companies authorised to sell the gas to end cus-
tomers. In addition to the delivery service, carried out
using the local pipeline networks from the city-gates
(reduction and metering stations interconnected with
the transmission networks), the company carries out
metering activities, which include the collection, pro-
cessing, validation and provision of consumption data
in order to regulate commercial transactions between
operators and users.

The operations for the gas distribution business are
managed by:

ltalgas Reti S.p.A. - which operates nationwide

Toscana Energia S.p.A. - operating in the Tuscany re-
gion

Medea S.p.A. and Janagas S.r.l. - operating in Sardinia

DEPA Infrastructure S.A., through its subsidiaries EDA
Attikis S.A., DEDA S A. and EDA Thess - operating in
Greece.

In Italy, Italgas is subject to regulation by the Italian Reg-
ulatory Authority for Energy, Networks and Environ-
ment (also referred to as the Authority or ARERA), which
defines both how to conduct the service and the rates
for distribution and metering. The gas distribution busi-
ness is carried out under concession. A similar regulato-
ry activity is carried out in Greece by the public body
appointed for this purpose (RAE).

The ltalgas Group also operates:

— in energy efficiency through Geoside SpA, its ESCo
(Energy Service Company) specialised in energy
consulting and the supply of energy services to both
the private residential and industrial sector and the
public administration sector.

— in the management of the integrated water service
of five Municipalities in Campania, on a concession
basis, through Italgas Acqua S.p.A.

— in Information Technology through Bludigit, the
company in which all the Group's IT assets are con-
centrated, offering proprietary cutting-edge digital
solutions, making the competences and applications
developed in-house available to other operators too,
both in the energy sector and other sectors.
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12 B'U_Siness modelm — Support processes;

— Control processes.

The operations of the Italgas Group are included in the
business model. Below are the key processes of these
operations:

Responsible governance, stakeholder engagement, risk
management and accountability are key, essential ele-
ments of all the above activities and processes (see

— Governance processes; "Governance, risks and opportunities” section).

— Business processes;

> Strategy Communication
/ Value chain
model Development Activities Operational Activities
m Italgas gﬁcan;g‘l‘g Business process - Gas distribution and metering

> >

l i DEPA Acquisition of Licence Portfolio Management of concessions
Medea INFRASTRUCTURE

and construction
of networks

Business Process - Integrated Water Service

IG 00

> >

Development of services Collection and filtering
offered and territories served

GEQSIDE

Business Process - Energy efficiency

>

Design of energy efficiency services for Development of services
companies/buildings and digital services

Business Process - IT Services

bludieit

for businesses

>

Design and management Project implementation
of innovative IT services and products Development of IT services

and products Implementation
and delivery of services

Support Process

Finance

Control Process

Management HR Management
of relations
with investors

\> Risk Management

Compliance



and Sustainability

Group controlling

Commercial Activities

>

Metering Ancillary Services

Management of relations
with Sales Companies and
ARERA

Management and Management of metering

construction of networks

Management of the contract
with the end customer

Analysis of results obtained also shared
with the customer

Offer and sale of services
to the customer

Analysis of results obtained involving
customers and continuous improvement
of product and service catalogue

Lead generation, sales
and after-sales of project, products
and services to customers

Organisation Management of Procurement
Legal/Corporate management
aspects

General
services

Fiscal

Corporate Reporting Internal
Control System (SCIS)

Internal Audit
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1.3 External context, markets
and Italgas stock i

COVID-19 pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic and the consequences caused first by the price shock on the
energy markets, and then by the war on Europe’s doorstep, have accelerated a series
of evolutions in the companies’ vision and way of operating, forcing them to adapt rap-
idly to change and to streamline their production processes in order to reduce con-
sumption. In this scenario, Italgas showed exceptional resilience by guaranteeing ser-
vice continuity for all the customers it serves, also thanks to the digital transformation
of processes, assets and people, launched back in 2017. Since the beginning of the
pandemic, investments in digitisation have enabled work to be reorganised and activi-
ties to be carried out remotely in smart working mode. Thanks to the application of in-
novative technologies, such as "ShareView" and "WorkOnSite”, developed in the Italgas
Digital Factory, it has been possible to manage construction sites and network inter-
ventions remotely and efficiently, reducing the number of people travelling on site and,
consequently, reducing fuel consumption and CO, emissions. With 24 consecutive
quarters of growth since its return to the stock exchange, Italgas has shown itself capa-
ble of continuing its development and transformation even during the health emergen-
cy, supporting the country’'s economic fabric, contributing to the economic recovery
thanks to important investments and playing a lead role in the energy transition.

Rising energy prices

The gradual increase in energy prices, which began in late 2021 and continued with the
outbreak of war in Ukraine, was caused by a combination of factors — first and foremost
geopolitical factors — which has generated further instability in Europe. This situation,
which continues to challenge numerous industrial segments in Italy, has led to reflec-
tion on the investments necessary to achieve energy independence for the country. In
this context, renewable gases — first and foremost biomethane — have been recognised
as having a very significant potential, not only in terms of the decarbonisation of con-
sumption but also to guarantee greater security of procurement. The gas distribution
networks are a strategic asset also for renewable gases, as long as they are entirely
digitised and flexible, i.e. able to transmit data, receive and execute instructions, be
managed from a remote position. Thanks to the digital transformation process under-
taken in 2017, Italgas is on its way to becoming the first gas distribution company in the
world with a fully digitised network.

The key role in the energy transition

The net-zero target by 2050, set by the European Union as part of the Green Deal, has
made it urgent for the individual Member States to decarbonise consumptions and
reduce the carbon footprint of all manufacturing activities to zero. Gas is expected to
play a major role in the European energy transition process, supporting the imminent
exit from coal. Gas will continue to account for approximately 20% of European ener-
gy consumption in 2050, but with a renewed composition that will reflect the increas-
ing weight of renewal gases such as hydrogen, biomethane and synthetic methane
(e-gas). In this scenario, the role of gas distribution networks will remain central due to
their widespread coverage and extension, as also recognised by the European Com-
mission with the inclusion amongst activities included in the European taxonomy of
sustainable investments. In fact, the networks that distribute natural gas today will
soon be able to host low-carbon content renewable gases and subsequently synthet-
ic gases and hydrogen, as long as they are digitised. As part of its commitment to de-
carbonisation, ltalgas has adopted practices and developed proprietary technologies
that can pave the way for a more sustainable future for other operators too and not
just in the energy sector.



1.3.1 Macroeconomic scenario and market trends

As a function of the economic recovery that started in 2021, as well as the subsequent
supply tensions following the conflict in Ukraine and the sanctions imposed on Russia,
2022 saw a sharp rise in average energy commaodity prices with a consequent impact
on inflationary dynamics, central bank policies, bond yields and share prices.

Despite the significant drop from the historical peak of € 311/MWh in August 2022, the
price of European gas on the TTF platform averaged € 132/MWh during the same year,
tripling the average level of the previous year (€ 47/MWh) and generating an almost
comparable rise in electricity prices in Europe. Wholesale electricity prices in Germany
(1 month forward) increased from an average level of € 109/MWh in 2021 to € 285/
MWh in 2022. Similarly, average coal prices (delivery Amsterdam/Rotterdam/Antwerp)
rose from $ 108 to $ 267/tonne (+147%) and average oil prices rose from $ 70 to $
100/b (+42%), against the backdrop of an average depreciation of the euro against the
dollar of 11%, which further aggravated the cost expressed in euro.

The rise in commodity prices has been reflected in inflation. In October, the eurozone
CPI (Consumer Price Index) peaked at +10.6% compared to the same month in 2021,
at the highest level since the introduction of the euro, before falling back marginally in
the following months (9.2% in December) due to the easing of energy commodity pric-
es, in particular natural gas: these levels are well above the ECB's target (2%) even net of
the more volatile food and energy components.

In order to limit the rise in inflation, central banks initiated restrictive monetary policies,
aimed at increasing the cost of money and slowing down the level of economic activi-
ty and consequently the level of aggregate demand. As of July, the ECB raised rates by
250 bps. The policy move by the FED, which had already started in March, was even
more far-reaching, with a cumulative interest rate hike of 425 bps, together with the
start of the sale of government and mortgage bonds held in the portfolio as a result of
previous QE (Quantitative Easing). As a reflection of monetary tightening, EU economic
growth decelerated over the course of the year, from 5.6% y/y real GDP growth in Q1
to 2.5% in Q3; similarly, in the US, GDP growth fell from +3.7% y/y in Ql to +1.9% in Q3.

Inflationary tensions and monetary tightening had significant impacts on bond mar-
kets. The German 10-year sovereign yield advanced 275 bps to 2.57%, the highest since
July 2011, and the US 10-year yield advanced 236 bps to 3.87%, close to the highest
since June 2008. Peripheral spreads also showed substantial increases, with the BTP-
Bund spread on ten-year maturities rising from 135 bps to 214 bps (+79 bps). At the end
of 2022, the yield curve remains largely inverted, both in the case of the US Treasury
and the Bund, as a result of expectations of recession/economic slowdown induced
by monetary tightening.

1.3.2 2022 Trend and Italgas stock

2022 recorded a downturn to global equity markets, due to expectations of an eco-
nomic deceleration/recession induced by monetary tightening and the consequent
rise in bond yields. However, after the lows reached in the third quarter as a result of
the October spike in eurozone CPI, the stock markets showed a consistent recovery
due to moderating inflationary expectations and the consequent mitigation of central
bank rate hike expectations due to the overall moderation of energy commodity pric-
es, especially natural gas.

With prices adjusted for dividend payments and reinvestments (total shareholder re-
turn), the Euro Stoxx share index contracted by 11.5%. The US S&P 500 index fell 18.1%,
however, this was against a depreciation of the EUR/USD of around 6% (end-2022 vs.
end-2021 values), which equals the performance between the two benchmarks in cur-
rency-adjusted terms. The difference in performance between the various eurozone
national stock indices was mainly due to exposure to energy supplies from Russia.
Down 12.4%, the DAX index was the worst performer, with Germany reporting the larg-
est disruptions in the supply of Russian gas. Conversely, Madrid's Ibex 35 was the best
index with a drop of 2.0%, Spain being predominantly exposed to gas supplies from Al-
geria and through LNG. Italy and France were in between, with the FTSE Mib and the
CAC 40 at-94% and -6.7% respectively.

On a sectoral level, the Euro Stoxx Utilities fell by 7.1%, with the operators with the
greatest exposure to marketing (due to rapidly rising electricity and gas prices not read-
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ily passed on to end users) and renewables underper-
forming overall. Renewable operators were affected by
fears of increased taxation and the introduction of
price-caps, measures aimed at limiting and passing on
part of the higher profits made as a result of higher
commodity and electricity prices to end consumers.

Regulated operators, on the other hand, were generally
supported by the need to upgrade infrastructure as a
result of the REPowerEU programme, aimed at acceler-
ating the energy transition towards electricity and re-
newable fuels, including hydrogen, as well as increasing
the diversification of gas supplies in order to reduce de-
pendence on Russia.

Turning to the rest of the eurozone market, the afore-
mentioned scenario, characterised by rising energy
commoaodity prices, inflation and bond yields at mul-
ti-year highs, declining real disposable income and in-
creasing consumer focus on spending levels, resulted
in underperformance for the real estate, retail and tech-
nology sectors, while oil & gas and financials (banking
and insurance) were best performers.

The ltalgas share closed 2022 at € 5.19. Considering the
per-share dividend of € 0.295 and a price at the end of
2021 of € 6.052, the total shareholder return at the end
of 2022 was -10.1%. From the date on which it was list-
ed in November 2016 to 31 December 2022, the total
shareholder return is 71.8%. On 20 May, the stock up-
dated its all-time highs (€ 6.39) in the non-dividend-ad-
justed version, while on 23 May, the stock updated its
all-time highs in the dividend-adjusted version (€ 6.16).

During the year, the average daily trading volume of the
Italgas stock on the ltalian Stock Exchange electronic
market was about 1.4 million shares, with a greater con-
centration of trades around the announcement of quar-
terly results, the ex-dividend date and updating of the
2022-2028 Strategic Plan, presented mid-June.

Comparison of the quotes Italgas, FTSE MIB and EURO STOXX Utilities
(1 January 2022 - 31 December 2022, figures adjusted for dividends)
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1.4 Ownership structure

The share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2022 consisted of 810,245,718
shares without par value, giving a share capital value of € 1,002,608,186.28.

As at 31 December 2022, based on the shareholders’ list, the information available and
the notices received pursuant to Article 120 of the Consolidated Finance Act, the own-
ers of significant equity investments are represented below.

Consolidating Company SHAREHOLDERS % Ownership
CDP Reti S.p.A (*) (**) 26.01
Snam S.p.A. 1348
Lazard LLC 104
Romano Minozzi 4.28

Italgas S.p.A. Crédit Agricole S.A. 4.0
Blackrock Inc. 39
Banca D'ltalia 14
Other institutional shareholders 29.7
Retail shareholders 6.8

(*) On 1 August 2019 the Board of Directors of CDP S.p.A., also with a view to considering the control
guidelines contained in Consob Communication no. 0106341 of 13 September 2017, reclassified its equity
investment in Italgas as de facto control pursuant to Article 2359, subsection 1, no. 2) of the ltalian Civil Code
and Article 93 of the CLF, exercising control through CDP Reti with, at the time, a 26.05% equity holding

and through Snam with, at the time, a 13.50% equity holding. CDP does not exercise management and
coordination activities with respect to ltalgas pursuant to articles 2497 et seq. of the Italian Civil Code.

(**) A shareholders’ agreement between Snam, CDP Reti and CDP Gas was signed on 20 October 2016,
effective from the date of the demerger of Italgas S.p.A. on 07 November 2016. With effect from 1 May 2017,
CDP Gas was merged into CDP. Subsequently, on 19 May 2017, CDP sold to CDP Reti, inter alia, its equity
investment in ltalgas S.p.A., equal to 0.969% of Italgas S.p.A.'s share capital. CDP Reti is 59.1% owned by

CDP, 35% by State Grid Europe Limited - SGEL, a company of the State Grid Corporation of China group,

and 5.9% by a number of Italian institutional investors. On 1 August 2019, the shareholders” agreement was
further updated to take account of the aforementioned re-qualification of the shareholding. The shareholders’
agreement is for three years and is automatically renewed for further three-year periods, unless one of

the parties gives 12 months’ notice. Given such forecast, in November 2019 and November 2022 the
shareholders’ agreement was renewed.

Italgas Shareholders by type of investor Italgas Shareholders by geographical area

6.8%

CDP Reti
Snam

Banca d'ltalia
Romano Minozzi

26%

21.3%
P ltaly

B Continental Europe

29.7% Lazard LLC

Crédit Agricole S.A. B UKand lreland
BlackRock Inc. P USA and Canada
Other institutional Other
shareholders

S Retail T 9.8%

3.9% shareholders 13.5%

4% —— 14% —
10.4% 4.3% 10.3%
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1.5 SRI indexes and ratings®* i+

In 2022, the sustainability ratings of Italgas were further improved and its stock was in-
cluded in a growing number of leading SRI stock indexes, in recognition of the sustain-
able approach of the company’s strategies and activities, the presence of challenging
targets as well as the transparent, capillary information it provides to all stakeholders.

T As of December 2022, Italgas was confirmed for the sec-
mmlhlndm ond consecutive year in the Dow Jones Sustainability In-
[ S dex Europe and for the fourth consecutive year in the

Dow Jones Sustainability Index World.

The two indexes comprise the world and European lead-
ers of sustainability selected by S&P Global every year, on
the basis of the score achieved on the Corporate Sus-
tainability Assessment (CSA). With a score of 91 points
out of 100 (score date 18 November 2022), Italgas ranked
first out of 47 companies in the Gas Utilities Industry.

Based on the result achieved in CSA 2022, in February
2023 ltalgas was also reconfirmed in the Sustainability
Yearbook and included in the "Top 1% S&P Global ESG
Score” category.

Since 2017, CDP (Carbon Disclosure Project) has rec-
ognised ltalgas as an international leader for the strategies
and actions implemented to combat climate change. In
CLIMATE 2022, the ltalgas Group was included for the first time in
the "A-list" of leaders in the fight against climate change.
This result is based on data acquired through the "Climate
Change 2022" questionnaire and marks the second con-
secutive year of improvement for Italgas.

% Since 2017, Italgas stock has been included in the FTSE-
4Good index series.

FTSE4Good FTSE4Good gave a positive review of the Group's re-
sponses to the rigorous criteria of the independent FTSE
methodology in relation to environmental, social and
governance (ESQ) issues.

MIB® ESG Index As of October 2021, ltalgas’ stock was included in the

* I Y4 MIB ESG Index, the first blue-chip index for Italy dedicat-

e ed to Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) best
practices of Borsa ltaliana, part of the Euronext group.
The MIB ESG Index was made operational by Euronext in
collaboration with Vigeo Eris. The inclusion was recon-
firmed in September 2022.

24. Socially Responsible Investing (SRI).



MSCI
ESG RATINGS

CONBERLITINN - T

ltalgas shares are included in several MSCI indices

In August 2022, Italgas received an AA rating in the annu-
al MSCI ESG Ratings, an improvement over the previous
year. The MSCI Global Sustainability indices include com-
panies with a high sustainability rating among those in
the reference sector.

RATED Y

ISS ESGE>

In October 2022, the rating agency ISS (Institutional Share-
holder Services) confirmed the A- rating and Prime rating
status to ltalgas within the ISS ESG Corporate Rating.

The analysis focuses on companies’ management of
ESG issues, based on various criteria, most of which are
specific to their sector; Italgas achieved the "Prime” rat-
ing, demonstrating that it is an industry leader in terms of
sustainability performance.

Mooby’s | G Solutions

In July 2022, Moody's ESG Solutions recognised ltalgas’
commitment to sustainability with an "Advanced” rating,
thanks to an overall improvement of 10 points over the
previous year's rating. Progress was mainly driven by the
actions taken and the additional commitments made by
the Group in the environmental, social and governance
spheres.

] \
i SUSTAINALYTICS

In September 2022, Italgas received an ESG Risk Rating
of 15.08 from Sustainalytics and was rated Low Risk of
suffering material financial impacts from ESG factors.

ECPl];p e

In December 2022, Italgas stock was confirmed in the
ECPI Euro ESG Equity and included in the ECPI World
ESG Equity indices.

ltalgas shares are also included in the Stoxx and EuroStoxx indices, as well as in the in-

dices of other operators.
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2. Strategy and forward-
looking vision
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2.1 Reference scenario:
the key role of gas in the energy
transition ws &

b
—

The Net-Zero 2050 target, set by the European Union as part of the Green Deal, and
the further impetus on combating climate change, reducing climate-changing gas
emissions and diversifying energy sources — brought about by the European Commis-
sion's REPowerEU plan and, before that, by the Fit-for55 package — now place individu-
al Member States under an urgent obligation to act.

The Russian-Ukrainian conflict has further boosted the need to reduce dependence on
Russian fossil fuels and has prompted the European Union to define urgent measures
for security of procurement, diversification of sources, use of renewable energy and
energy efficiency. The REPowerEU Plan (2022), approved in response to the conflict,
updated and increased the previously set targets on the penetration of renewable gas-
es in the European energy mix. The new target is 35 billion cubic metres of biomethane
and 20 million tonnes of hydrogen in energy supplies by 2030, respectively two and
four times the target set in the "Fit-for-55" package (2021). I

S1USWIDIL)S JeldueUl{ Pa1epPIoSUoD)

Moreover, the transformation of networks from "analogue” to digital, smart and flexible,
has made it possible to anticipate change and to start implementing in good time the
path mapped out by the REPowerEU, identifying gas distribution networks as the main
enablers of source diversification and the progressive replacement of fossil-derived
methane.

In the long-term too, gas is expected to play a key role in supporting the phase-out
from carbon and energy security. Gas will continue to account for approximately 27%
of European energy consumption in 2050 (of which 20% natural gas)®, but with a re-
newed composition reflecting the increasing weight of renewal gases such as hydro-
gen, biomethane and synthetic methane. In this scenario, the role played by gas distri-
bution networks, if digitised, remains key.

At the same time, energy efficiency is seen as a driver in the fight against climate
change and for achieving the targets set in the Paris Agreements, both under European
and lItalian policies.

In this context, the Italgas Group has decided to play a leading role in the decarbonisa-
tion of the economy and consumption, through strategic decisions that have in fact
anticipated the approach of national and EU institutions, embodied in Fit for 55 and
REPowerEU.

S1USWIDIL)S JeIdURUI4 PR1ePIIOSUOY) SY) O} SaXauUy <
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2.2 The strategy map = &

ltalgas’ 2022-2028 Strategic Plan calls for investments
amounting to € 8.6 billion, which will be allocated to
the digital transformation of the gas distribution net-
work, the awarding of future tenders for the manage-
ment of ATEMs, the development of portfolio business-
es through internal growth and M&A initiatives, the
acquisition and future expansion of the Greek distribu-
tion network, with the aim of continuing to play a lead-
ership role in the achievement of climate targets set by
the European Union.

The strategy is structured along the following lines:

— Consolidation and development of the gas infra-
structure through:

- digital transformation geared towards a new gen-
eration of smart grids to achieve the highest stan-
dards of security and operational efficiency and to
facilitate the progressive decarbonisation of the
managed network;

- promoting the development of green gases, biom-
ethane, hydrogen, synthetic methane, accelerat-
ing their injection into the grid and distribution to
end users,;

- expansion of the reference scope through a com-
bination of organic growth, ATEM tenders, M&GA
and international developments.

— New opportunities, diversifying the business and eval-
uating adjacent sectors to gas distribution, such as:

- energy efficiency, with the aim of creating one of
the main national players in the sector;

- the water sector, in synergy with the competences
of the Group developed for the innovation and digi-
tisation of the natural gas distribution infrastructure;

- digital services.

— Development of the gas distribution infrastructure in
Greece.

The Strategic Plan hinges on ESG principles and re-
sponds to the challenges of sustainability by setting tar-
gets for 2028 and 2030, in terms of reducing Group
and supply-chain emissions, reducing energy con-
sumption, developing the skills of its people and har-
nessing resources to drive change and promote the val-
ues of diversity and inclusion.

Digital transformation of
networks and emission reduction

Digitisation is considered an essential element in en-
abling the energy transition process in the gas distribu-
tion sector. Digitisation increases efficiency, improves
safety, network management and the quality of the ser-
vice, enables predictive maintenance, for more effec-
tive control of the operating parameters, and helps
guarantee operation under any conditions.

For this reason, in its 2022-2028 Strategic Plan, Italgas
has earmarked € 4.5 billion to the upgrade/repurposing

of Italian distribution networks, the digitisation of assets/
processes, the development of low-carbon gas integra-
tion initiatives, and the methanisation process in Sardin-
ia, with the completion of digital native networks. The
repurposing of the network aims to guarantee network
efficiency and security, also through the renewal of ma-
terials, based on predictive maintenance.

The ongoing digitisation (about € 1.5 billion envisaged in
Plan 22-28), aims to collect as much information as pos-
sible, enable remote control, transport renewable gases
and develop predictive maintenance programmes.
Amongst the main related activities, the following are still
ongoing: the replacement of all traditional reduction
units (GRF); the installation of solenoid valves, sensors,
actuators, digital gas chromatographs, and the gradual
replacement of existing GPRS-based smart meters with
NB-IOT meters are being carried out. The replacement
of smart meters enables greater operational efficiency,
with a direct impact on the consumer. It also increases
the capacity to provide sales companies with reliable and
timely consumption data, enabling accurate billing. Ital-
gas is developing its very own smart meter, designed to
be able to manage different gas types (fossil and renew-
able), developed entirely using recycled and recyclable
materials, which will combine the latest communication
technologies with an environmentally sustainable de-
sign. A first prototype is expected by the end of 2023, to
be field-tested in the following year and installed at scale
from 2025, to replace today's communicating meters
with GPRS technology.

Different portions of the Italgas network are already fully
digitised, monitored and remotely managed in terms of
flow rates, pressures, odourisation levels, and pre-heat-
ing. In 2021, the Group launched its centralised com-
mand and control system: DANA - Digital Advanced
Network Automation. Today, DANA manages 80 plants
in the Italgas network and will cover the entire network
(more than 700 plants) by 2024. By harnessing the digi-
tisation of assets, the system enables 24/7 remote con-
trol and management, recording and analysing the field
data. The information collected is processed with inno-
vative analytics and predictive maintenance algorithms
to predict and anticipate potential network failures.

In addition to digitisation, the Group is active in the de-
velopment of new biomethane connections, to which
the 2022-2028 Strategic Plan dedicates around € 100
million in investments. Biomethane is a flexible and pro-
grammable resource and represents the most viable
option for the carbon neutrality of gas distribution net-
works to date. The technology is mature and biometh-
ane could become carbon negative if its production
were integrated with carbon capture systems (CCS-
CCUS). ltalgas and biomethane producers are working
together to find the best technical solution to reduce
costs and improve the efficiency of connections to the
network. Italgas is also developing two reverse-flow pi-
lot projects to allow the re-injection of excess biometh-
ane into the transmission network.

In the long term, hydrogen can unlock the full potential
of renewables due to its production programmability,
storage potential and use of existing infrastructure. Ital-



gas’ Power-To-Gas pilot project in Sardinia, near Ca-
gliari, is the first project in the European Union to test
the entire green hydrogen value chain, from production
to distribution in networks and end uses, such as mobil-
ity, industrial applications and residential uses (more de-
tails in section 6.1.1 "The integration of green gases in
the networks”).

The Group is committed to minimising fugitive emis-
sions, using and promoting the adoption of the most
advanced detection solutions. From 2018, Italgas has
introduced the CRDS technology (Cavity Ring-Down
Spectroscopy) — conceived and developed by the US
company Picarro Inc.: a sophisticated sensing technol-
ogy that, compared to traditional technologies, offers
significant advantages in terms of speed of execution of
inspection and the size of the areas to be inspected
(more details in section 6.1.1).

Several initiatives and investments included in the 2022-
2028 Strategic Plan are also aimed at reducing energy
consumption for civil and industrial uses and lowering
related emissions, thanks to energy efficiency measures
on the industrial processes, the use of technological in-
novations as well as digital monitoring and control sys-
tems, the renewal of the fleet and the Group's real es-
tate assets.

New opportunities
Energy efficiency

In the 2022-2028 Strategic Plan, ltalgas envisages in-
vestments for € 340 million, effectively more than tri-
pling the commitment to the energy efficiency sector
compared with the previous Plan. The merger of the
three companies acquired in recent years — Seaside
(2018), Toscana Energia Green (2019) and Ceresa (2021)
— has led to the creation of Geoside, the Group's ESCo,
whose aims include:

— to help achieve the Group's sustainability targets, ap-
plying its competences and technologies to reduce
consumption;

— to expand the Company's customer base by offering
digital and innovative services, and new technologies
to improve energy efficiency;

— to complement the offer of digital products and in-
novative services through specific acquisitions.

Recently, the European Investment Bank (EIB) has
granted Italgas a framework loan for interventions to be
carried out in ltaly through Geoside. The loan, called
the “Climate Action Framework Loan’, is for interven-
tions to achieve greater energy efficiency throughout
national territory, mainly involving the renovation of res-
idential buildings. Such interventions must aim to re-
duce atmospheric pollution and benefit health, in line
with the directives of the European Green Deal and the
Renovation Wave.

Water sector

The 2022-2028 Strategic Plan sets out € 160 million of
investments in the water sector, dedicated to improving
the quality and efficiency of the managed networks,
making use of the skills developed for the innovation
and digitisation of the natural gas distribution infrastruc-
ture. The demand for investment in the water sector is
high. In Italy, according to market estimates, an average
of 42% of the water distributed is dispersed along the
network, with peaks of 70% in some areas of Southern
Italy?®. Since 2018, ltalgas Acqua has started a pro-
gramme to digitise the 279 km of its network, with the
application of widespread sensor technology, so that all
network operating parameters can be kept under con-
trol at all times, any faults can be detected quickly and
accurately, and rapid action can be taken in the event of
leaks. At the same time, Italgas Acqua is proceeding
with the installation of “water smart meters” (the latest
generation of smart meters) to replace the traditional
meters installed among the 30,000 users served.

Digital services

The digital transformation undertaken by ltalgas does
not only concern its assets, but also its processes. The
driving force behind this great change is the Digital Fac-
tory, within which physical and virtual rooms work in
Agile mode to digitise business processes, creating soft-
ware and applications that have enabled further im-
provements in operational efficiency. Bludigit, the Ital-
gas Group digital services company, with the capacities
developed in the Digital Factory and through the part-
nerships with technological suppliers globally, offers in-
novative solutions to third parties in support of the ener-
gy transition process. Bludigit signed a strategic
agreement with Salesforce, a global leader in Customer
Relationship Management (CRM), with the aim of maxi-
mising the productivity of the investment cycle (capital
deployment) through the use of advanced digital solu-
tions. The aim of this collaboration is to reduce the
overall time taken to implement infrastructure invest-
ments, from planning to execution, by giving full visibili-
ty of the end-to-end process to all the departments in-
volved and fostering their effective collaboration. A first
step was the creation of PASS (Permit Authorization
Smart System), an application for managing internal au-
thorisation requests within the ltalgas Group, with a
view to structuring a more linear, transparent process
with as few actors involved as possible.

As for the people, all Italgas employees have now been
provided with at least one mobile device and are in-
volved in training, refresher and digital reskilling pro-
grammes. This approach is proving to be ever more ef-
fective, making the skills and tools available to people to
be able to interpret and use the numerous data items
sent each and every day by the loT sensors distributed
throughout the infrastructure. In addition, the re-design
has been launched of the digital experience of employ-

26. https://www.istat.it/it/files/2021/03/Report-Giornata-mondiale-acqua.pdf
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ees, through the optimisation of the HR (Human Resources) processes and the related
support systems and evolution of the collaboration and communication tools.

International developments

On 1 September, Italgas completed the acquisition of 100% of DEPA Infrastructure, the
leading Greek gas distribution operator. To date, DEPA Infrastructure fully owns Thessa-
loniki - Thessalia Gas Distribution S.A. (EDA Thess), Attiki Natural Gas Distribution Single
Member Company S.A. (EDA Attikis) and Public Gas Distribution Networks S.A. (DEDA),
the three players in gas distribution in Greece, which together manage around 7,500
kilometres of network and around 600,000 active re-delivery points.

The 2022-2028 Strategic Plan envisages investments of € 1.8 billion for the acquisition
of DEPA Infrastructure and development of smart, digital, and flexible networks. Italgas
provides its experience and technological know-how to equip Greece with an infra-
structure of excellence and contribute to the country’s energy transition.

From 2021, ltalgas, in partnership with Picarro, has been supporting DSOs in adopting
Picarro technology to effectively counter fugitive emissions. In doing so, it confirms its
strong commitment to accelerating the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and
promoting the diffusion of cutting-edge technology.

2.3 2022-2028 Sustainable Value
Creation Plan s &

In order to implement real economic, financial, environmental and social sustainability
and to be able to create shared value, the Group has adopted an integrated business
model, capable of employing all the capital it uses in its production processes (input
capital) to achieve its strategic objectives and create value for all its stakeholders in the
short, medium and long term. By doing so, it is able to develop a virtuous circle, capa-
ble of using such capital to generate positive impacts and preserve not only the future
of Italgas, but also that of the communities and territories in which it operates.

With this objective in mind, Italgas structured its 2022-2028 Sustainable Value Creation
Plan®, "Builders of the Future’, based on three pillars: Planet, People, Partnership (for a
sustainable future together), corresponding to precise lines of action with clear com-
mitments and measurable targets.

The 2022-2028 Sustainable Value Creation Plan was approved by Italgas’ Board of Di-
rectors on 14 December 20222¢ and presented to stakeholders on 19 January 2023.

Builders of the future

@ for the future
of people

Q{’% for the future

of the planet

L

27.  https://www.italgas.
it/wp-content/uploads/
sites/2/2022/10/Piano-
di-Creazione-di-Valore-
Sostenibile.pdf

28. https://www.italgas.
it/comunicato/italgas-

il-cda-approva-il-piano-
di-creazione-di-valore-
sostenibile-2022-2028/

for a sustainable
future together

Digitalise to bring about
the energy transition and
decarbonisation

Contribute to the fight
against climate change

Protect the ecosystems
and promote a circular
economy

Improve the quality of life and
ensure the safety of employees,
citizens and the national
energy system

Develop and disseminate
the skills of the future

Valorise diversity and support
equal opportunities and inclusion

Promote innovation
and dialogue through
partnerships

Promote the principles
of Sustainability in
the supply chain

Take care of
the territory
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There are three main dimensions of the Plan:

— protecting the planet, to enable energy transition, promoting decarbonisation and
ensuring care for ecosystems;

— the well-being of the people, to respond to changing social concerns and de-
mands to which increasing attention needs to be paid;

— virtuous collaboration with partners, to promote innovation and positive interac-
tion between stakeholders, from start-ups, SMEs, regional actors to national and in-
ternational associations.

Our idea of sustainability

Anticipating the market conditions in which the Group operates and understanding the
drivers of change are prerequisites for making a real impact.

The increasing focus on renewable gases, the EU Green Deal decarbonisation plan, the
REPowerEU Energy Independence Plan, the EU Circular Economy Action Plan are just
some of the main reqgulatory and normative drivers that need to be considered when
defining the sustainability and value creation strategy. In addition to these, there are
socio-economic factors such as, for example, the increased concern for equal oppor-
tunities and the appreciation of diversity, the changing expectations of young workers,
the changing demand for specialised know-how, and the expansion of responsibility
across organisational boundaries throughout the supply chain.

Factors of change and external context influence the capital the Group uses to create
value in how it does business.

Value increase

<

-

~

Medium-
long-term
impacts

Sustainable
Strategic Value Creation
4 Plan Plan
Factors
of change Capitals
>
Vv
The results
of our actions

\_

/
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) 7

% Natural oOo Financial
Capital Capital

Natural gas, hydrogen, renewable gases — Financial solidity of the Group

Water — ESG credibility and access to credit
at competitive rates

Other natural and energy resources

Manufactured Human
Capital Capital
— Corporate physical assets: — Shared values and goals within the Group

distribution networks and systems L :
Y — Motivation and involvement

— Digital infrastructure of Italgas people
Intellectual Relationship
Capital Capital
— Ability to innovate (R&D) — Relationships with partners in the gas supply
chain

— Technical and digital knowledge
— Relationships with trade associations,

— Corporate culture and know-how R .
regulatory bodies, institutions and citizens

— Reputation and recognition of leading role in
the distribution sector in Italy

ltalgas’ aim is to ensure that the activities, addressed by the Strategic Plan and the Sus-
tainable Value Creation Plan, not only create economic value, but also generate virtu-
ous short and medium-to-long-term impacts on tangible and intangible capital used in
production processes.

The Group’'s commitment is therefore to ensure that actions have positive impacts on a
wide range of issues that contribute to developing a “sustainable” society.

The actions that the Group carried out during 2022 and that have contributed to the
achievement of the objectives of the 2022-2028 Sustainable Value Creation Plan are
recounted in the following chapters:

— 6.1 Italgas for the future of the Planet;
— 6.2 ltalgas for the future of People;

— 6.3 Italgas for a sustainable future together.



A
—_—

The results
of our actions

Medium-long-
term impacts

Promotion of innovation and digital transition

Reduction of energy consumption of the Group and of third
parties

Extensiveness and digitalisation of the distribution network
Reduced leakage from the networks

Distribution of renewable gases and GHG emissions’ reduction
Waste reduction

Growth of knowledge within and outside the company

Better results through the inclusion of diversity in terms of
gender, age, abilities and education

Employee satisfaction and engagement
Respect for human rights
Reduced work-related accidents

Dissemination of good Sustainability practices along the entire
supply chain

Support for the communities and the territory

Financial solidity

Increased supply chain resilience through the dissemination of
the best Sustainability practices

Mitigation of environmental impacts, protection of the
ecosystems, support for the circularity EU goals

Economic development of the Country
Energy security of the Country
Decarbonisation of the Country in keeping with EU goals

Development of a culture orientated to the promotion of equal
opportunities and women's empowerment

Energy and digital literacy of the citizens in the service of the
energy transition

Generation of shared value for the stakeholders in the territory

Development of a corporate culture that is healthy and inclusive,

based on respect for human rights and designed to ensure the
wellbeing of the workers

Digitalisation, innovation, efficiency, safety and Sustainability of
gas distribution infrastructure

Safe and efficient access to energy for all

Promotion of innovation in the service of energy transition
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2.4 TCFD Report 2021 - Driving innovation
for energy transition

On 14 December 2022, on the occasion of the approval of the Sustainable Creation
Plan, the TCFD Report "2021- Driving innovation for energy transition” was presented to
the Board of Directors. This report examines the relationship between the ltalgas
Group's business and climate change impacts in line with the recommendations set by
the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD?9). In the document, the
Group tells its stakeholders not only about the new opportunities identified in the cli-
mate transition and the potential risks, but also about the adequacy of its climate strat-
egy in that regard. This Integrated Annual Report contains information on the main
recommendations of the TCFD; however, for more details please refer to the TCFD
Report "2021- Driving innovation for energy transition"°.

lG Italgas

2021-Driving innovation
for energy transition

TCFD report

- SN

5>

2.5 Commitment to Sustainable
Development i &

In its vision for a sustainable approach to business, the Italgas Group intends to contrib-
ute daily to the achievement of the sustainable development goals of the United Na-
tions 2030 Agenda and the goals defined by the European Union. In line with global
sustainability principles and the important integrations made to the Italian Constitution-
al Charter in February 2022, which establishes on the one hand that the environment,
biodiversity and ecosystems must be protected, introducing the concept of the inter-
ests of future generations, on the other it strengthens the principle that economic ac-
tivity cannot be carried out while harming health and the environment, as well as the
aspects of safety, freedom and human dignity already present, Italgas further strength-
ens its commitment and conviction that it is operating in the right direction.

The Group's strategic direction, in terms of commitment and lines of action, outlined in
the 2022-2028 Sustainable Value Creation Plan in short- and medium-to-long-term
objectives and actions, are developed in line with the United Nations Sustainable De-
velopment Goals and are formalised in the following main policies:

— Sustainability and Stakeholder Engagement Policy®, which defines its vision on so-
cial, environmental and governance topics relevant to the corporate identity and the
desire to create lasting value for all its stakeholders, through continuous dialogue,
the sharing of objectives and the strengthening of collaborative, transparent and
professional relations;

29. https://www.fsb-tcfd.org/

30 https://www.italgas.
it/wp-content/uploads/
sites/2/2022/10/2021-Driving-
innovation-for-energy-
transition.pdf

31. https://www.italgas.
it/wp-content/uploads/
sites/2/2022/04/Politica-
di-sostenibilita-e-SH-
engagement_ITA.pdf
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https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/10/2021-Driving-innovation-for-energy-transition.pdf
https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/04/Politica-di-sostenibilita-e-SH-engagement_ITA.pdf
https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/04/Politica-di-sostenibilita-e-SH-engagement_ITA.pdf
https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/04/Politica-di-sostenibilita-e-SH-engagement_ITA.pdf
https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/04/Politica-di-sostenibilita-e-SH-engagement_ITA.pdf
https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/04/Politica-di-sostenibilita-e-SH-engagement_ITA.pdf

— Corporate Citizenship Policy®, to further consolidate the support to the local com- 43
munities in line with its strategic growth and sustainable development plans;

— Diversity and Inclusion Policy**, to promote matters of diversity and encourage
progress and innovation;

— Human Rights Policy**, which outlines the reference principles and actions taken to
safequard human rights in the conduct of its business and, in general, in any context
in which ltalgas’ people and business partners operate;

— Policy for the prevention of discrimination and protection of dignity**, by which
the company undertakes to prevent discrimination, protect the dignity of its person-
nel and maintain the best conditions of well-being at work;

— The HSEQE Policy*, to promote full compliance with the standards protecting
health, safety, the environment and energy performance;

— Policy for managing dialogue with all shareholders®, to promote, with a view to
active and constructive communication, an open and constant dialogue with share-
holders.

10daYy ,SI0109UI(Q e

— Policy for the Prevention and Combating of Corruption®, to promote the conduct
of business according to the principles of fairness, correctness, transparency, hon-
esty and integrity, in compliance with laws, regulations, international standards and
guidelines.

b
—

— Code of Ethics®, is a collection of the values that the Italgas Group recognises, ac-
cepts and shares and the responsibilities it assumes within and outside of its organi-
sation.

— Policy on Integrated Security, Resilience and Crisis Management, which establish-
es the Group's objectives in terms of proactive protection of the assets comprising
employees, physical and digital infrastructures and the distinctive know-how of the
ltalgas Group

S1USWIDIL)S JeldueUl{ Pa1epPIoSUoD)

These policies are periodically updated and integrated, constantly adhering to the evo-
lution of the Group's strategies and position by taking into account the guidelines that
have emerged from sustainability indexes and ratings, as well as the main international
ESG trends. I
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32. https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2021/07/
Italgas-Politica-Corporate-Citizenship.pdf

33. https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2021/07/
Italgas-Politica-Diversita-e-Inclusione.pdf

34. https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2021/07/
Politica-Diritti-umani_ITA.pdf

35. https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2021/07/
Politica-Dignita%sCC%80-Personale_ITA.pdf

36. https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2021/07/
Politica-HSEQE_ITA.pdf

37. https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2021/06/
Italgas_-Politica-gestione-dialogo-azionisti.pdf

38. https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/7/2021/12/
Politica-per-la-Prevenzione-ed-il-Contrasto-della-Corruzione.pdf

39. https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2021/07/
ltalGas_CodiceEtico.pdf
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3. Governance, risks
and opportunities

3.1 Governance i &

ltalgas has adopted the so-called traditional administra-
tion and control system, which envisages the presence
of the Board of Directors (BoD) and Board of Statutory
Auditors, in office for three financial years, as well as the
Shareholders’ Meeting and the Independent auditing
firm. The corporate governance system is defined by
the Board of Directors in compliance with the provi-
sions of the ltalian Civil Code and the unbundling requ-
lations, using national and international best practices
as a reference, in compliance with the legislation to
which the Company is subject as listed Issuer as well as
with the Corporate Governance Code published by the
Corporate Governance Committee on 31 January 2020
(the "Corporate Governance Code"), which applies as at
1 January 2021 and to which the Company adhered.

The Corporate Governance Code, adapting to the evo-
lution of international best practices, places growing at-
tention on sustainability, inviting the Board to quide the
company by pursuing “sustainable success’, creating
long-term value for shareholders while considering the
interests of stakeholders, rather than shareholders, who
have a significant role in guaranteeing sustainability
over time on the market the company operates in.

For more information please refer to the Report on the
Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure of
ltalgas for the 2022 financial year ("Corporate Gover-
nance and Ownership Structure Report”), drawn up pur-
suant to Article 123-bis of Italian Legislative Decree no.
58 of 24 February 1998 ("Consolidated Finance Act”).

Shareholders’ Meeting

The Shareholders’ meeting represents all shareholders
and is Italgas’ decision-making body responsible, among
other things, for the task, in ordinary and extraordinary ses-
sion, of appointing the members of the Board of Directors
and Board of Statutory Auditors and establishing the relat-
ed fees, appointing the Independent Auditors, approving
the financial statements, including allocation of profits,
and resolving on the purchase of treasury shares, amend-
ments to the Bylaws and the issue of convertible bonds.

40. In the Board of Directors, which remained in office until

26 April 2022, there were 3 Directors of the less represented gender,
representing one 40 third of the total composition. The composition
of the Board of Directors therefore complied with the legislation on
gender balance, which was already being applied in advance on a
voluntary basis at the time the company was listed and to a greater
extent than legally required for the first renewal following listing

(1/3 instead of 1/5 as required for the first renewal). Budget law no.

For more information on the functions of the Share-
holders’ meeting, please refer to the Corporate Gover-
nance and Ownership Structure Report.

Board of Directors

Italgas’ Board of Directors is tasked with the ordinary
and extraordinary management of the Company and
has the faculty to carry out all the acts deemed appro-
priate for the implementation and achievement of the
corporate purpose, with the exclusion of the acts
which, pursuant to applicable legislation and the By-
laws, are reserved for the Shareholders’ meeting.

In accordance with the provisions of its Bylaws, the Com-
pany is administered by a Board of Directors made up of 9
members. All the ltalgas director possess the integrity re-
quirements laid down by current legislation, and an execu-
tive director, seven non-executive directors and a chair-
man without management powers is appointed from
among the same. The composition of the Board of Direc-
tors respects the company policies with regard to diversity
in relation to aspects such as age, gender composition as
well as training and professional background. Demonstrat-
ing the importance of this issue, in 2018, the Group pre-
pared a "Diversity of corporate bodies policy’, a specific
document summarising these policies (as well as their ob-
jectives and methods of implementation). This was ap-
proved by the company’s Board of Directors on 24 Janu-
ary 2019 and has been updated at the proposal of the
Appointments and Compensation Committee, with Board
of Directors’ resolution of 25 January 2021, in order to
bring it into line with the Corporate Governance Code.

In particular, it should be noted that the Shareholders’
Meeting of 26 April 2022 appointed lItalgas’ current
Board of Directors, which will remain in office for three
financial years, expiring on the date of the Shareholders’
Meeting to be called to approve the financial state-
ments for the year ending 31 December 2024.

With regard to the financial year 2022, the Board of Direc-
tors, in office until 26 April 2022, was composed as follows:

— three Directors of the less represented gender, equal
to one third of the total composition, in compliance
with gender balance requirements*;

160/2019, in force since 1 January 2020, established that the least
represented gender must constitute at least two-fifths of the elected
members, instead of the previous quota of one-third. The new
allocation criterion of at least two-fifths was applied as of the first
renewal of the administrative body following the date of entry into
force of the law and, therefore, on the occasion of the renewal of the
Board of Directors (and the Board of Statutory Auditors) resolved by
the Shareholders’ Meeting of 26 April 2022.

45
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— six directors, including the Chairman, qualified as
independent on the basis of both the requirements
of independence of the CLF (Article 147-ter,
subsection 4 and 148, subsection 3 of the CLF), and
of the Corporate Governance Code (Article 2).

The Board of Directors in its previous composition was
characterised by the age diversity of its members, consid-
ering the age of the Board members ranged from 43 to 67
years, and by diversity of geographical origin, as well as
their experience, including international experience.

The educational and professional backgrounds of the
Board members (lawyers, engineers, economists, uni-
versity professors) ensured during their term of office a
balanced combination of profiles and experiences with-
in the administrative body suitable to ensure the proper
performance of their duties.

On 9 March 2022, a check was carried out on whether
the independence requirements set forth in the CLF
and the Corporate Governance Code had been met,
considering also the qualitative and quantitative criteria
for the assessment of independence approved by the
Board of Directors on 24 February 2021, as a result of
which 6 Directors, including the Chairman, were found
to be independent.

GRI 405-1 Breakdown of the 2022 Governance Bodies
(Italgas S.p.A. Board of Directors up to 26 April 2022)
by gender and age group

Men Women

um.
<30 ‘ 30-50 ‘ >50 <30 ‘ 30-50 ‘ >50
no. 0 3 3 0 1 2

The current Board of Directors, appointed on 26 April
2022, is composed as follows:

— 4 Directors, including the Chairwoman, belonging to
the less represented gender, equal to two-fifths of
the total composition, in compliance with gender
balance criteria;

— four directors, including the Chairwoman, qualified
as independent on the basis of both the requirements
of independence of the CLF (Article 147-ter,
subsection 4 and 148, subsection 3 of the CLF), and
of the Corporate Governance Code (Article 2);

— one independent director on the basis of the
independence requirements of the CLF (Article 147-
ter, subsection 4 and 148, subsection 3 of the CLF)*2.

The current Board is characterised by the age structure
diversity of its members, considering that the Board Di-
rectors are aged between 44 and 65, and by diversity of
geographical origin and experiences, including those

41. Budget law no. 160/2019, in force since 1 January 2020, established
that the least represented gender must constitute at least two-fifths

of the elected members, instead of the previous quota of one-third.
The new allocation criterion of at least two-fifths was applied as of the
first renewal of the administrative body following the date of entry into
force of the law and, therefore, on the occasion of the renewal of the
Board of Directors (and the Board of Statutory Auditors) resolved by the
Shareholders' Meeting of 26 April 2022.

abroad. The educational and professional profiles of the
Board directors in office (lawyers, engineers, econo-
mists) guarantee a balanced distribution of experience
and expertise within the corporate body suitable to en-
sure that the functions are performed correctly.

Lastly, the verification of the existence of the indepen-
dence requirements set forth in the CLF and in the Cor-
porate Governance Code was carried out on 9 March
2023, taking also into account the qualitative and quan-
titative criteria for the assessment of independence up-
dated by the Board of Directors on 22 February 2023, as
a result of which four directors, including the Chair-
woman — under both the independence requirements
of the CLF and the Corporate Governance Code — and
one independent director — under the requirements of
the CLF — were found to be independent.

GRI 405-1 Breakdown of the 2022 Governance Bodies
(Italgas S.p.A. Board of Directors as at 26 April 2022)
by gender and age group

Men Women

um.
<30 ‘ 30-50 ‘ >50 <30 ‘ 30-50 ‘ >50
no. 0 1 4 0 0 4

During the financial year 2022, the Board of Directors
met fourteen times, with a participation rate of over
99%. Given the relevance of sustainability issues for the
Group, the Board of Directors examined ESG issues in
about 86% of its meetings. The Chairman of the Sus-
tainable Value Creation Committee reported to the
Board of Directors on the Committee’s activities carried
out in 50% of the Board meetings.

For more information on the Board of Directors, please
refer to the Corporate Governance and Ownership
Structure Report.

In compliance with the company Bylaws, the Board of
Directors set up three internal committees: (i) the Con-
trol, Risk and Related Party Transactions Committee,
established on 4 August 2016, (i) the Sustainability
Committee, established on 4 August 2016, then subse-
quently named, by resolution dated 14 December 2022,
the Sustainable Value Creation Committee and (iii) the
Appointments and Compensation Committee, estab-
lished on 23 October 2017 following the merger of the
Appointments Committee and the Compensation
Committee established on 4 August 2016.

42. On 26 April 2022, the existence of the independence
requirements set forth in the CLF and the Corporate Governance
Code was ascertained on the basis of declarations issued by the
interested parties, taking also into account the qualitative and
quantitative criteria for the assessment of independence approved by
the Board of Directors on 24 February 2021.



Set out below is the composition of the Board Committees up to 26 April 2022: 47

Control, Risk and Related
Party Transactions Committee

Appointments and Compensation
Committee

Sustainability Committee

Composed of 3 non-executive
and independent directors
pursuant to the CLF and the
Corporate Governance Code.
It played a proactive and
advisory role to the Board of
Directors with regard to the
Internal Control System, risk
management, including risks
related to climate change, and
periodic financial and non-
financial reports.

Composed of 3 non-executive
directors, 2 of whom are independ-
ent pursuant to the CLF and the
Corporate Governance Code
(including the Chairwoman).

It played a proactive and advisory
role to the Board of Directors with
regard to the appointment of
directors, their remuneration, which
also includes sustainability targets,
and the remuneration of general
managers, auditors and executives
with strategic responsibilities.

Composed of 3 non-executive directors, 2 of whom
are independent pursuant to the CLF and the Corpo-
rate Governance Code (including the Chairwoman)*3.
It played a proactive and advisory role to the Board of
Directors regarding the processes and activities which
contribute to the company’s sustainable development
along the value chain, aimed at pursuing sustainable
success and for periodic non-financial reports,
coordinating with the Control, Risk and Related Party
Transactions Committee for evaluation by this
committee of the suitability of the periodic, financial
and non-financial reporting.
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Below are the current members of the Board Committees as resolved on 2 May 2022
by the Board of Directors and amended on 22 February 2023 :

—
—

Control, Risk and Related Party
Transactions Committee

Appointments and Compensation
Committee

Sustainable Value Creation
Committee

Composed of 3 non-executive directors,

2 of whom are independent pursuant to
the CLF and the Corporate Governance
Code (including the Chairman).

Composed of 3 non-executive directors,

2 of whom are independent pursuant to
the CLF and the Corporate Governance
Code (including the Chairwoman)*.

It consists of 3 non-executive directors,
one of whom is independent pursuant to
the CLF, and acts as Chairman®.

Control, Risk and Related Party Transactions Committee

The Control, Risk and Related Party Transactions Committee plays a proactive and ad-
visory role to the Board of Directors with regard to the Internal Control System, risk
management, including risks related to climate change, and periodic financial and
non-financial reports. The tasks and duties assigned to the Committee, in compliance
with the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code, are detailed in the related Reg-
ulation, to be referred to*. I
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Appointments and Compensation Committee

The Appointments and Compensation Committee provides proposals and advice to
the BoD on the appointment of Directors and BoD self-assessment and on the remu-
neration of Directors, General Managers, Auditors and key managers, also including
sustainability targets. The tasks and functions assigned to the Committee, in accor-
dance with the Corporate Governance Code, are detailed in the relevant Regulation, to
be referred to®.

43. The Regulation of the Control, Risk and Related Party Transactions
Committee can be consulted on the Company's website (https://

46. The Appointments and Compensation Committee Regulations
can be consulted on the Company’s website (https://www.italgas.
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www.italgas.it/export/sites/italgas/italgas-gallery/Documenti_it/
Regolamento-Comitato-Controllo-e-Rischi-e-Operazioni-con-
Parti-Correlate.pdf ).

44.0n February 22, 2023, the Board of Directors resolved to appoint
Dr. Fabiola Mascardi as a member and Chairwoman of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee. The position was previously held by
Awv. Lorenzo Parola.

45.On February 22, 2023, the Board of Directors resolved to appoint
Mr. Lorenzo Parola as a member and Chairman of the Sustainable
Value Creation Committee. The position was previously held by Dr.
Fabiola Mascardi.

it/export/sites/italgas/italgas-gallery/Documenti_it/Regolamento-
Comitato-Nomine-e-Remunerazione.pdf)

47. The Regulation of the Sustainable Value Creation Committee is
available on the Company's website (https://www.italgas.it/wp-
content/uploads/sites/2/2023/01/Regulation-of-Sustainable-Value-
Creation-Committee-.pdf).
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https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2023/01/Regulation-of-Sustainable-Value-Creation-Committee-.pdf
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Sustainable Value Creation Committee

On 14 December 2022, the Italgas’ Board of Directors
approved the change of name of the Sustainability
Committee to the Sustainable Value Creation Commit-
tee, and amended its regulations. The Sustainable Value
Creation Committee provides proposals and advice to
the Board of Directors regarding the processes and ac-
tivities which contribute to the company’s sustainable
development along the value chain, aimed at pursuing
sustainable success and for periodic non-financial re-
ports, coordinating with the Control, Risk and Related
Party Transactions Committee for evaluation by this
committee of the suitability of the periodic, financial
and non-financial reporting. The tasks and functions at-
tributed to the Committee, in accordance with Corpo-
rate Governance Code, are detailed in the relevant Reg-
ulation, to be referred to*.

Furthermore, within the External Relations and Sustain-
ability Department, Italgas has set up the Sustainability
Unit, which oversees the definition of the sustainability
model and, through the coordination of the contribu-
tion of each corporate department involved in the vari-
ous issues, it ensures the definition of operational plans
and tools to ensure its implementation and develop-
ment, and also involves the Group's stakeholders.

For more information on board committees, please re-
fer to the Corporate Governance and Ownership Struc-
ture Report.

The Board of Statutory Auditors

The Board of Statutory Auditors supervises compliance
with the law and the Articles of Association, respect for
the principles of correct administration in carrying out
corporate activities, the adequacy of the organisational
structure for aspects of responsibility, of the system of
internal control and accounting system as well as the
reliability of the latter in correctly representing transac-
tions, and how to implement the corporate governance
rules provided under the Corporate Governance Code.

The Board of Statutory Auditors, appointed by the
Shareholders Meeting of 4 April 2019 for a term of three
financial years, remained in office until 26 April 2022, i.e.
until the Shareholders’ Meeting that approved the finan-
cial statements for the financial year 2021. The Board of
Statutory Auditors was made up of five members, three
of whom standing auditors and two alternate, in con-
nection with whom, it is specified that: (i) one Standing
Auditor and one Alternate Auditor belong to the least
represented gender (female gender); (ii) without preju-
dice to the professional requirements provided for by
law, the training and professional background of the
members of the Board of Statutory Auditors has guar-

48. The Regulation of the Sustainable Value Creation Committee is
available on the Company's website (https://www.italgas.it/wp-
content/uploads/sites/2/2023/01/Regulation-of-Sustainable-Value-
Creation-Committee-.pdf).

49. Budget law no. 160/2019, in force since 1 January 2020,
established that the least represented gender must constitute at least
two-fifths of the elected members, instead of the previous quota

of one-third. Article 144 -undecies.1, subsection 3, of the Issuers’
Regulations provides that wherever the application of the gender

anteed the appropriate skills to ensure the proper per-
formance of their duties.

The current Board of Statutory Auditors was appointed
by the Shareholders’ Meeting of 26 April 2022 for a term
of three financial years, i.e. expiring on the date of the
Shareholders’ Meeting to be convened to approve the
financial statements for the year ending 31 December
2024. The Board of Statutory Auditors is made up of five
members, three of whom standing auditors and two al-
ternate, in connection with whom, it is specified that: (i)
one Standing Auditor and one Alternate Auditor belong
to the least represented gender (male gender):* (ii)
without prejudice to the professional requirements pro-
vided for by law, the training and professional back-
ground of the members of the Board of Statutory Audi-
tors currently in office guarantees the appropriate skills
to ensure the proper performance of their duties.

For more information on the Board of Statutory Audi-
tors, please refer to the Corporate Governance and
Ownership Structure Report.

Sustainability Governance

The Corporate Governance Code gives the administra-
tive body the responsibility of integrating sustainability
objectives into the definition of the strategies and busi-
ness plan, the internal control and risk management
system and remuneration policies.

The Company's Board of Directors, at the instructions
of the Chief Executive Officer, is responsible for defin-
ing the strategic guidelines and objectives for the Italgas
Group, also with regard to the strategy in respect of sus-
tainability objectives and impacts and those linked to
climate change. Annually, the Board is called upon to
approve ltalgas’ seven-year Strategic Plan as well as up-
dates to the Sustainable Value Creation Plan, ensuring
the creation of value in the short- and medium-to-long-
term for shareholders and stakeholders. The approval
process for the aforementioned plans includes meet-
ings for the presentation and approval of scenarios, in-
cluding climate scenarios, ESG objectives, including en-
vironmental and climate change objectives, as well as
approval of the financial data of the plan, including in-
vestments. With regard to the sustainability reporting
process, the Board of Directors is responsible for re-
viewing and approving the disclosure of non-financial
information.

During 2022, the Directors and Statutory Auditors were
able to gain a better understanding of the area of opera-
tions of the Company and of the Group by taking partin
off-site inspections and induction sessions, with a focus
also on sustainability topics, including ltalgas’ strategy

division criteria does not result in an integer number of members

of the administrative and control bodies belonging to the less
represented gender, such number is rounded up, except for corporate
bodies formed of three members, where the number will be rounded
down. The new allocation criterion of at least two-fifths was applied
as of the first renewal of the administrative and control body after the
date of entry into force of the law and, therefore, on the occasion of
the renewal of the Board of Statutory Auditors (and of the Board of
Directors) resolved by the Shareholders’ Meeting of 26 April 2022.


https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2023/01/Regulation-of-Sustainable-Value-Creation-Committee-.pdf
https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2023/01/Regulation-of-Sustainable-Value-Creation-Committee-.pdf
https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2023/01/Regulation-of-Sustainable-Value-Creation-Committee-.pdf

to create sustainable value in the future, digitisation to allow for the energy transition
and decarbonisation, the fight against climate change, the protection of ecosystems
and support of the circular economy.

For more information, please refer to the Corporate Governance and Ownership Struc-
ture Report.

Top management

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the administration of the Group and the
internal approval of key strategic objectives and sustainability initiatives, which are then
submitted to the BoD for approval.

The Chief Executive Officer annually proposes the Strategic Plan and the Sustainable
Value Creation Plan for review by the Sustainable Value Creation Committee and, sub-
sequently, for approval by the Board of Directors. These plans include the definition of
strategies, actions and related sustainability objectives, including those related to cli-
mate (e.g. relating to energy consumption and emission reduction) and the establish-
ment of Italgas’ vision for energy transition, with a specific focus on the digitisation of
infrastructures, the development of biomethane and new renewable gases in distribu-
tion networks, such as hydrogen.

The Chief Executive Officer chairs the Sustainability Business Review, established in
2021 and held monthly, in which a detailed assessment of the main environmental KPIs
is carried out and the progress of related initiatives is discussed; this meeting is attend-
ed by the top management of each of the Group’s companies and the process owners
and managers of the activities that have the main sustainability impacts.

The CEO also chairs the Innovation Committee to evaluate initiatives to streamline
Group operations, including those with a focus on reducing emissions and/or increas-
ing energy efficiency.

The Chief Executive Officer is assisted in his/her tasks mainly by the executive team
which, in ltalgas, includes the Chief Financial Officer, the General Counsel, the Heads
of Human Resources & Organization, Procurement and Material Management, Institu-
tional and Regulatory Affairs, External Relations and Sustainability, the Head of Bludigit,
the Heads of Group Security, Internal Audit and Corporate Strategy. These executives,
as members of the Executive Committee (an internal management committee consist-
ing of the CEO and Top Management), are also responsible for sustainability initiatives
that fall within their remit.

Remuneration

The Group's Remuneration Policy and Compensation paid® is designed to promote
sustainable success through the pursuit of the objectives of the Strategic Plan and the
improvement of long-term financial and non-financial results, while pursuing and pro-
moting the creation of value for the various corporate stakeholders: employees, share-
holders, local communities, suppliers. The Policy is also aimed at attracting, retaining
and motivating people with high professional skills and fostering the commitment of
key resources in relation to the Company’'s objectives, stimulating actions and be-
haviours in line with the Company's values and culture, in compliance with the princi-
ples of meritocracy, inclusion and plurality, equal opportunities, enhancement of peo-
ple's knowledge and professionalism, fairness, non-discrimination and integrity as laid
down in the Code of Ethics.

The Group’s Remuneration Policy and variable incentive plans are closely linked to the
Strategic Plan and Sustainable Value Creation Plan with pre-determined, measurable
objectives that are consistent with the interests of the various stakeholders, in order to
allow an assessment of corporate performance in both absolute and relative terms,
presenting a balanced pay-mix, aimed at aligning remuneration to the performance
actually achieved with a significant incidence of medium-to-long -term variable com-
ponents (including equity instruments) for Top Management. The policy also provides
for the adoption of claw-back mechanisms in cases of error, wilful misconduct and
serious or intentional violations of laws and/or regulations, as well as a structured en-
gagement plan to collect shareholder expectations and feedback.

The management of sustainability impacts is fully integrated within the definition of the
targets set in the Short-Term Incentive (STI) and Long-Term Monetary Incentive (LTMI)

49. https://www.italgas.
it/wp-content/uploads/
sites/2/2023/03/Politica-
sulla-Remunerazione-2023-e-
Compensi-corrisposti-2022.pdf
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Plan. Specifically, in 2022 the value of the CEQO’s STl and LTMI are 25% and 15%> re-
spectively upon achieving specific sustainability targets.

For further details, please refer to the Report on the 2022 Remuneration Policy and the
2021 Compensation Paid>* and the 2023 Remuneration Policy and 2022 Compensa-
tion Paid>.

Independent Auditors

External auditing is entrusted in accordance with the law to an independent auditing
firm entered in the relevant register and appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting on the
reasoned proposal of the Board of Statutory Auditors.

At the Shareholders” Meeting of 12 May 2020, the independent auditing firm Deloitte &
Touche S.p.A. was appointed for the period 2020-2028.

Shareholders’ agreements

As far as agreements between shareholders are concerned, pursuant to Article 122 of
the Consolidated Law on Finance, as far as Italgas is aware, the following is noted.

On 20 October 2016 Snam S.p.A. ("Snam”), CDP Reti S.p.A. ("CDP Reti’) and CDP Gas
S.p.A. ("CDP’) signed a shareholders’ agreement (the “Italgas Shareholders’ Agreement’)
covering all the shares that the respective parties held in Italgas of consequence and
with effect starting on the effective date of the partial and proportional demerger from
Snam in favour of Italgas and the simultaneous listing of the ltalgas shares, namely 7
November 2016. Amongst other things, the Italgas Shareholders’ Agreement governs:
(i) the exercise of voting rights attached to the syndicated shares; (i) the creation of a
consultation committee; (iii) the obligations and arrangements for submitting a joint
slate for the appointment of the members of the Board of Directors of the Company;
and (iv) some restrictions on the sale and purchase of Italgas shares. The Italgas Share-
holders” Agreement was filed in copy at the Milan Business Registry on 11 November
2016 and can be retrieved in extract from the company’'s website at:

http://www.italgas.it/investitori/azionariato/patti-parasociali/.

On 1 May 2017, CDP Gas was merged into CDP, to which the Italgas shares held by CDP
Gas were transferred. On 19 May 2017 these same shares were transferred to CDP Reti,
already party to the ltalgas Shareholders’ Agreement. On 1 August 2019, the Italgas Share-
holders” Agreement was further updated to take into account the reclassification of the
equity investment of CDP in Italgas as a de facto controlling interest, pursuant to Article
2359, subsections 1) and 2) of the Italian Civil Code and Article 93 of the CLF. The share-
holders” agreement is for three years and is automatically renewed for further three-year
periods, unless one of the parties gives 12 months’ notice. Given such forecast, in No-
vember 2019 and November 2022 the shareholders’ agreement was renewed.

On 27 November 2014, CDP S.p.A. ("CDP’), on the one hand, and State Grid Europe
Limited ("SGEL") and State Grid International Development Limited ("SGID"), on the oth-
er, entered into a shareholders’ agreement (the "SGEL Shareholders’ Agreement™) in
the context of the sales contract concluded between the same parties on 31 July 2014
in accordance with which on 27 November 2014 SGEL acquired from CDP a stake
equal to 35% of the share capital of CDP Reti. In conjunction with the effectiveness of
the partial and proportional demerger from Snam in favour of Italgas and the simulta-
neous listing of the Italgas shares on 7 November 2016, SGEL, SGID and CDP have
amended and supplemented the SGEL Shareholders’ Agreement, effective on the
same date, extending its application to the stake held by CDP Reti in Italgas. The SGEL
shareholders” agreement was filed in copy at the Milan Business Registry on 11 Novem-
ber 2016 and can be retrieved in extract from the company’s website at:

http://www.italgas.it/investitori/azionariato/patti-parasociali/.

51. 5% relative to the Accident Frequency Index, 10% relative to the measured as a decrease in the amount of gas emitted into the

Gas Leakage Rate, 5% relative to the percentage of female candidates, atmosphere through leakage.

5% relative to the percentage of women in "Head of Business Unit" . . .

positions 53. https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/04/

Italgas_Rem_IT_2022_web.pdf
52. Defined based on two parameters: 1) inclusions, in the three- ) . i .
year period, within the DJSI, FTSEAGOOD and CDP Climate Change 54. https://www.italgas.it/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2023/03/

sustainability indices and ratings; and 2) emissions reduction, Politica-sulla-Remunerazione-2023-e-Compensi-corrisposti-2022.pdf
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3.2 Risks Management = &

Italgas has an Internal Control and Risk Management System integrated into the organ-
isational, administrative and accounting structure and, more generally, a corporate
governance system that ensures compliance with the laws and company procedures,
protects the company assets and contributes to the management of activities, solidify-
ing the accounting and financial data processed.

The Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Department is tasked with overseeing the
Group's integrated business risk management process. The ERM activities focus on the
definition of a homogeneous, transversal model for assessing the risks, identifying priority
risks, ensuring consolidation of the mitigation actions and developing a reporting system.

The ERM methodology adopted by the Italgas Group is in line with the reference mod-
els and the existing international best practices (in particular, the 2017 COSO frame-
work relative to the Enterprise Risk Management, issued by the Committee of Sponsor-
ing Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and ISO 31000:2018). The process for
the identification, assessment, measurement and management of the risks is carried
out periodically, at least once a year, on the basis of the importance of the risk and any
changes in context.

The activities directly involve all business departments through dedicated meetings
that make it possible to incorporate updates to the information on the description, sig-
nificance and management of the risks already existing in the portfolio, and the detec-
tion of new emerging risks. In order to ensure the correct assessment and prioritisation
of risk events, the assessment is carried out considering the following potential types of
impact: economic-financial; operative; legal, governance and compliance; environ-
ment, health and safety; reputation and market. The ERM model establishes an inte-
grated, cross-cutting and dynamic risk assessment that enhances the management
systems already existing in the individual business processes. Each risk is assessed using
a specific assessment scale that sets out the thresholds of relevance for the Group and
attributes a "rating” to each risk, thereby making it easier to prioritise them. For all risks,
the risk ownerships are identified and attributed and the management strategies are
defined, broken down into specific actions for dealing with the risk and establishing the
relative implementation time.

With reference to strategic risks, the Enterprise Risk Management Department, in coor-
dination with all relevant departments, carries out a specific in-depth analysis of risks,
opportunities and uncertainties related to the Strategic Plan. The analysis allows esti-
mation of the overall volatility of the defined economic and financial targets and evalu-
ation of the level of resilience of the Strategic Plan. The “Strategic Plan” document,
which has been approved by Italgas S.p.A.'s Board of Directors, contains the output of
this analysis.

The risks are updated once a quarter, half-year or year, depending on their relevance. The
results found in relation to the main risks and related management plans are presented to
the Control, Risk and Related Party Transactions Committee at each updating. Moreover,
the mapping of risks and the relative management strategies are presented periodically
to the Board of Statutory Auditors and the Supervisory Body of Italgas and to the Boards
of Statutory Auditors and the Supervisory Bodies of the Subsidiaries.

The Officer Responsible and the Internal Audit department periodically receive the re-
sults of the risk assessments performed by the ERM unit.

The reconciliation table below shows the main risks mapped in the ERM process being
monitored, the main management methods and the material topics identified.

It should be noted that, despite the mitigation actions introduced in order to monitor
and prevent the occurrence of significant risks, the Company cannot rule out specific
events that could lead to the recognition of liabilities in the financial statements.
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Category

Risk

Description

Strategic/business-related

Changes in Regulation and
legislation

Risk of changes in the regulatory and institutional context in Europe
or nationally affecting the natural gas sector.

Risk of a penalising update of the rate of return on net invested
capital recognised by the Regulator.

Focus on Greece: Risk of review by the Greek Regulator of the
investment and tariff plans submitted for approval.

Strategic/business-related

Climate Change

Physical Risk: increased frequency of extremely intense natural
events in the places where Italgas operates (more or less prolonged
unavailability of assets and infrastructure, increase in repair and
insurance costs, service interruption, etc.) with a negative impact
on costs, revenues and level of service

EMERGING RISK:* Physical Risk: an increase in average
temperatures in the areas where ltalgas operates with a possible
negative impact on the number of active re-delivery points served
and, consequently, on revenues

EMERGING RISK: Transition Risk: changes in the legislative and
regulatory context in terms of greenhouse gas, with the objective
of limiting emissions, for instance by introducing measures that
require natural gas distributors to acquire certificates to cover
emissions, with a negative impact on costs.

EMERGING RISK: Transition risk: technological evolution that may
have a negative impact on the number of active re-delivery points
served with a negative impact on revenues and the level of
expected investments

EMERGING RISK: Transition Risk: uncertainty of the role of natural
gas in the future energy mix with a negative impact on costs,
revenues and level of expected investments

55. With the same scope, excluding any changes following M&As, Depa Infrastructure and ATEM (Minimum Territorial Area) tenders.
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. Connected material
Main methods of management .
topics
— Structures dedicated to the oversight of regulations, legislation and their future plans for Generation of economic
evolution including at European level value and ESG finance

— Active participation in the consultations called by the Regulator, sharing corporate positions
and/or proposals for defining, updating and implementing clear and transparent regulation

Criteria
— Active participation in consultations called by the Italian Government or by European I
Community organisations on relevant topics, including the Taxonomy o
=
— Guidance to define the associative sector positions e
~
o
— Operational countermeasures as described in the “Service continuity: malfunctioning, accidents  Energy transition and the @,
or extraordinary events” risk fight against climate (’E’
change 8
=~

— Targets for reducing net greenhouse gas emissions®®:
Generation of economic

- i) by 2030: reduction of Scope 1 & 2 emissions by 42% and reduction of Scope 3 emissions by value and ESG finance

33%, compared to 2020 values
Safety of the networks,
assets and people

b
—

- ii) by 2050, the target of Net Carbon Zero
— Target to reduce net energy consumption by 33% by 2030, compared to 2020 values Service quality and
— Use of Picarro Surveyor technology, currently the most advanced technology in the field of gas ~ customer satisfaction
network monitoring activities, with significant benefits in terms of speed of execution, extent of
the areas being controlled and three times greater sensitivity of detection of gas in the air than
those currently used by sector operators (parts per billion versus parts per million)

Network innovation and
digitisation

. ) . ) . Corporate identity

— Adoption of internal leakage repair SLAs stricter than those defined by the Regulator

Adoption of circular

— Process of converting the network into digital infrastructure to enable the distribution of gas L
economy principles

other than methane, such as hydrogen, biomethane and e-gas

Management of
ecosystems and
biodiversity

— Development, implementation and adoption of digital applications for the remote control of
network and facility construction, development and maintenance worksites

S1USWIDIL)S JeldueUl{ Pa1epPIoSUoD)

— Conversion to methane of the distribution networks supplied by LPG, with resulting reduction in
emissions compared to the current configuration

— Actions to modernise the network (investments in maintenance, replacement of cast iron pipes I
with mechanical joints, clean up upright columns and brackets)

— Promotion of responsible business practices, by joining the UN Global Compact and the OGMP
2.0 of the UNEP

— Guidance to define the associative sector positions

— Active participation in consultations called by the government or by European community
organisations on relevant topics

— Active participation in the activities of sector associations to oversee technological changes
— Carrying out energy efficiency projects through the subsidiary Geoside

— Investments intended to increase the Group's presence in the water and energy efficiency
sectors

— Promotion of sustainable mobility

— Development of power-to-gas technology powered by renewable energy in order to produce
renewable gases that can be used in the existing networks

— Network and facility analysis initiatives for the evaluation of their adequacy and of interventions
intended to enable the distribution of gas other than methane, such as hydrogen, biomethane
and e-gas.

S1USWIDIL)S JeIdURUI4 PR1ePIIOSUOY) SY) O} SaXauUy <

56 Risk for which the potential effects for the company and/or sector refer to a medium to long-term time frame.
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Category

Risk

Description

Strategic/business-related

Risks associated with the
development and awarding of
area tenders for the gas
distribution service

Risk of not being awarded concessions in the planned areas, or
being awarded concessions with less favourable conditions than
previously.

Risk of higher management costs borne by the Group with respect

to its operating standards in case of concessions awarded in ATEMs
(Minimum Territorial Areas) previously managed entirely or partially

by other operators.

Risk of legal and/or arbitration disputes with possible negative
effects on the business and the equity, economic and financial
position of the Italgas Group deriving from the complexity of the
legislation that governs the expiry of the concessions held by
ltalgas.

Risk that the redemption value of the concessions for which,
following the assignment process, a third party is an assignee is
lower than the value of the RAB, with possible negative effects on
the business and on the equity, economic and financial position of
ltalgas.

Strategic/business-related

Risks related to energy
efficiency certificates

Potential risk of economic loss due both to the possible negative
difference recorded between the mean purchase value of the
Energy Efficiency Certificates purchased and the recognised
tariff-based fee at the end of each year of obligation and the failure
to achieve the targets annually set

Financial

Credit Risk

Risk of potential losses arising from counterparties failing to fulfil
their obligations or delayed payment of amounts owed with
negative effects on the financial results and financial position of the
Italgas Group




Main methods of management

Connected material
topics

The existing legislation states that, in the event of failure to be awarded concessions previously
managed, the outgoing operator is entitled to the redemption value for the networks it owns.

Specific procedures that govern the pre-tender activities, including calculation of the
redemption value, and participation in area tenders

Monitoring of legislative changes (national, regional, local) and evaluation of the potential
impacts on the tender process

Planning of the Tender calendar and the bidding strategy integrated into the Group's Strategic
Plan.

Critical analysis of the quality of the tender bid and implementation of improvement measures,

including through use of external experts, organisations and universities

Corporate identity

Generation of economic
value and ESG finance

Network development

Established a specific provision to cover the liabilities associated with the Energy Efficiency
Certificates

Process for the acquisition of Energy Efficiency Certificates and the management of related
obligations

Monitoring of legislative changes

Active participation in working groups and development of sector position papers with
proposals for guidelines for reviewing the rules of the EEC system

Optimised purchasing strategy through access to the market, evaluation and development of
any reports for bilateral agreements, periodic reporting to company management

Presence in energy efficiency sectors through the development of projects with partial
reduction of the EEC short position

Energy transition and the
fight against climate
change

Generation of economic
value and ESG finance

Rules for user access to the gas distribution service established by the Regulator and set out in
the Network Codes, namely, in documents that establish, for each type of service, the rules
regulating the rights and obligations of the parties involved in the process of providing said
services, and lay down contractual conditions that reduce the risk of non-compliance by
customers, such as the provision of bank or insurance guarantees on first request

Analysis and monitoring of the credit portfolio

Assessments of initiatives for outsourcing to external companies specialised in credit recovery.
Monthly monitoring of the activities and performance of the appointed companies

In ltaly, as at 31 December 2022 there were no significant credit risks. Note that on average,

98.4% of trade receivables relating to gas distribution are settled by the due date and over 99.7%

within the following 4 days, confirming the strong reliability of the customers

In Greece, as at 31 December 2022 there were no significant credit risks. Note that on average,
83.2% of trade receivables relating to gas distribution are settled by the due date and over 90.8%

within the following 4 days, confirming the strong reliability of the customers.

Generation of economic
value and ESG finance

55

10daYy ,SI0109UI(Q e

—
—

I

S1USWIDIL)S JeldueUl{ Pa1epPIoSUoD)

S1USWIDIL)S JeIdURUI4 PR1ePIIOSUOY) SY) O} SaXauUy <




56

Integrated Annual Report 2022

Category

Risk

Description

Financial

Changes in interest rates,
inflation and deflation

Risk of fluctuations in interest rates, impacting the market value of
the Company'’s financial assets and liabilities and its net financial
expense. The risk that an extended period of inflation lower than
the Group's forecasts could have adverse effects in the long-term
on the RAB value and expected regulated revenues. Risk of an
unexpected increase in the inflation rate with possible adverse
effects on expected costs

Financial

Liquidity Risk

Risk that new financial resources may not be available (funding
liquidity risk) or that the company may be unable to convert assets
into cash on the market (asset liquidity risk), meaning that it cannot
meet its payment commitments. This may affect profit or loss
should the company incur extra costs to meet its commitments or,
in extreme cases, lead to insolvency and threaten the company’s
future as a going concern

Financial

Credit rating risk

Risk of a downgrade in Italgas’ credit rating due to worsening in the
economic and financial parameters or due to a downgrade of the
rating of the Italian Republic, which, based on the methodologies
adopted by the rating agencies, could trigger a downward
adjustment in Italgas’ rating

Financial

Debt covenant and default risk

Risk of failure to comply with financial covenants for existing loans
(in some cases only when this non-compliance is not remedied
within a set time period, and the occurrence of other events, such
as cross-default events, some of which are subject to specific
threshold values), which could result in Italgas’ failure to comply
and could trigger the early repayment of the relative loan




Connected material 57

Main methods of management .
topics

— Process for the preparation and monitoring of the financial and management plan, control and Generation of economic
reporting of Financial Risks value and ESG finance

— Financial planning activities with a time frame of 7 years, carried out annually

— Maintenance of a debt ratio between a fixed rate and floating rate to minimise the risk of rising
interest rates (as at 31 December 2022, 90.8% of the gross financial debt was at fixed rate and
9.2% at floating rate)

— Use of a diverse mix of external financial resources (bonds subscribed by institutional investors,
syndicated loans with banks and other financial institutions, in the form of medium-to-long-
term loans and bank credit lines at interest rates indexed to benchmark market rates, in
particular the Europe Interbank Offered Rate [Euribor])

— Monitoring of the main economic and financial indicators, including financial structure indices
used by rating agencies, liquidity indicators and liquidity buffers, risk indicators of counterparty
liabilities, and of certain key parameters, such as the ratio between debt and the RAB, indicators
of debt mix/composition (fixed/variable, short/long, used/agreed)
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— Process for the preparation and monitoring of the financial and management plan, and control Corporate identity

and reporting of financial risks . .
Generation of economic

— Financial planning activities with a time frame of 7 years, carried out annually value and ESG finance

— Adequate level of cash held in current accounts and fixed-term deposits with leading banks Sustainable supply chain

. - : ) ) management
= The EMTN programme, in addition to funding from the banking system, which presently allows

issue of the remaining bonds worth a nominal € 2.0 billion to be placed with institutional
investors

— Monitoring of the main economic and financial indicators, including financial structure indices
used by rating agencies, liquidity indicators and liquidity buffers, risk indicators of counterparty
liabilities, and of certain key parameters, such as the ratio between debt and the RAB, indicators
of debt mix/composition (fixed/variable, short/long, used/agreed)
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— Process for the preparation and monitoring of the financial and management plan, and control Corporate identity

and reporting of financial risks . .
Generation of economic

— Financial planning activities with a time frame of 7 years and carried out annually value and ESG finance I

— Monitoring of the main economic and financial indicators, including financial structure indices
used by rating agencies, liquidity indicators and liquidity buffers, risk indicators of counterparty
liabilities, and of certain key parameters, such as the ratio between debt and the RAB, indicators
of debt mix/composition (fixed/variable, short/long, used/agreed)

— Constant dialogue with rating agencies

— Absence of financial covenants and/or collateral in the loan agreements (as at 31 December Corporate identity
2022, there were no loan agreements with these characteristics, except for the EIB loan taken
out by Toscana Energia, for an original nominal amount of € 90 million and some credit lines
granted to Greek operating companies that require compliance with certain financial covenants)

Generation of economic
value and ESG finance

— The issue of bonds as part of the Euro Medium Term Notes programme, requiring compliance
with covenants that reflect international market practices regarding, inter alia, negative pledge
and pari passu clauses

— Monitoring of compliance with the following types of contractual clauses: (i) negative pledge
undertakings, pursuant to which Italgas and its subsidiaries are subject to limitations regarding
the creation of real rights of guarantee or other restrictions concerning all or part of the
respective assets, shares or goods; (ii) pari passu and change of control clauses; (i) limitations
on some extraordinary transactions that the company and its subsidiaries may carry out (as at 31
December 2022, these commitments appear to have been respected)
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Category Risk Description
Operational Anomalies in smart meter Risk of increased levels of malfunctioning of smart meters with lost/
performance failed reading of the use and/or requiring replacement or
regeneration
Operational Service continuity: Risks of malfunctioning and unforeseeable distribution service

malfunctioning, accidents or
extraordinary events

disruptions from unintended events, such as accidents, break-
downs or malfunctioning of equipment or control systems, the
underperformance of plants, and extraordinary events such as
explosions, fires, earthquakes, landslides or other similar events
beyond ltalgas’ control




Main methods of management

Connected material
topics

Maintenance of an adequate provision to cover the liabilities generated by the costs arising from
malfunctioning

Issue of adequate guarantees by the suppliers of materials

“SmartTracker” Digital Factory application for the tracking and management of smart meters
throughout the entire life cycle

Plan to replace and/or repair meters with function anomalies

Operating centres for the regeneration of Smart Meters with anomalies

Audits on suppliers and supply tests

Update of technical specifications, including in consideration of technology changes
Adoption in the field of smart meters equipped with NB-loT communication technology

Project for the development of latest generation smart meters, also compatible with renewable
gas like biomethane and hydrogen and patented by Italgas

Corporate identity

Service quality and
customer satisfaction

Adoption of circular
economy principles

Generation of economic
value and ESG finance

Safety of the networks,
assets and people

Sustainable supply chain
management

Network innovation and
digitisation

Third Party Liability Insurance and Asset Protection coverage

Procedures and systems for emergency management, emergency plans with measures defined
to make facilities safe and guarantee service continuity

Health and safety procedures, communication campaigns, training and meetings to raise
awareness of and analyse the prevention of accidents, initiatives that also involve suppliers/
contractors

Integrated Centre for Supervision (ICS) active 24/7 which makes it possible to monitor the status
of the network remotely using remote monitoring systems, manage requests for prompt
intervention, identify the places that require intervention and monitor the progress of making
conditions safe

Facility and asset safety and network monitoring systems

Introduction of DANA - Digital Advanced Network Automation — the network command and
control system with 3 main advantages: a) To ensure the monitoring of a distributed system in
which physical variables are interdependent; b) To enable remote management with commands
on the main processes of the network and facilities and to increase the efficiency of the
governed processes and the flexibility of the network; c) To enable the management of
renewable gases (e.g. biomethane, hydrogen).

Smart Maintenance initiative: development and gradual adoption of a GIS model for asset
management used to plan smart maintenance of the Italgas networks.

Planned search for leaks using the best systems and technologies (Picarro Surveyor) and with
higher levels of annual coverage of the network inspected than the standards defined by the
Regulator

Adoption of internal leakage repair SLAs stricter than those defined by the Regulator

Continuous modernisation of the network (investments in maintenance, replacement of cast
iron pipes with mechanical joints, plans to clean up upright columns and brackets)

Prevention of potential damage to pipes caused by third parties (e.g. other sub-services)

Qualification procedures for third-party construction, engineering and works supervision
companies, contractor monitoring

Digital Factory for the development of innovative solutions intended to digitise processes and
improve the network operating and management activities and the quality of service

Corporate identity

Protection, inclusion,
development and
well-being of human
resources

Safety of the networks,
assets and people

Network innovation and
digitisation

Service quality and
customer satisfaction

Sustainable supply chain
management

Management of
ecosystems and
biodiversity

Dialogue and creation of
value on the territory

Energy transition and the
fight against climate
change

Generation of economic
value and ESG finance
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Category

Risk

Description

Operational

Cyber attacks

Risks of cyber attacks on the IT (Information Technology), OT
(Operational Technology) and IoT (Internet of Things) sectors




. Connected material
Main methods of management .
topics
— Specific insurance coverage of the risks related to cybersecurity Network cybersecurity

— Cybersecurity organisational and operational model
— Group Policy on Integrated Security, Resilience and Crisis Management

— Models and procedures for business continuity, network and information security, and
emergency and crisis management

— Monitoring of the Group's Bitsight cyber risk rating, currently positioned in an advanced range
that corresponds to a high level of maturity of the cybersecurity frameworks

— Adoption of conditional access solutions on the basis of certain risk factors (illegitimate
accesses, accesses from unusual locations, etc.) and Multi-Factor-Authentication for the
Group’'s employees and most critical IT suppliers

— Adoption of security measures to protect endpoints (antimalware) and e-mail through the
implementation of antispam solutions (protection of mail from spam), anti spoofing solutions
(protection from attacks that impersonate the address of the sender of a communication),
advanced hunting (advanced analysis to proactively verify possible threats), safe link/safe
attachment (protection from harmful links and attachments present in e-mails through
simulation in a test environment, sandbox)

— Specific training for Group employees on cyber risks, common vulnerabilities, phishing and
spam

— Possibility for Group employees to report suspected phishing e-mails (phishing alarm) to a team

specifically appointed to analyse and manage these e-mails

— Phishing simulations for Group employees intended to test and strengthen their ability to
recognise malicious emails

— Secure Product Development Lifecycle process which defines an operational and project

approach in which the considerations and measures to prevent and mitigate cybersecurity risks

are integrated from the very start of the procurement process and/or the development of
hardware and software

— Security measures to protect the network infrastructure from unauthorised alteration,
disservices, incorrect applications and unauthorised data disclosure through firewall solutions,

intrusion prevention systems, web application firewalls, anti DDoS (Distributed Denial of Service)

systems, protection of Internet browsing (proxy) and network segmentation

— Continuous real time monitoring, through Security Information and Event Management (SIEM)
solutions, of IT and OT systems aimed at identifying and correlating events on monitored
devices and acting accordingly where necessary

— Periodic IT and OT vulnerability assessments and penetration tests performed by third parties

— Definition and periodic updating of contract technical specifications, including in relation to
cybersecurity

— Leading sector suppliers that guarantee maximum levels of security and performance, the
service levels of which are defined by contract and monitored

— "Cybersecurity Awareness for third parties’, with which the suppliers of the Italgas Group must
formally comply. It promotes the application of appropriate cybersecurity processes by third
parties

— Adoption of Cyber Threat Intelligence services aimed at proactively identifying new techniques
used for attacks, monitoring the main players in threats and verifying any company data
available outside the Group scope

Compliance,
transparency and fight
against corruption

Sustainable supply chain
management

Service quality and
customer satisfaction

Safety of the networks,
assets and people

Generation of economic
value and ESG finance

Network innovation and
digitisation
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Category

Risk

Description

Operational

Risks associated with the
health and safety of people
and environmental protection

Risk of incidents and/or injuries involving employees and partner
companies.

Risk that Italgas may incur costs or liability, including to a significant
extent, arising from any environmental damage, including in
consideration of changes in legislation on protecting the environ-
ment and the possible occurrence of disputes.




Main methods of management

Connected material
topics

Specific insurance policies for “individuals’, which cover both cases of professional and
non-professional accidents, and death by illness

HSEQ system in compliance with the reference standards, certified according to international
legislation for aspects of health, safety, environment, quality and energy efficiency, which
envisages compliance audits carried out by the certification body

Research and technological innovation and actions and projects for the energy efficiency of
processes, the improvement of plant safety conditions and the environmental recovery of
former manufactured gas production sites

Monitoring of HSE legislation, formation and dissemination of applicable legislative oversight

Training on HSE issues and digital management system for courses (Learning Management
System)

Digital applications for reporting and recording “near misses” and for waste management

Communication campaigns and meetings to raise awareness about safety and other HSE topics
Reward systems for virtuous operating structures in terms of health and safety

Establishment of the Partners HSE Lab with training, information and workshop events with
suppliers/contractors intended to raise awareness/create alignment on HSE topics

Internal procedures that involve specific measures with regard to suppliers/contractors in case
of HSE non-compliance and reward system for virtuous behaviour (Contractor Safety Trophy)

Compliance audits on the HSEQ and ISO 37001 integrated system and technical audits on
suppliers and contractors during qualification and normal activities

With particular reference to reclamation activities:

- Established a specific provision to cover the estimated liabilities in relation to the formalities
required by the law in effect

- Reclamation process of contaminated sites, which defines the tasks, operating procedures
and indications in operations of waste removal, land analysis, establishing safe conditions
and/or reclamation of sites contaminated by previous activities

- Structure dedicated to monitoring the design and construction phases. Audits on sites being
reclaimed, carried out internally and by third parties, both during the works and for the final
inspection

Corporate identity

Protection, inclusion,
development and
well-being of human
resources

Safety of the networks,
assets and people

Adoption of circular
economy principles

Management of
ecosystems and
biodiversity

Sustainable supply chain
management

Dialogue and creation of
value on the territory

Compliance,
transparency and fight
against corruption

Generation of economic
value and ESG finance
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Category Risk Description
Operational Risks associated with human Risks associated with the development of human resources,
resources including risk of resources in key roles leaving, lack of technical and
specialist know-how, increase in the age of company personnel,
drop in the level of satisfaction and/or increase in workplace
disputes
Operational Risks associated with the Risk of non-compliance of the commercial levels of service for

quality and level of service

services to sales companies and/or risk of delayed or partial
compliance with the obligations assumed, such as execution of the
investments plan related to concessions involving obligations borne
by the concession holder




Main methods of management

Connected material
topics

Knowledge transfer system developed in the Italgas Digital Factory, which involves the video
coding of operating activities and real-time instructions available via wearable devices

Refining of training processes, with a multimedia platform for planning, managing and accessing
the various managerial, technical, HSEQ and digital training activities

Initiatives for the dissemination of the culture and digital knowledge (mapping of digital skills,
creation of Digital Ambassadors and training on digital topics)

Personnel scouting and recruitment process, performance management system and
development plans for resources with a role-specific training programme

|-Grow Programme, ltalgas’ graduate programme aimed at strengthening internal know-how in
accordance with the principles of meritocracy and transparency, which provides for the
acceleration of the development of transversal skills through induction paths, training
programmes and structured job rotation paths

Succession plan for senior roles

Collaborations with Italian universities intended to anticipate talent acquisition
Organisational structures dedicated to diversity and inclusion and to HR sustainability
Periodic survey on the corporate climate extended to all Group employees

System of services and welfare under constant expansion in order to intercept new
requirements and expectations

Italgas Human Rights Policy
Italgas Diversity and Inclusion Policy

Adoption of the Mac ecosystem, capable of ensuring ease of approach to new digital solutions,
promoting the sharing and collaboration and improvement of the everyday experience

Smart Rotation system, the internal Italgas job posting, to foster the exchange of skills within the
Group, enhancing its people and facilitating upskilling and reskilling

System for the classification and protection of information according to criteria of
Confidentiality, Integrity and Secrecy

Corporate identity

Protection, inclusion,
development and
well-being of human
resources

Respect for human rights

Generation of economic
value and ESG finance

Network innovation and
digitisation

Continuous monitoring of Key Performance Indicators on commercial processes, alerts and
communication to Territorial Hubs for activation/acceleration of territorial interventions

Ad hoc analysis of commercial processes and development of improvement measures
Operating procedures and instructions for Commercial Management of the Service

Acceleration in improvements to the level of service driven by the digitisation of assets and
processes

Surveys at sales companies

Italgas digital portal dedicated to Gas2Be sales companies, developed to strengthen the
partnership, facilitate the accreditation process of the network and allow the sales companies
direct and immediate access to information and news about Italgas such as the most recent
promotions launched in the territory, or about the upcoming webinars designed specifically to
increase and improve the exchange of know-how between Italgas and the sales companies

Allocation to a specific business unit of the responsibility for mapping the existing concession
obligations, monitoring and activating the network technical units for prompt interventions

Monitoring of the works progress on the basis of the obligations assumed

Constant dialogue with contracting parties, including in order to understand and satisfy update
requirements

CRM to support people working at the Italgas Contact Centre in carrying out front-end activities
(Customer Service)

Corporate identity

Service quality and
customer satisfaction

Network development

Dialogue and creation of
value on the territory

Generation of economic
value and ESG finance

Network innovation and
digitisation
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Category

Risk

Description

Operational

Supply chain risks

Risks associated with the availability and cost of materials, services
and supplies, the operating capacity and scalability and the
reputational and compliance reliability (including respect for human
rights) of the suppliers and contractors of the Group




Main methods of management

Connected material
topics

Planning of procurement, analysis and monitoring of department KPIs

Supplier qualification process which provides for specific reputational checks, including
regarding ESG

Anti-mafia audits in tender procedures relating to special sectors pursuant to Article 80 of
Legislative Decree 50/2016, to the Reclamation sector and to works under Title IV of Legislative
Decree 81/2008

New digital IT4Buy platform, which improves i) the speed and simplicity of the supplier
registration and qualification process; ii) the tender process; iii) contract management

ESG reward criteria during the tender phase on Legality topics, possession of specific ISO
certifications, environmental impact (e.g. CO2 emissions)

Verification of sustainability and economic-financial requirements through recognised external
providers, as early as during the supplier registration stage

Standardised tender processes and regulations

Weekly tender committee with analysis of the activities performed, vendor list, tender time
frames.

Supplier performance evaluation, including in terms of sustainability, integrated into the vendor
management module

Management of unforeseeable events: risk assessment to suppliers; procurement diversification;
scouting for alternative raw materials

On-site technical and ESG checks for the Qualification purposes of Suppliers deemed Critical/
Strategic

Scouting activities for innovative assets, produced with alternative materials and/or different
technologies, functional to asset management/maintenance

Technical specifications being continuously updated including in consideration of the
technological changes and contractual clauses that govern cases of goods and services
exposed to cyber risk

“Supplier Code of Ethics”, requiring a commitment from suppliers. The code is inspired, among
other things, by the information set out internationally in the UN Universal Declaration of
Human Rights, the Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work and the
Conventions issued by the International Labour Organization (ILO) and the Ten Principles of the
UN Global Compact, in addition to the contents of the UN Guiding Principles on Business and
Human Rights and the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises

Anti-Bribery Policy Awareness for third parties — request for anti-bribery and/or ISO 37001
declaration from suppliers

"Cybersecurity Awareness for third parties”, with which the Italgas Group's suppliers must
comply

Renewed logistics model with Warehouse Centralisation and management of Withdrawal Points
in the territories (UT) and consequent digitisation of monitoring materials in stock/transit

Corporate identity

Compliance,
transparency and fight
against corruption

Protection, inclusion,
development and
well-being of human
resources

Sustainable supply chain
management

Adoption of circular
economy principles

Management of
ecosystems and
biodiversity

Respect for human rights

Energy transition and the
fight against climate
change

Generation of economic
value and ESG finance

Network innovation and
digitisation
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Category Risk

Description

Operational COVID-19, pandemics and
new diseases

Risks associated with the health crisis arising from COVID-19 and/or
the spread of new pandemics or new diseases that have repercus-
sions on health and safety, on the operating context and on the
resulting economic and financial framework of reference of Italgas

Legal and non-compliance Risk of non-compliance and
legislative changes

Risk of non-compliance with legislation at European, national,
regional and local level with which Italgas must comply in relation
to the activities that it carries out and/or risk of failure to intercept
and transpose new regulations falling under the scope of
application




Main methods of management

Connected material
topics

Establishment of a Crisis Committee to monitor and manage the different phases of the
pandemic

Continuous monitoring of the changes in the reference regulations and solutions for the
management of the COVID-19 emergency both nationally and internationally, maintaining
constant connections with the authorities, research organisations and hospitals

Adoption of the Italgas Group Protocol regulating measures to combat and contain the spread
of the COVID-19 virus in the workplace

Specific indemnity insurance policy for all employees who test positive for COVID-19 in case of
hospitalisation

Flu vaccination campaigns

Specific operating measures to minimise contact (e.g. smart working, starting from home for
operating staff) and control (e.g. temperature scanners upon entry, hand sanitiser towers,
anti-gathering rules)

Periodic monitoring of positive cases and personnel in quarantine, including through the
Appointed Physicians and process for the receipt and management of reports regarding positive
COVID-19 cases, which provides for the identification, contact tracing and activation of
quarantine in coordination with the Local Appointed Physicians

Periodic distribution of the rules of conduct in relation to changes in the pandemic and the
provisions of the Health Authorities

Corporate identity

Protection, inclusion,
development and
well-being of human
resources

Safety of the networks,
assets and people

Dialogue and creation of
value on the territory

Generation of economic
value and ESG finance

Internal control and risk management system and areas of responsibility defined in terms of
compliance

Code of Ethics, Model 231, Policy for the prevention of and fight against corruption, ISO 37001
anti-bribery certification

Monitoring, analysis, distribution and implementation of legislative measures on topics of
interest for the Italgas Group and verification of correct implementation

Training for personnel on compliance issues
Analysis and monitoring of the reputational requirements of the Group’s counterparties

“Supplier Code of Ethics”

Corporate identity

Compliance,
transparency and fight
against corruption

Protection, inclusion,
development and
well-being of human
resources

Adoption of circular
economy principles

Management of
ecosystems and
biodiversity

Energy transition and the
fight against climate
change

Sustainable supply chain
management

Service quality and
customer satisfaction

Respect for human rights

Generation of economic
value and ESG finance
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3.3 Internal control system iw &

In order to ensure the correctness®, accuracy®, reliability> and timeliness of the infor-
mation communicated to shareholders and the market, Italgas is committed to pro-
moting and maintaining an adequate Corporate Reporting Internal Control System
(hereinafter also referred to as the "SCIS’) and should be seen as the set of all instru-
ments necessary or useful to guiding, managing and verifying the corporate business.

In line with the decision to drawn up an Integrated Annual Report that includes both fi-
nancial and non-financial information, Italgas has aligned its internal control system
also in respect of non-financial information.

The Corporate Internal Control System adopted by Italgas and its subsidiaries was de-
fined in accordance with the provisions of the above-mentioned Article 154-bis of the
CLF that Italgas is required to ensure compliance with, and is based in methodological
terms on the "COSO Framework” ("Internal Control - Integrated Framework’, issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission), the inter-
national reference model for the establishment, updating, analysis and assessment of
the control system in respect of both financial and non-financial information.

The reference "COSO Framework” for Italgas is updated to May 2013 and this is the last
version available.

The design, establishment and maintenance of the Corporate Reporting Internal Con-
trol System are guaranteed through scoping, identifying and assessing risks and con-
trols (at corporate and process level, through risk assessment and monitoring activi-
ties), and the relevant information flows (reporting).

The control system structure provides for entity-level controls (CELCs - Company Enti-
ty Level Controls) which apply across the entire entity in question (group/individual
company), and process-level controls (PLCs).

The controls, both at the entity level and process level, are subject to regular evaluation
(monitoring) to verify the adequacy of the design and actual operability over time. For
that purpose, there is provision for ongoing monitoring activities, assigned to the man-
agement responsible for the relevant procedures/ activities, as well as independent
monitoring assigned to Internal Audit, which operates according to an annual plan
agreed with the Executive responsible for preparing the corporate accounting docu-
ments (DP), which aims to define the scope and objectives of its actions through con-
certed audit procedures.

During 2022, all 11 audits provided for in the Audit Plan were carried out and 19 moni-
toring reports were prepared: 15 relating to the monitoring in a single session in 2021,
which was concluded during the early months of 2022 and 4 relative to the first session
of 2022, which was concluded late 2022. During the year, the Internal Audit Depart-
ment issued 19 separate evaluation reports.

To allow for the assessment of the efficacy of the Internal Control and Risk Manage-
ment System with respect to Italgas’ specifications and the risk profile accepted, the
Internal Audit Department carried out 11 audits envisaged by the Audit Plan approved
by the BoD on 16 December 2021. The results of the audits have been presented to the
Control, Risk and Related Party Transactions Committee.

For the Control, Risk and Related Party Transactions Committee, on the basis of the
controls performed and taking into account the areas for improvement identified and
the related actions taken or being taken by the management, it has been possible to
conclude that the Internal Control System is fit for the purpose and the Internal Audit
Department meets the necessary requirements of autonomy, adequacy, efficiency and
effectiveness to go about its activities.

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing procedure — approved by the Board of
Directors — in line with the best practices on the subject. This regulates the process of
receiving, analysing and processing reports sent or forwarded by anyone, even in con-
fidential or anonymous form, about any irregularities or breaches of applicable regula-
tions and internal procedures (so-called whistleblowing). It also covers the manage-
ment of so-called qualified reports concerning members of the Board of Directors or
Control Bodies (Board of Statutory Auditors and Supervisory Bodies).

57. Attendibilita dell'informativa:
informativa che ha le
caratteristiche di correttezza e
conformita ai principi contabili
generalmente accettati e
possiede i requisiti richiesti
dalle leggi e dai regolamenti
applicabili.

58. Accuratezza dellinformativa:
informativa priva di errori.

59. Affidabilita dellinformativa:
informativa che ha le
caratteristiche di chiarezza e
completezza tali da indurre
decisioni di investimento
consapevoli da parte degli
investitori



Each notification is analysed by the Notifications Com-
mittee, composed of the Head of Human Resources &
Organisation, the General Counsel and the Head of In-
ternal Audit. It is the responsibility of the latter depart-
ment to promptly inform the senior management of the
Company concerned and to forward notifications to
the Company'’s Supervisory Body for the relevant evalu-
ations and actions.

The whistleblowing report is prepared twice a year and
sent by the Internal Audit department to the following
Company bodies and departments: Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer, General Manager, Board of Statutory
Auditors, Control, Risk and Related Party Transactions
Committee, Supervisory Body, Auditing Company, Le-
gal and Anti-Corruption departments. With reference to
the reports relating to the subsidiaries, the statements,
insofar as relevant, are sent to the Chief Executive Offi-
cers of each subsidiary concerned, as well as to the re-
lated Control and Supervisory Bodies.

The widest circulation of information about the Proce-
dure is ensured, both internally (through publication on
the corporate intranet and postings on notice boards,
as well as in the context of internal training activities,
particularly with regard to newly appointed employees)
and externally (https://www.italgas.it/it/governance/
etica-dimpresa/procedura-segnalazioni/).

During 2022, 9 reports were received, of which 8 con-
cerned the internal control system and 1 related to oth-
er matters. As at 31 December 2022, all reports received
during the year had been properly investigated, pro-
cessed and archived. In particular, 5 reports were dis-
missed for lack of evidence or untruthfulness, including
that relating to other matters, while 4 reports, all relating
to the Internal Control System, were referred to the Ju-
dicial Authority. In the period between September and
December 2022, the Greek Subsidiaries did not receive
any reports

I I Italy

um. ‘ 2020‘ 2021‘ 2022

Total reports received no. 13 15 9

of which relating to
the internal control no. 12 12 8
system

of which relating to

other matters (Code no 0 1 1
of Ethics, mobbing, ’

thefts, security, etc.)

of which relating to
administrative liability

. no. 1 2 0
pursuant to Legisla-
tive Decree 231/2001
Reports closed no. 12 15 9
Reports pending no. 1 0 0

Italgas regulatory system

The Regulatory System is characterised by a tiered
structure, corresponding to different types of regulatory
instruments. Each regulatory instrument is applied with
reference to the defined Group processes

The Bylaws, the Code of Ethics , the Corporate Gover-
nance Code, Model 231 and the Internal Control Sys-
tem on Corporate Information are placed in the general
framework of the Regulatory System, as, although spe-
cific tools, the principles that inspire them are rec-
ognised as the founding principles of the conduct of
the ltalgas Group and, therefore, part of the general
framework of the entire regulatory system. These regu-
latory tools are part of the efficient handling of the Man-
agement and Coordination activities performed by Ital-
gas concerning Subsidiaries, and they are subject to
regular delivery to, and/or formal adoption by, the
Boards of Directors of the Subsidiaries.

The regulatory system also includes as an integral part
thereof, the documents belonging to the certified man-
agement systems for health, safety, environment, quali-
ty, energy and, lastly, anticorruption in accordance with
international ISO standard.

Regulatory instruments are drafted and updated in ac-
cordance and in compliance with the legislation appli-
cable in each case. The elements of the Group's Regu-
latory System are as follows:

Italgas Enterprise System (IES) - constitutes the guide
and reference for the Group's organisation and opera-
tion;

Policies - regulatory instruments drawn up for specific
issues that contain declarations of intent, define refer-
ence principles and identify behaviours that each Group
company must adopt, share and promote;

Quality Manuals and Plans - regulatory instruments
drawn up, where necessary, in accordance with the re-
quirements of the specific reference standard and that
describe the processes, activities, reference structure,
departments involved and related responsibilities with
which the Certified Management Systems achieve their
objective and direct their work processes.

Regulations - regulatory instruments that, depending
on their specificity, can:

— define regulatory rules across several business pro-
cesses in order to implement provisions issued, for
instance, by the Legislator, independent authorities
or Certification Bodies;

— define, with a more or less operational level of detalil,
the roles, responsibilities and activities of the various
Departments involved in the individual business pro-
cesses;

Regulatory circulars - regulatory instruments that requ-
late or expand on specific issues, including those of
temporary significance.

The day-to-day implementation of policies is ensured
through the general rules dictated by the Italgas Enter-
prise System and by organisational and regulatory in-

71

10daYy ,SI0109UI(Q e

b
—

I

S1USWIDIL)S JeldueUl{ Pa1epPIoSUoD)

S1USWIDIL)S JeIdURUI4 PR1ePIIOSUOY) SY) O} SaXauUy <



https://www.italgas.it/it/governance/etica-dimpresa/procedura-segnalazioni/
https://www.italgas.it/it/governance/etica-dimpresa/procedura-segnalazioni/

72

Integrated Annual Report 2022

struments that specify the responsibilities and operating
methods to be followed by each process owner. In par-
ticular, the responsibility for the implementation of the
commitments is set out within the missions of the indi-
vidual organisational structures of each Group Compa-
ny, whereas, the process aspects are incorporated with-
in the individual company procedures on the basis of an
intricate map of Group processes.

3.4 Ethics and compliance

Bs)

The Italgas Group operates on the basis of a Corporate
Management System comprising an Organisational Sys-
tem and a Regulatory System that defines roles, respon-
sibilities, powers and rules of conduct to be upheld in
going about the corporate business. The Corporate
Management System is updated continuously with a
view to guaranteeing the effectiveness and efficiency of
processes, safeguarding the company’'s assets and en-
suring compliance with legislation, thereby allowing
ltalgas to also direct the management and coordination
of the subsidiaries.

The correctness and transparency of business manage-
ment aim not only to ensure a correct management
model and dialogue with stakeholders, but also to pre-
vent corruption.

The Code of Ethics

On 14 December 2022, the lItalgas S.p.A. Board of Di-
rectors approved the update of the Code of Ethics (gen-
eral essential principle of the 231 Model adopted by Ital-
gas and by the Group companies in accordance with
ltalian Legislative Decree no. 231/2001) in order to opti-
mise the Italgas Group commitment to protecting cul-
tural and landscape heritage.

The Code of Ethics, available on the Company’s web-
site, is a collection of the values that the Group recog-
nises, accepts and shares and the responsibilities it as-
sumes within and outside of its organisation.

The Code of Ethics recalls the principles of corporate re-
sponsibility that must be respected, inter alia, in the areas
of sustainability, the prevention and fight against corrup-
tion, health and safety in the workplace, relations with
stakeholders and suppliers, and personal data protection.

The Code of Ethics applies with regard to all ‘ltalgas
people’, i.e. directors, statutory auditors, management
and employees of the Group, as well as all of those who
work to achieve its objectives, each within the scope of
their functions and responsibilities.

The Supervisory Bodies of each Group company, re-
porting on a half-yearly basis to the Control, Risk and
Related Party Transactions Committee and the Board of
Statutory Auditors on the implementation and need for
update of the Code of Ethics, are assigned the tasks of
‘Guarantors” of the Code of Ethics.

With reference to the Greek companies of the DEPA In-
frastructure Group, which have become part of the Ital-

gas Group as at 1 September 2022, it should be noted
that both EDA Thess and EDA Attikis have adopted their
own Code of Ethics containing the set of values that
each company recognises and respects in the conduct
of its activities and in its relations with its stakeholders.
In addition, in early 2023, all Greek companies have im-
plemented the Italgas Group Code of Ethics

Organisational and management
model pursuant to Legislative
Decree 231/2001

In accordance with Legislative Decree 231/2001, ltalgas
has adopted its own Model 231 aimed at mitigating the
risks of committing the offences referred to in the
aforementioned Legislative Decree 231/2001. Model
231, periodically updated in line with regulatory and/or
organisational changes, is intended for members of the
corporate bodies, management and employees of Ital-
gas, as well as for all those operating to achieve Italgas’
objectives.

The most recently updated version was approved by the
Company's Board of Directors on 14 December 2022.

In application of its Model 231, Italgas appoints a Super-
visory Body consisting of three external members, one
of whom, acting as Chairman, was chosen from schol-
ars and professionals with proven expertise and experi-
ence on legal, corporate and economic issues and cor-
porate organisation.

The term of office of members of the Supervisory Body
is aligned with that of the Board of Directors which ap-
pointed them. The term of office of the members ex-
pires on the date of the Shareholders’ Meeting called for
the approval of the financial statements for the last year
of their office, although they continue to carry out their
functions over the ad interim period, until new mem-
bers of the Supervisory Body are appointed.

Each subsidiary adopts and updates its own 231 Model
(available for consultation on the website), taking into
account the indications and implementing methods
defined by Italgas S.p.A.

Certified management systems
and accreditations

For Group companies, Italgas assures the adoption of
both the Integrated management system for health and
safety at work, the environment, quality and energy
(HSEQE) and the Management system for the preven-
tion of and fight against corruption.

The management systems are structured and imple-
mented in compliance with the requirements of the fol-
lowing reference international standards:

= UNI'ISO 37001:2016 "Anti-bribery management sys-
tems”

= UNI EN ISO 9001:2015 "Quality management sys-
tems”

= UNI EN ISO 14001:2015 "Environmental manage-
ment systems”



— UNI'ISO 45001:2018 "Occupational health and safety management systems” 73
— UNICEIENISO 50001:2018 "Energy management system”

and commitments to these topics are expressed in the related corporate policies in order
to inspire activities and conduct in specific regulatory and market contexts.

Under the scope of the Group Company management systems, the regulatory tools pre-
pared help ensure regulatory compliance and personal health and safety (of employees,
end customers, contractors, etc.) as well as preventing accidents, safeguarding the envi-
ronment, ensuring public safety and a rational use of energy, global quality and the preven-
tion of and fight against corruption.

To verify compliance of the Management systems with the requirements set by the stan-
dards, ltalgas uses the DNV Certification Body, which, in 2022, carried out the relevant au-
dits and issued the relevant certificates, or the relevant maintenance.
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The Companies’ accreditations, or of some sectors of such, are verified and issued by AC-
CREDIA (single accreditation entity).

According to their corporate purpose and business, as at 2022, the Italgas Group compa-
nies have the following certifications and accreditations.

—
b

CERTIFICATIONS OF ITALGAS S.p.A.

Degree of certification coverage Reference standard Year of first certification

Company/Group UNIISO 37001 2018

CERTIFICATIONS AND ACCREDITATIONS OF ITALGAS RETI S.p.A.

Year of first certification/

Degree of certification/accreditation coverage Reference standard

accreditation
UNICEI'EN ISO 50001 2012
UNI EN ISO 14001 2001
Company UNIISO 45001 2019*
UNI EN ISO 9001 1996 I
UNIISO 37001 2018
Calibration laboratory UNI CEI' EN ISO/IEC 17025 2009
Test laboratory UNI CEI EN ISO/IEC 17025 1994
Type C Inspection Body UNI CEI EN ISO/IEC 17020 2014

* Since 2001 for the former reference standard OHSAS 18001

CERTIFICATIONS AND ACCREDITATIONS OF TOSCANA ENERGIA S.p.A.

Degree of certification/accreditation coverage

Reference standard

Year of first certification/

accreditation
UNI'CEIEN ISO 50001 2017
UNIEN ISO 14001 2003
Company UNIISO 45001 2019*
UNIEN ISO 9001 1998
UNIISO 37001 2020
Type C Inspection Body UNI CEI EN ISO/IEC 17020 2016

* Since 2003 for the former reference standard OHSAS 18001.
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CERTIFICATIONS OF MEDEA S.p.A.

Degree of certification coverage Reference standard Year of first certification
UNI'CEIEN ISO 50001 2021
UNI EN ISO 14001 2021
Company UNI'ISO 45001 2021
UNIEN ISO 9001 2021*
UNI'ISO 37001 2020

* Since 2014 for the Sassari site only.

CERTIFICATIONS OF ITALGAS ACQUA S.p.A.

Degree of certification coverage

Reference standard

Year of first certification

UNI'CEIEN ISO 50001 2021
UNIEN ISO 14001 2021
Company UNISO 45001 2020
UNIEN ISO 9001 2020
UNI'ISO 37001 2020

CERTIFICATIONS OF GEOSIDE S.p.A.

Degree of certification coverage

Reference standard

Year of first certification

UNIEN ISO 14001 2021
UNI'ISO 45001 2021
UNIEN ISO 9001 2021*
Company UNI'ISO 37001 2020
UNICEI'11352 2015
FGAS (DPR 43/12) 2013
SA8000 2007

* Since 2014 for the Bologna site only

CERTIFICATIONS OF BLUDIGIT S.p.A.

Degree of certification coverage

Reference standard

Year of first certification

UNI 1SO 45001 2022
Company UNIEN 1SO 9001 2022
UNIISO 37001 2022

In addition to the above, the Greek companies EDA Thess and EDA Attikis hold the following certifications: ISO
45001:2018, ISO 9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015, I1SO 50001:2018, ISO 27001:2013, ISO 39001:2012. In addition, EDA
Thess holds 1ISO 22301:2019 and ISO 37001 certifications.



Anti-corruption 75

The ltalgas Group prohibits and actively cooperates in preventing and opposing, with-
out exception, any form of corruption, public or private, active or passive, direct or indi-
rect, both nationally and internationally.

In this context, Italgas adopts and effectively implements multiple regulatory and or-
ganisational measures, which can be consulted on the ltalgas’ website, aimed at pre-
venting and countering corruption risks that could potentially be associated with cor-
porate activities:

the Model 231;

— the management System for preventing and combating corruption which consti-
tutes one of the elements of the internal control and risk management system;

— the Policy for the prevention and fighting of corruption, which defines objectives
and principles of the Anti-Bribery Management System;

10daYy ,SI0109UI(Q e

— The Anti-Corruption Compliance Standard that provides a systemic overview of ref-
erence of the regulatory tools adopted by ltalgas to prevent and fight corruption,
incorporating the measures ltalgas has taken to prevent all forms of corruption.

—
b

Adherence to and compliance with the anti-corruption measures adopted by Italgas is
required of all stakeholders with whom the Group has relations, including but not limit-
ed to employees, suppliers, intermediaries, etc.

During 2022, no incidents of corruption were recorded®®.

Standar_d GRI 205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption e 2020 2021 2022
and actions take

Total confirmed incidents of corruption no. 0 0 0

Confirmed incidents of corruption with dismissal/
disciplinary measure of employees

S1USWIDIL)S JeldueUl{ Pa1epPIoSUoD)

Confirmed incidents of corruption with termination/
non-renewal of contracts with business partners

I

BB oay

Standard GRI 205-2 Disclosure and training on
anti-corruption policies and procedures®

um. 2020 2021 2022

Anti-corruption training* hours 3,849 1950 4,132

Participations no. 2914 1686 4239

* The training considered covers the following subjects: Code of Ethics, Model 231, Anti-corruption, Antitrust
and Data Protection.
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61. During Sep-Dec 2022, the new Greek companies delivered 30 hours of training on anti-corruption
policies and procedures related to 27 participations
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ISO 37001

In May 2022, the maintenance audits were held aimed
at confirming the certification obtained for the first time
in 2018 and thereafter confirmed in 2021, for the three
years 2021-2024, ensuring compliance with the re-
quirements laid down by Standard ISO 37001 by the An-
ti-Bribery Management Systems adopted by Italgas and
by the subsidiary Italgas Reti S.p.A. The maintenance
audits were also held of the management systems for
preventing and fighting corruption, adopted by the sub-
sidiaries lItalgas Acqua S.p.A., Geoside S.p.A, Medea
S.p.A. and Toscana Energia S.p.A., which led to the con-
firmation of the related 2020-2023 three-year certifica-
tions in accordance with Standard 37001.

The certification body verified the commitment and co-
operation of the corporate officers and departments,
supervised by the Compliance Department for prevent-
ing and combating corruption, in the implementation
of and compliance with the adopted anti-corruption
measures, as well as the commitment shown in ensur-
ing the adequacy and suitability of the management
systems for preventing and combating corruption to
the requirements of Standard 37001.

Finally, in 2022, activities were also carried out for the
certification of the management system for preventing
and combating corruption adopted by Bludigit S.p.A. in
accordance with Standard 37001.

At the conclusion of the procedure for the privatisation
of DEPA Infrastructure S.A., EDA Thess became part of
the Italgas Group. In 2021, with Standard 37001, EDA
Thess obtained a three-year certification for the compli-
ance of its management system concerning the pre-
vention and combating of corruption. In addition, the
first maintenance audit of the aforementioned manage-
ment system took place in 2022, leading to the re-issu-
ance of its certification according to Standard 37001.

Conflict of Interest

The Board of Directors periodically assesses the inde-
pendence and integrity of the Directors and verifies that
there are no grounds for ineligibility and incompatibility.

On 14 June 2021 the Italgas’ Board of Directors updated
a procedure which establishes the principles and rules
which Italgas and its Subsidiaries should adhere to in or-
der to ensure the transparency and essential and proce-
dural correctness of transactions conducted by ltalgas
Group companies with related parties or "parties of in-
terest” (the "ltalgas Related-Party Transactions Proce-
dure”). For further details on this matter, see ltalgas’ Cor-
porate Governance and Ownership Structure Report,
which contains information on, among other things,
the existence of controlling shareholders and share-
holders” agreements, parties that hold significant equity
investments pursuant to applicable regulations, as well
as the offices held by Italgas’ Directors in other adminis-
trative or control bodies.

Antitrust

On 18 October 2016 the Board of Directors approved
its Antitrust Code of Conduct which defines the guide-

lines of the behaviour which all employees of the ltalgas
Group should conform to in order to guarantee the
compliance with the principles dictated by the applica-
ble regulations on antitrust issues.

The adoption of the Antitrust Code is part of the anti-
trust compliance programme promoted by the lItalgas
Group, which develops also through the establishment
of an antitrust department within the Legal Department,
which anyone in the Group can apply to for communi-
cations concerning the interpretation and application of
the Antitrust Code and whenever a situation with po-
tential antitrust risk arises.

Due to the evolution of the Italgas Group, on 27 July
2020, the Board of Directors approved the update of
the "Antitrust” Compliance Standard.

This update was preceded by an assessment aimed at
verifying the level of adequacy with respect to the crite-
ria established by the guidelines of the Italian Competi-
tion Authority, of the "Antitrust” Compliance Standard
already in force for Group companies.

An Antitrust and Consumer Protection Manual is at-
tached to the Antitrust and Consumer Protection Code
of Conduct, which describes the main antitrust and
consumer protection provisions and provides an over-
view of the most important decision-making practices
of the Italian Competition Authority.

Integrated security

In 2022, Italgas evolved its security system from a reac-
tive-type approach to an active protection model that
can involve and correlate all corporate events from dif-
ferent domains and areas, with the aim of preventing,
acknowledging and mitigating potential security inci-
dents, starting out from simple signs and evidence.

Resilience as the key value guiding the organisation does
not only regard the prevention of risks and the correct
restoration of operations, but actually represents the ca-
pacity to anticipate, respond and adapt to sudden chang-
es and crisis situations, including cybernetic issues.

The Group therefore developed an approach that en-
ables for the integrated management of different infor-
mation levels and, in particular:

— the level of digital data and IT infrastructures (the
"Logical Domain’) relative to all technical-organisa-
tional measures that, by means of the Cyber Security
services and tools, aim to safeguard the confidential-
ity, integrity and availability of information, with refer-
ence to systems, applications, platforms, IT net-
works, data and processes necessary to manage it;

— the level of material assets an staff (the "Physical Do-
main”) or rather the set of measures, controls and
solutions whose aim, through the integrated man-
agement of the alarms from the various systems
present on the territory, is to guarantee suitable pro-
tection of the Group's people and infrastructures (of-
fices and operative sites);

— the level of information (the “Information Domain”)
relative to all measures that, through early warning
services, intelligence activities and social-environ-
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mental analyses seek to collect, manage and distribution information and instructions
for the protection of the organisation’s reputation, assets and for personal safety.

One concrete example of this vision of security is our new ltalgas centre called the ISC?
(Integrated Security Cloud Command Centre) hosted at the Turin offices, headquarters
of Italgas Reti.

Cybersecurity

With the aim of converging towards the Integrated Security System able to interface
multi-domain security management platforms, applications, services and operative pro-
cesses to manage vulnerabilities, threats and security events, to guarantee a quantitative
and dynamic vision of the risk and direct and facilitate decision-making processes.

The Group Security and Cybersecurity departments work together, implementing cor-
porate security policies and procedures; the respective roles and responsibilities are
defined through a shared RACI matrix®?, which allows for the harmonisation of efforts
to protect the company's information assets.

The principles of cybersecurity adopted by Italgas include:

— the development of incremental cybersecurity operating capacities and the update
of existing ones in line with the business needs of the Group and in the context of
external threats;

— a clear definition of the roles and responsibilities under the scope of aspects and
processes relating to cybersecurity;

— the guarantee of access to data according to the principle of least privilege;

— the assurance of confidentiality, integrity and availability of the Group's information
assets;

— the monitoring by the Enterprise Risk Management Department of the risks con-
nected with cybersecurity in the corporate risk portfolio;

— the monitoring of aspects of logical and organisational security necessary to main-
taining commensurate levels of cybersecurity;

— the use of communication management processes with specialised groups and
professional associations operating in cybersecurity, in order to promote the contin-
uous update, improve knowledge of best practices, exchange information on
threats, vulnerabilities, new services, products and/or technologies;

— specific information sessions for corporate governance bodies regarding events or
updates relative to Italian and international legislation.

The ltalgas procedures establish that at least once a year, the Group Security Officer
(GSO) shall report to the Board of Directors and Control Bodies on the level of confor-
mity with national and international regulations on cybersecurity and the corporate
policies on technical-organisational measures able to manage risks and prevent cyber
incidents. In addition, business continuity tests and cybersecurity assessments are per-
formed once every six months.

Relative to the working conditions deriving from the pandemic crisis, Italgas imple-
ments technical procedures and controls aimed at allowing internal and external staff
to securely connect from a remote position to the company network. Remote con-
nections take place through a private network (VPN), enabling secure communica-
tions. Access to the systems is only enabled after passing specific security posture
checks of the asset.

Furthermore, in order to increase the level of security and protection of access and
identities, Italgas has adopted Multi-Factor Authentication (MFA) technology for all its
employees. This type of protection was then extended to all Group suppliers.

62. The RACI matrix (responsibility assignment matrix) specifies the type of relationship between the resource
and the asset: Responsible, Accountable, Consulted, Informed. This instrument is used to indicate “who does
what” within an organisation.



The Group ensures 24-hour monitoring of IT and OT security incidents through a Next
Generation Security Operation Centre (Next Generation-SOC): this facility provides man-
aged security services and ongoing activities related to incident monitoring, detection
and response.

The cybersecurity incident management process is structured into the following
phases: detection, analysis and classification of the incident, mitigation and resolution
of the incident, closure of the incident and reporting and continuous improvement.

In the last three years (2020-2022), there were no cybersecurity incidents that generated
data breach events or compromised corporate systems. As a means of greater protec-
tion, Italgas has an insurance policy that can be activated in the event of cyber incidents.

Italgas adopts cyber threat intelligence processes and tools, which allow for the preven-
tive identification of cyber threats and attacks that could impact the organisation, with
the aim of proactively implementing security measures and actions aimed at risk reduc-
tion and continuous Mmanagement. These activities are in support of the security mea-
sures in place in the company and are a tool to facilitate preventive operations to detect
security incidents. Through its Cyber Threat Intelligence capability, Italgas proactively
protects the company’s logical assets, IT assets, reputation and sensitive data.

In order to analyse and assess the security of its IT systems, Vulnerability Assessment
and Penetration Test activities are planned and carried out periodically. They enable the
definition and identification of possible vulnerabilities in the infrastructure, applications
and devices, and classify the risk arising from the potential impact of the threat detect-
ed. At the end of this analysis, mitigation plans are drawn up and executed if necessary.

The maturity level of its information security is also constantly verified and monitored
using synthetic indicators (ratings), prepared by external international companies,
which, in 2021, saw ltalgas positioned in the group of the most advanced organisations
at global level and at the top of the energy sector in Italy.

In relation to the management of so-called "Third Parties’, Italgas defines the informa-
tion security requirements necessary to limit the risks associated with access to infor-
mation. Italgas also regulates supplier access to equipment used for processing infor-
mation, implementing adequate security controls.

At the same time, the alerting system has also been strengthened, with the mass dis-
patch of reporting e-mails, in the case of malicious or phishing campaigns.

In order to consolidate the public-private collaboration network, ltalgas held meetings
with the government authorities in charge of information security and with the main
national and international think tanks. In this regard, Italgas has defined memoranda of
understanding with the Postal Service Police (CNAIPIC) and national CSIRT; further-
more, since 2021 Italgas has adhered to the European Cyber Security Organisation
(ECSO) in order to implement and strengthen its collaboration with the EU Commis-
sion, the European Union Agency for Cybersecurity (ENISA), Competence Centres and
academia.

ltalgas plays an active role in the "Cyber Resilience of Economy, Infrastructure & Services”
Working Group, whose objectives include the creation of a "trusted” Information Sharing
and Strategic Threat Intelligence environment and the development, within the Europe-
an Community of Cybersecurity, of a shared network and exchange of competences
with the aim of facilitating dialogue between companies, governments and suppliers and
increasing the maturity level on security topics.

One very important initiative in which Italgas participates as a corporate partner is the
‘CyberXcelerator' programme, an accelerator aimed at start-ups operating in the world of
Cybersecurity and Artificial Intelligence.

Information and personal data security

The ltalgas Group approach to information security and personal data protection, in
line with the principles of Corporate Social Responsibility, envisages, in the first in-
stance, the voluntary adoption of virtuous behaviours that go beyond mere compli-
ance with regulatory provisions: a specific paragraph of the Code of Ethics calls for a
strong commitment from employees and the Supply Chain with regard to the protec-
tion of information and personal data.
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In 2018, Italgas adopted the Data Protection Organisational Model defined in compli-
ance with the provisions of Regulation (EU) 2016/679 (GDPR). Through this Model, the
roles and responsibilities have been formalised with regard to the protection of person-
al data processed in the context of company activities. Italgas also contractually oblig-
es its suppliers to comply with the requirements of the Data Protection regulations, in
particular with reference to the provisions of Article 28 of the GDPR. All contractual
agreements with suppliers processing personal data on behalf of Italgas include a spe-
cific "Data Protection Agreement”.

Over the last two years, the principles and best practices on information security, per-
sonal data and cybersecurity have been further extended to the supplier chain, starting
from the application phase for inclusion in the Group Vendor List through the creation
of a special Cyber criticality classification.

The company has designated a Data Protection Officer (or "DPQO"), identified from the
Internal Audit Department, who is responsible for informing and advising the company
departments and people involved in the processing of personal data, monitoring com-
pliance with the Regulation, national provisions and company policies on the protec-
tion of personal data and cooperating with the Supervisory Authority, acting as a point
of contact with the same. The DPO has also assigned tasks relating to the promotion of
the personal data protection culture within the company, the management of requests
made by data subjects and to support the Data Protection assessment of aspects of
each new project that may impact personal data protection. The DPO is supported by
the Data Protection Team, which includes legal, IT, organisational and security experts.

ltalgas has established its own Data Protection policy in the form of a compliance
standard, aimed at outlining the principles applicable to the processing of personal
data and defining specific tasks and functions related to the processing of personal
data, assigned within the corporate organisational structure, to ensure their correct
processing.

In order to ensure the governance and implementation of the process for managing
possible breaches of personal data (so-called "data breaches’) Italgas has adopted a
compliance standard on Data Breach Management.

Compliance standards relating to the protection of personal data are published on the
company's website.

Italgas has also issued and updated the “Information Security Standard” and the “Infor-
mation Classification Standard”.

The Group has kept a register of the processing activities which contains all the infor-
mation referred to in art. 30.1 of the Regulation.

In line with the principle of risk-based management of processing, appropriate techni-
cal and organisational measures are implemented to ensure an appropriate level of se-
curity, especially taking into account the risks represented by the processing, resulting
from the accidental or unlawful destruction, loss, alteration, unauthorised disclosure or
access to personal data transmitted, stored or otherwise processed. Where processing
operations may present a high risk to the rights and freedoms of data subjects, a data
protection impact assessment has been carried out to determine, in particular, the ori-
gin, nature, particularity and severity of that risk, and to implement, where necessary,
appropriate additional security measures.

The Group has also issued the ‘Digital Storage Manual’ that defines the storage process
implemented by Italgas and all the requirements put in place in order to comply with
legal obligations and reference standards.

It is worth noting, in the context of the changing regulatory framework linked to the
COVID-19 pandemic, the commitment shown in 2022 by all corporate structures, sup-
ported by the DPO and the Data Protection Team, in ensuring full compliance with
personal data protection regulations.

Throughout the course of the year, Italgas updated the process of mapping and classi-
fying information, which aims to categorise data according to their level of criticality;
ltalgas’ classification model is described within the “Classification of Information”
Standard, which defines clear guidelines for the classification of information for the
entire Italgas Group, aimed at protecting its information assets, as well as rules of con-
duct and security measures for managing classified information.



The Group Security and Cyber Security Departments
have also defined processes, finalised the sale transac-
tion and adopted Data Loss Prevention tools that ena-
ble them to protect and prevent the loss of critical data
by detecting the sensitive elements presentin any infor-
mation, document or communication, including on the
basis of the origin, access and use of the data.

This approach protects the main communication chan-
nels and the data that users exchange via the main busi-
ness collaboration tools.

All the Subsidiaries also defined and formally approved a
Data Protection Model consistent with the standards
which inspired the Italgas Data Protection Model albeit
designed in accordance with their specific require-
ments and their organisational structure. In implement-
ing its Model, each subsidiary has adopted policies and
procedures, appointed a DPO, kept its processing regis-
ter up-to-date, defined appropriate security measures
and carried out training activities.

With reference to all Italgas Group companies, in the
three-year period 2020-2022:

— no data breach reports were received,

— no justified complaints relating to personal data
breaches were received;

— the Data Protection Authority did not receive re-
quests of any kind;

— no penalties for regulatory breaches concerning per-
sonal data protection were applied.

In order to verify the implementation and effectiveness
of the Data Protection Organisational Model and of the
policies adopted in the field of privacy, the Italgas Group
not only carries out Internal Audit activities, within the
scope of which a specific focus on privacy issues is de-
veloped, but also from 2021 it has undergone third-par-
ty audits. In this regard, the process adopted by the
Group companies for drafting and updating the infor-
mation to data subjects pursuant to Articles 13 and 14 of
the GDPR was subject to a third-party audit in 2022; the
audit did not reveal any significant gaps.
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4. Summary figures

and formation

4.1 Main events

Extraordinary and M&A transactions

— On 9 September 2021, Italgas was declared the ‘pre- -

ferred bidder’ by the Greek privatisation fund
(HRADF), and on 10 December 2021 a preliminary
purchase and sale contract was signed, in the con-
text of the public tender called by the Greek govern-
ment for privatisation of the distribution operator
DEPA Infrastructure S.A.

Following the fulfilment of the conditions precedent
provided for in the purchase and sale agreement, on
1 September 2022 the transaction for the acquisition
by Italgas Newco S.p.A. of 100% of DEPA Infrastruc-
ture Single Member S.A. was completed, a company
that fully controls Thessaloniki - Thessalia Gas Distri-
bution S.A. (EDA Thess), Attiki Natural Gas Distribu-
tion Single Member Company S.A. (EDA Attikis) and
Public Gas Distribution Networks S.A. (DEDA), the
three main players in gas distribution in Greece,
which together manage approximately 7500 kilo-
metres of network and approximately 600,000 ac-
tive re-delivery points.

— On 2 March 2022, with an outlay of $ 15 million, Ital-
gas strengthened its partnership with Picarro Inc.
through the acquisition of a minority share in the
capital of the US technological start-up company
and world leader in sensors applied to gas distribu-
tion network monitoring as well as technologies for
sectors characterised by the need to have extremely
sensitive detection, such as environmental measure-
ments of the concentration of dangerous atmos-
pheric pollutants and the electronics industry to
identify impurities in the environments dedicated to
semiconductor production.

= On 4 May 2022, the closing of the operation by which
Edison Energia S.p.A. acquired a majority stake in Gaxa,
a company which markets and sells natural gas, LPG
and propane air for civil use in Sardinia, was finalised.
The new shareholding structure of Gaxa is therefore
composed of Edison Energia Sp.A (70%), ltalgas
(15.56%) and Marguerite Gas IV S.arl (1444%). The part-
nership with a leading operator specialising in retail ac-
tivities strengthens Gaxa's commercial presence and
outlook for development, with positive impacts on the
investment plan for Sardinia promoted by Italgas.

The merger by incorporation of Fratelli Ceresa S.p.A.
into Geoside S.p.A. (formerly Seaside S.p.A.) was
completed on 20 July 2022, with effect for account-
ing and tax purposes as at 1 January 2022.

On 26 July 2022, Medea S.p.A. entered into an in-
vestment agreement with Energetica S.p.A. to ac-
quire capital of Energie Rete Gas S.r.l,, a gas transmis-
sion company of the Energetica Group, with around
142 km of regional gas pipelines.

On 21 December 2021, the closing of the transaction
through which Medea S.p.A. acquired 49% of the
share capital of Energie Rete Gas S.r.l. was finalised.
This was achieved in part through the transfer of Me-
dea’s gas transmission assets and activities to Energie
Rete Gas Sr.l: 63 cryogenic liquefied natural gas
(LNG) plants, for a total capacity of 2,350 cubic me-
tres of LNG, and related equipment to serve the dis-
tribution networks in the municipalities under con-
cession to Medea.

On 2 August 2022, Italgas signed a binding agree-
ment for the acquisition from Fiamma 2000 Group
of the LPG distribution and sales business, with relat-
ed networks and plants, managed in 12 municipali-
ties in Sardinia.

Following the fulfilment of the conditions precedent
set out in the purchase and sale contract, on 13 De-
cember 2022 the purchase from the Fiamma 2000
Group of the entire share capital of Janagas S.r.l. by
Medea S.p.A. was finalised. Janagas S.r.l. is the corpo-
rate vehicle to which the Fiamma 2000 Group trans-
ferred the LPG distribution and sales networks in Sar-
dinia, which will subsequently be converted to
natural gas.

On 22 December 2022, ltalgas finalised the transac-
tion for the sale of 10% of the share capital of Italgas
Newco S.p.A., the sole shareholder of DEPA Infra-
structure S.A., to Phaeton Holding Single Member S.A.,
a company belonging to the Greek industrial group
Copelouzos. The sale of the stake took place at the
same implicit valuation of the DEPA Infrastructure
share package offered by lItalgas in the privatisation.
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Anticorruption Certification

On 1 June 2022, ltalgas S.p.A. and Italgas Reti S.p.A. suc-
cessfully passed the audit necessary to maintain the UNI
ISO 37001:2016 "Management systems for preventing
and combating corruption” certification obtained in
2021 for the second consecutive three-year period, valid
until 2024, once again confirming their commitment to
the fight against corruption in all areas of their activity.
The anti-bribery management system, adopted on a vol-
untary basis, was audited by the independent certifica-
tion body DNV GL - Business Assurance.

Rating and optimization of the
debt structure

= On 23 May 2022 Italgas took out a floating-rate bank
loan with a leading bank, linked to the achievement
of ESG targets. The loan was for a total amount of €
250 million and for a duration of three years.

= On 9 August, Moody's rating agency confirmed Ital-
gas’ long-term credit rating as Baa?2, revising the Out-
look from stable to negative, reflecting ltalgas’ expo-
sure to sovereign credit quality, in consideration of the
fact that its activities are mainly concentrated in Italy.

— This rating action follows the change in the outlook
from stable to negative of the Baa3 rating of Italian
government debt, carried out by Moody's on 5 Au-
gust 2022, and reflects Italgas’ exposure to the pres-
sure accompanying a deterioration of the quality of
sovereign credit, considering the fact that its opera-
tions are essentially concentrated in Italy. Nonethe-
less, as stated by the agency, the confirmation of the
rating affirms Italgas’ strategic position and leader-
ship in the gas distribution sector in Italy and its fully
regulated profile.

— On 15 September 2022, the Board of Directors re-
solved on the renewal of the EMTN Programme
launched in 2016, confirming the maximum nominal
amount of € 6.5 billion, which was subscribed on 26
October 2022.

— On 20 September 2022, the European Investment
Bank (EIB) granted Italgas a € 150 million framework
loan by for energy efficiency projects to be imple-
mented in ltaly through its subsidiary Geoside (for-
merly Seaside), the Group's Energy Service Compa-
ny. That loan, called a Climate Action Framework
Loan, marks the EIB's return to cooperation with the
ltalgas Group by activating the Bank's investments in
energy companies capable of contributing to the
ecological transition towards net zero. Subsequently,
on 15 December 2022, the European Investment
Bank (EIB) loan was disbursed, providing for the pay-
ment by Italgas of fixed-rate six-monthly coupons.

— On 23 September 2022, the rating agency Moody's

63. For more details, see the paragraph on "Municipal territories under
concession and tenders for territorial areas”

Investors service (Moody's) confirmed the long-term
credit rating of Italgas, as Baa2, Negative Outlook.
The rating decision is based on ltalgas’ positioning
within a sector characterised by a stable regulatory
framework and its demonstrated ability to generate
operating efficiency and meet the investment com-
mitments set out in the Strategic Plan; the outlook
reflects Italgas’ exposure to the level of Italian sover-
eign credit.

— On 30 September 2022, DEPA Infrastructure signed
a loan package (in the form of a bond loan) with a
leading Greek bank for a total nominal amount of €
580 million, divided into 3 tranches with maturities of
5, 7 and 12 years respectively. The loan will primarily
be used to finance investments envisaged in the in-
frastructure development plan of DEPA Infrastruc-
ture and its subsidiaries in Greece. On 13 December
2022, the provision was released for tranche A of the
bond loan necessary to finance the purchase of the
remaining 49% of the capital of EDA Thess on 19 De-
cember 2022.

— On 29 November 2022, Fitch Ratings (Fitch) con-
firmed the long-term credit rating of Italgas, as BBB+
with Stable outlook.

Capital transactions

On 9 March 2022, in execution of the 2018-2020
Co-Investment Plan approved by the Ordinary and Ex-
traordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of 19 April 2018, the
Board of Directors resolved the free allocation of a total
of 477,364 new ordinary shares of the Company to the
beneficiaries of the Plan itself (so-called second cycle of
the Plan) and executed the second tranche of the capi-
tal increase resolved by the aforementioned Sharehold-
ers’ Meeting, for a nominal amount of € 591,931.36 tak-
en from retained earnings reserves.

Winning of area tenders®

On 29 November 2022, the Municipality of La Spezia
contracting authority officially awarded Italgas Reti the
tender for the management of the natural gas distribu-
tion service in the Territorial Area of “La Spezia“, which
includes the provincial capital and 32 Municipalities in
the province. The awarding of the ATEM, with approxi-
mately 110 thousand customers served, allows lItalgas
to provide continuity in the management of the service
and to actively contribute to the efficiency and decar-
bonisation of consumption through investments
amounting to approximately € 230 million.

Legal and Regulatory Framework®*

— The Council of State, in a ruling of November 2022,
in line with the previous ruling of the Regional Ad-
ministrative Court of Lombardy, rejected the Authori-
ty's appeal for the annulment of Resolutions no.

64. Further information is provided in Note 26 "Disputes and other
measures” to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.



163/2020/R/gas and no. 567/2020/R/gas. With
these Resolutions, the Authority had, in fact, can-
celled the premiums due to the company for safety
recoveries concerning 21 distribution plants for
odour measurements and for the reduction of natu-
ral gas leakage for the years 2016 and 2017.

The Regional Administrative Court of Lombardy, in
its ruling of January 2023, upheld the appeal brought
by Italgas Reti for the annulment of Resolutions no.
603/2021/R/com and no. 604/2021/R/com, with
which the Authority had imposed communication
obligations on distribution companies regarding the
two-yearly prescription of electricity and gas con-
sumption.

In July 2022, the Municipality of Chiavari appealed
before the Council of State against the sentence by
which the Regional Administrative Court of Liguria,
upholding the appeal brought by ltalgas Reti, an-
nulled the call for tenders for the assignment of the
gas distribution service in the GENOVA 2 Territorial
Area. The ruling is currently pending. On 15 February
2023, the Regional Administrative Court of Lom-
bardy issued its ruling on the appeal by which Italgas
Reti challenged Resolution no. 570/2019/R/gas. In
particular, the Regional Administrative Court upheld
the claims relating to:

- determination of the initial level of operating costs
(and, consequently, of the x-factor);

- alignment of the Beta coefficient for distribution
and metering services;

- non-recognition of interest on the IRMA paid for
the early decommissioning of conventional me-
ters;

- the non-publication of the regulatory impact anal-
ysis (RIA) report.

On 6 June 2022, Italgas Reti appealed before the Re-
gional Administrative Court of Lombardy Resolution
no. 154/2022/R/gas, with which ARERA determined
the final reference tariffs for gas distribution and me-
tering services for 2021. The setting of a date for the
hearing is currently pending.

ltalgas Reti challenged Resolution no. 383/2022/R/
gas of 2 August 2022 before the Regional Adminis-
trative Court of Lombardy, by which the Authority
determined the premiums and penalties relating to
the safety recoveries of the natural gas distribution
service for the year 2019. In particular, for subsidiar-
ies and associates companies of ltalgas, the overall
net amount due for the odorisation and dispersion
components is: i) € 13.6 million for Italgas Reti, ii) €
1.4 million for Toscana Energia, iii) € 90.0 thousand
for Umbria Distribuzione Gas and iv) € 9.9 thousand
for Metano Sant’‘Angelo Lodigiano.

On conclusion of the checks and inspections con-
ducted at the time, the Authority confirmed the re-
duction in the premiums due to Italgas Reti, referring
to the Castelnuovo Magra distribution plant, in rela-
tion to which the company allegedly failed to com-
ply with several regulatory provisions on emergency

response. The setting of a date for the hearing is cur-
rently pending.

The Authority also postponed to a subsequent meas-
ure the determination of the premiums and penalties
for 2019, in line with that carried out for 2018, for the
Ravanusa plant, in order to conduct the necessary
analyses regarding the incident in December 2021.

On 22 September 2022, Italgas Reti appealed Reso-
lution no. 269/2022/R/gas, with which ARERA de-
fined the expected outputs and performance of the
metering service provided via gas smart meters
(commissioning, reading frequency and granularity
of the metering data over time, frequency of provi-
sion of metering data and compensation to end cus-
tomers and sellers), as well as alignment with billing
obligations. Specifically, the contested resolution, in-
ter alia, assigns the distribution companies new obli-
gations to pay compensation to sellers for metering
equipment to be used for large users, starting from
the metering data pertaining to October 2022, as
well as additional obligations to pay compensation
to end customers for small calibre metering equip-
ment, starting from the metering data pertaining to
April 2023. The setting of a date for the hearing is
currently pending.

On 11 November 2022, the Council of State rejected
ARERA's precautionary application relating to the ap-
peal filed by the latter against the rulings with which,
on 26 July 2022, the Regional Administrative Court of
Lombardy upheld the appeals brought by Italgas Reti
and Toscana Energia, thereby declaring illegitimate
the silence of ARERA regarding the claims dated 28
December 2020 submitted by the two companies for
recognition of TEL (smart metering/remote manage-
ment) and CON (concentrators) costs for the years
2017 and 2018. The hearing on the merits is set for 18
April 2023. At the same time, with an independent ap-
peal dated 10 February 2023, Italgas Reti and Toscana
Energia appealed against the notices received from
ARERA whereby the latter confirmed the previous
measures implicitly denying the TEL (smart metering/
remote management) and CON (concentrators) costs
relating to the years 2017 and 2018. The setting of a
date for the hearing is currently pending.

In December 2022, Italgas Reti challenged before
the Regional Administrative Court of Lombardy Res-
olution no. 525/2022/R/gas containing the “Provi-
sion on the application of the cap on the tariff recog-
nition of investments in start-up locations” and
Resolution no. 528/2022/R/gas containing the “Cri-
teria for the formulation of observations to the calls
for tenders for the award of the natural gas distribu-
tion service in the locations identified by Article 114-
ter of Decree-Law no. 34 of 19 May 2020". At pres-
ent, the next hearing is scheduled for 19 April 2023.

In December 2022, another operator filed an appeal
with the Regional Administrative Court of Liguria re-
questing the annulment of all tender acts and the or-
der of the Municipality of La Spezia to award and
grant the concession in its favour, or, alternatively,
compensation for the damage suffered, as well as
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the declaration of ineffectiveness of the service contract that may have been en-
tered into with Italgas Reti, the current winning bidder.

— With its ruling published on 28 December 2022, the Council of State rejected the
appeal brought by another operator against the Municipality of Belluno for the an-
nulment of the provisions awarding ltalgas Reti the tender in the BELLUNO Area,
thus confirming its full legitimacy.

— In 2022, Italgas Reti challenged, by means of an appeal on additional grounds within
the appeal already pending before the Regional Administrative Court of Lombardy
against Resolution no. 620/2021/R/gas, Resolution no. 736/2022/R/gas on “the up-
dating of tariffs for gas distribution and metering services for the year 2023" and
Resolution no. 737/2022/R/gas on "the infra-period update of the tariff regulation
for gas distribution and metering services, for the three-year period 2023-2025. Ap-
proval of the RTDG for the three-year period from 2023 to 2025 and amendments
to the model network code for the gas distribution service”. The setting of a date for
the hearing on the merits is currently pending.

— In December 2022, Italgas Reti brought an action for preventive technical assess-
ment before the Court of Naples, in order to request the admission of a technical
expert's report for the purpose of redetermining the amount owed to Italgas Reti by
the operator who was awarded the ATEM Naples 1 contract by way of redemption
value. At present, we are awaiting the Judge's lifting of the reservation set at the
hearing on 10 January 2023.

Other events

= On 15 April 2022, the company Immogas S.r.l. was established, 100% owned by To-
scana Energia S.p.A., as a result of the non-proportional and asymmetrical partial
demerger of Valdarno S.r.l.

— On 19 September 2022, the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of Seaside S.p.A.
resolved to change the company name to Geoside S.p.A.

— On 27 December 2022, Italgas, Toscana Energia S.p.A. and Alia Servizi Ambientali
S.p.A. signed an agreement relating to the shares already held by the Municipality of
Florence in Toscana Energia S.p.A. and transferred to Alia Servizi Ambientali S.p.A.
The agreement provides that Italgas may exercise a call option on the aforemen-
tioned shares if certain conditions governed by the contract are met.

4.2 Key figures

In order to allow for a better assessment of economic and financial performance, the
Directors’ Report includes the reclassified financial statements and certain alternative
performance indicators, including EBITDA, EBIT and net financial debt, in addition to
the financial statements and conventional indicators laid out in IAS/IFRS. These figures
are presented in the tables below, the relative notes and the reclassified financial state-
ments. For the definition of the terms used, when not directly specified, please refer to
the chapter "Financial results, Non-GAAP Measures”.



Key share figures

31.12.2021 31.12.2022
Number of shares of share capital (million) 809,768,354 810,245,718
Closing price at the end of period (€) 6.1 5.2
Average closing price in the period (a) (€) 54921 5.5632
Market capitalisation (b) (€ million) 4,447 4,508
Exact market capitalisation (c) (€ million) 4901 4,205

(a) Non-adjusted for dividends paid.

(b) The product of the number of shares outstanding (exact number) multiplied by the average closing price in

the period.

(c) The product of the number of shares outstanding (exact number) multiplied by the closing price at the end

of the period.

Key financial figures

(€ million) 2021 2022
Total revenues (*) 1,370.8 1,555.9
Adjusted total revenues (*) 1,370.8 1,537.3
EBITDA 1,008.9 11013
Adjusted gross operating margin 1,0089 1,082.7
Operating profit 583.2 6414
Adjusted operating profit 583.2 622.8
Gross profit 525.3 588.5
Adjusted gross profit 531.7 567.2
Net profit 3834 436.1
Net profit attributable to the Group 362.8 407.3
Adjusted net profit 388.3 416.3
Adjusted net profit attributable to the Group 3677 395.7
Adjusted Earnings per share (**) 0.454 0.488

(*) Unlike the legal statement, the reclassified income statement requires the listing of Total revenues and

Operating costs net of the impact of IFRIC 12 "Service concession agreements” (€ 772.0 and € 727.8 million
respectively in 2021 and 2022), connection contributions (€ 19.6 and € 19.2 million respectively in 2021 and
2022), repayments from third parties and other residual components (€ 0.8 and € 9.6 million respectively in

2021 and 2022).

(**) The indicator is calculated as a ratio between the adjusted net profit attributable to the Group and the
total number of shares, which is 809,768,354 at 31 December 2021 and 810,245,718 at 31 December 2022.

(€ million) 31.12.2021 | 31.12.2022
Net invested capital at the end of the end of period 71284 8,390.7
Shareholders’ equity 2,142.5 2,390.6
Net financial debt (*) 4,9859 6,000.1
Finance lease payables - IFRS 16 70.0 72.0
Net financial debt (*) 4,915.9 5,928.1

(*) See paragraph 5.2.4 Reclassified Statement of Financial Position
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4.3 Operating performance s

Infrastructure

ltalgas is the leader in Italy in the industry of natural gas distribution and is the third larg-
est operator in Europe. The distribution service consists of transporting gas through
local pipeline networks, from points of delivery at the reduction and measurement sta-
tions interconnected with the transport networks (“city-gates”) up to the final delivery
points to customers (households, enterprises, etc.). Furthermore, Italgas is engaged in
metering activities, which consist of determining, gathering, making available and ar-
chiving metering data on natural gas withdrawn over the distribution networks.

Collection cabins are equipment that link local distribution networks to the national gas
pipeline network. They are complex systems that must perform different functions, in-
cluding the measurement of the gas collected and a first reduction of the pressure to
allow routing through the urban network. Currently Italgas has collection cabins
equipped with advanced remote control and smart metering systems. Remote control
allows the fastest possible intervention in case of anomalies; smart metering allows the
continuous detection of a series of parameters relative to the management of gas
flows as well as the detection of the quantity of gas entering the networks.

The systems for the reduction of pressure are devices placed along the distribution
network and have the task to bring the pressure of the gas at the right level in relation to
the type of use.

Investments*

In 2022, technical investments were made for € 814.3 million (2021: € 865.1 million), of
which € 26.0 million relating to investments accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16.

(€ million) 2021 ‘ 2022 ‘ Abs. change | Change %
Distribution 718.3 712.8 (5.5) (0.8)
(’?eevtgggm”;iitme“ame and 6044 664.4 60.0 9.9
- of which digitisation 146.7 190.9 442 30.2
New networks 1139 484 (65.5) (57.5)
- of which Sardinia 95.0 311 (63.9) (67.4)
Metering 76.5 433 (33.2) (43.4)
of which Depa Infrastructure - 19 19 -
Other investments 70.3 58.2 (12.2) (17.3)
- of which Real Estate 24.0 6.8 (17.2) (71.7)
- of which ICT 275 18.2 (94) (34.0)
- of which due to the effect of IFRS 16 14.9 26.0 111 742

865.1 814.3 (50.8) (5.9)

*In the consolidation period, the DEPA Infrastructure Group made total investments of € 38.9 million (€ 84.3
million for the entire year of 2022).

Gas distribution investments (€ 712.8 million, -0.8% compared to 2021), which record-
ed the installation of an additional 532 km of pipeline (2021: 732 km) were largely driv-
en by network development, maintenance and repurposing initiatives. The reduction
compared to 2021, partially offset by the inclusion of the Greek companies in the con-
solidation scope, is caused by less construction of new gas distribution networks,
mainly due to the gradual completion of the methanisation project in Sardinia, where
an additional 12 km of new network was built, bringing the total of networks laid to 909
km; in addition, 13 LNG storage plants were installed, with a total of 66 in service. DEPA



Infrastructure’s subsidiaries made investments of € 26.9 million, of which € 3.7 million 89
went into the construction of new gas distribution networks.

Investments in digitisation (€ 190.9 million, up +30.2%) mainly relate to the installation
of digital devices for the acquisition of data for the control and monitoring of the distri-
bution network and plants.

Metering investments (€ 43.3 million, -43.4% compared to 2021, of which 1.9 was
made in Greece for 7 thousand units) were affected by the substantial completion of
the plan to replace traditional meters in Italy pursuant to ARERA Resolution no.
631/2013/R/gas as amended. In 2022, the Company installed 372 thousand new me-
ters in ltaly, of which 89 thousand to replace traditional G4/G6 meters, 269 thousand
for the repair of digital meters with anomalies and 14 thousand to replace large-caliber
meters. At 31 December 2022%, a total of 7.6 million smart meters have been installed
as part of the plan to replace traditional meters with smart meters (93.0% of the total
number of meters and practically all active meters). As at 31 December 2022, the digital
meter stock installed by the DEPA Infrastructure Group amounted to 41 thousand units.
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Summary of the key operating figures

—
—

Key operating figures — Italgas Group

2021 2022 Abs. change | Change % g

Active meters (millions)* 7604 7.806 0.202 27 %
Installed meters (millions) 8.563 8.769 0.206 24 §
Municipalities with gas distribution concessions (no.)** 1837 1.983 146 79 g
Municipalities with gas distribution concessions in operation (no.)** 1761 1.889 128 7.3 QS_,'
Distribution network (kilometres)** 72.503.1 79.406.1 6.903.0 9.5 g
o

Gas distributed (million cubic metres) 8.886.7 8.233.1 (653.6) (74) §
a

* The figure for the financial year 2022 includes the effect of the sale to another operator, winner of the tender, of the ATEM Naples 1 re-delivery

points (-372,658) and the inclusion in the consolidation scope of the DEPA Infrastructure Group re-delivery points (+581,649).

** The figure for the financial year 2022 includes the effect of the inclusion in the scope of consolidation of the Municipalities with a distribution

licence belonging to the DEPA Infrastructure Group (140 Municipalities, of which 105 are in operation).

*** The figure for the financial year 2022 includes the effect of the transfer of the distribution network of ATEM Naples 1 (-1,668 km) to another I
operator, winner of the tender, and the inclusion of the distribution networks of the DEPA Infrastructure Group (+7491 km) in the scope of

consolidation.

Key operating figures — Italgas Group and affiliates

2021 2022 Abs. change | Change %
Active meters (millions)* 7757 7.959 0.202 2.6
Installed meters (millions) 8733 8.940 0.207 24
Municipalities with gas distribution concessions (no.)** 1.898 2.044 146 77
Municipalities with gas distribution concessions in operation (no.)** 1.822 1.950 128 7.0
Distribution network (kilometres)** 74.396.6 81.309.3 6.912.7 9.3
Gas distributed (million cubic metres) 9.194.1 8.500.3 (693.8) (7.5)

* The figure for the financial year 2022 includes the effect of the sale to another operator, winner of the tender, of the ATEM Naples 1 re-delivery
points (-372,658) and the inclusion in the consolidation scope of the DEPA Infrastructure Group re-delivery points (+581,649).

** The figure for the financial year 2022 includes the effect of the inclusion in the scope of consolidation of the Municipalities with a distribution
licence belonging to the DEPA Infrastructure Group (140 Municipalities, of which 105 are in operation).

*** The figure for the financial year 2022 includes the effect of the transfer of the distribution network of ATEM Naples 1 (-1,668 km) to another
operator, winner of the tender, and the inclusion of the distribution networks of the DEPA Infrastructure Group (+7,491 km) in the scope of
consolidation.
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65. Also taking into account the affiliates, over which Italgas does not exercise control, 406 thousand new
meters were installed during the period, bringing the total number of smart meters installed as a 31 December
2022 to 7.7 million (92.5% of the total number of meters and practically all active meters).




90

Integrated Annual Report 2022

Municipalities in concession and
local tender areas®®

Situation at year end on tenders and contracts
awarded

The following figure shows the presence of the ltalgas
Group in Italy®’. As at 31 December 2022, as a result of
the regulatory framework envisaging the award of gas
distribution services through local tenders (and not by
individual municipality), 39 tender notices have been
published, of which 30 sent to the Authority, as envis-
aged in Ministerial Decree no. 226/2011.

Of the 39 tender notices published to date:

— TURIN 3 - South West, MASSA CARRARA, CREMONA
2 — Centre and CREMONA 3 - South aggregates,
COMO 1 - Lariano Triangle and Brianza Comasca,
BERGAMO 3 - Suburbs West of Bergamo, BRESCIA 1
- North/West and BERGAMO 2 - North/East, MI-
LANO 4 - North-Eastern Province, MILANO 3 -
Southern Province, VERONA 2 — Veronese Flatlands
and VICENZA 3 - Astico, Leogra and Timonchio Val-
leys have been suspended by the Contracting Au-
thorities;

— VENICE 1 - Laguna Veneta, ALESSANDRIA 2 — Centre
and GENOVA 2 - Province were respectively an-
nulled by the State Council, the Regional Administra-
tive Court (TAR) of Piedmont and the Regional Ad-
ministrative Court (TAR) of Liguria;

66. For more information on the regulation concerning the
assignments of gas distribution service and the related call for tenders,
please see the specific paragraph in the chapter “Legislative and
regulatory framework”.

— MONZA and BRIANZA 2 — West, LUCCA, TRIESTE,
and MONZA and BRIANZA 1 — East were withdrawn
by their respective contracting authorities;

— TURIN 2 - Turin plant, VALLE D'’AOSTA, BELLUNGO,
TURIN 1 - City of Turin and LA SPEZIA were officially
awarded to Italgas Reti.

The finalisation of the DEPA Infrastructure transaction
enabled ltalgas to acquire the licence to distribute natu-
ral gas in 140 Municipalities on the Greek peninsula, of
which 105 are already in operation. In particular:

— EDA Attikis, holder of the distribution licence in the
Attica region, and therefore including the city of Ath-
ens, has 58 Municipalities of which 52 are in opera-
tion;

— EDA Thess holds the distribution licence in 39 Mu-
nicipalities in the Thessaloniki area and the region of
Thessaly, of which 32 are in operation;

— DEDA, an entity dedicated to the methanisation of
regions of Greece not covered by the previous two
operators, holds the licence to distribute 43 Munici-
palities, 21 of which are in operation.

67. The territorial presence where Italgas exercises control is shown
in blue, the presence through affiliates over which it does not exercise
control is shown in orange.

In the picture on the right, the territorial presence in Greece of the
three operating companies Eda Thess, Eda Attikis, and Deda, is
represented respectively in blue, orange, and green.
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5. Comment on the
economic and financial
results and other information

5.1 Legislative and regulatory framework

Tariff regulation

The distribution and metering of natural gas is regulated by the Regulatory Authority for
Energy, Networks and Environment (ARERA). Among its functions are the calculation
and updating of the tariffs, and the provision of rules for access to infrastructure and for
the delivery of the related services.

The rate system establishes in particular that the reference revenues for the formula-
tion of rates is determined so as to cover the costs incurred by the operator and allow
for a fair return on invested capital. Three cost categories are recognised:

— the cost of net invested capital for RAB (Regulatory Asset Base) purposes through
the application of a rate of return of the same;

— economic-technical amortisation/depreciation, hedging investment costs;
— operating costs, hedging operational costs.

The main rate elements are reported below on the basis of the regulatory framework
(Resolution no. 570/2019/R/gas as amended):

Highlightsf fifth Regulation period (1.1.2020 to 31.12.2025)

End of regulation period (tariffs) 31 December 2025

Calculation of net invested capital recognised for regulatory

purposes

Historical cost revalued
Centralised Asset Parametric Method

Remuneration of equity for regulatory purposes (WACC,re-tax)

Distribution and metering:
— 6.3%: 2020 and 2021
— 5.6%: 2022 and 2023

Incentives for new investments

Remuneration of t-1 investments to compensate
for regulatory time lag since 2013

Efficiency factor

Distribution operating costs:

— 3.5% for large enterprises

— 4.79% for medium-sized enterprises
— 6.59% for small enterprises
Metering operating costs: 0%
Marketing operating costs: 1.57%

(*) The RAB of the companies currently included in the scope of consolidation, calculated by applying the
criteria adopted by the Authority, with reference to investments made up to 31 December 2022, in the

definition of the reference tariffs, is equal to € 8.2 billion.
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“nd WACC regulation period

@ nfra-period parameters review (x-factor, beta, gearing)

WACC update if an increase in the main parameters results in a change of at least 50 bps of
the WACC with respect to the current value

) Update of WACC parameters common to all services (RFremnal £p,
FP, physical parameters, CRP, inflation, iBoxx indexes and cost of debt graduation)

With Resolution 570/2019/R/gas, the regulation of tariffs for gas distribution and me-
tering services for the period 2020-2025 was approved.

In particular:

— the Authority confirmed the six-year duration of the tariff requlation period, as well
as the division into two half-periods of three years each;

— with regard to the recognition of operating costs, the Authority provided that:

a. the initial level for 2020 of recognised operating costs be fixed by applying equal
weight to the actual and recognised costs of the reference year 2018;

b. the rate of annual reduction of unit costs recognised to cover operating costs be
set at:

- for the distribution service:

- 3.53%, for large companies (> 300,000 re-delivery points);
- 4.79%, for medium-sized enterprises (> 50,000 re-delivery points);
- 6.59%, for small businesses (< 50,000 re-delivery points);

- 0% for the metering service;

- 1.57% for the marketing service;

c. the level of the recognised standard cost for each switch reading be confirmed,
for the first half of the regulation period, at € 5;

— with regard to the recognition of capital costs, the Authority provided that:

a. the adoption of a ceiling to tariff recognition for investments in distribution net-
works applied to locations with year of first supply after 2017 be confirmed for the
fifth regulation period, to the extent set out in Resolution no. 704/2016/R/gas;

b. the weights to be applied for the recognition of smart meter investments made in
the two-year period 2020-2021 be revised to 30% (from 40%) for the standard
cost and to 70% (from 60%) for the actual cost;

c. a time horizon be adopted for the full recovery of “frozen” contributions aligned
with the time horizon for the reimbursement of contributions subject to depreci-
ation (about 34 years);

d. following the equalisation of the 3 asset parameter for distribution (0.439) and
metering services (from 0.502 to 0.439), the rate of return on invested capital
WACC be set at 6.3% until 2021, including for metering activities;

— with regard to the methanisation of Sardinia, the Authority has established a specific

tariff framework providing, for a period of three years, for a transitional equalisation
mechanism that allows the tariff of the Sardinian sector to be equalised with that of
the southern Italy sector;

— with regard to the application of the tariff regulation to isolated LNG networks and

isolated networks supplied by gas supply trucks, the Authority has introduced transi-
tional rules, providing that these networks may be assimilated to interconnected



distribution networks for a period of five years, sub-
ject to submission of an application by the distribu-
tion company concerned.

With ruling no. 407/2023 published on 15 February
2023, the Regional Administrative Court of Lombardy
partially upheld the petition submitted by Italgas Reti to
have Resolution no. 570/2019/R/gas of 29 December
2019, setting out the tariff regulation of gas distribution
and metering services (RTDGQG) for the fifth regulatory
period (2020-2025), cancelled.

Of the various aspects concerned by the appeal, the
Regional Administrative Court upheld the one relative
to the recognition of the initial level of 2020 of operat-
ing costs for distribution and metering for large compa-
nies, confirming the incorrect determination of the
starting value for 2018 and ordering ARERA to increase
the value of the cost recognised for 2020 and reduce
that of the x-factor. Another reason upheld is that relat-
ing to the reduction of the Beta coefficient for the me-
tering service and its alignment with that relating to dis-
tribution, given that the solution adopted is allegedly
flawed by major analysis shortcomings and contradict-
ed by the assessments contained in the very studies
commissioned by ARERA, which excluded the presence
of grounds for an alignment of the Beta coefficient.

The Regional Administrative Court also upheld the
Company's objection on the recognition of the residual
depreciation value of traditional metering units of class
G5 or below, replaced by electronic meters, acknowl-
edging the payment of legal interest on the extension
of recoveries. Finally, the Regional Administrative Court
upheld the grounds relating to the failure to prepare the
regulation impact analysis (AIR) and the lack of investi-
gation and grounds of the resolutions challenged.

Resolution no. 287/2021/R/gas amended Article 57,
subsection 1 of the RTDG, in order to standardise the
criteria for decommissioning, for regulatory purposes,
the traditional meters replaced in accordance with the
Directives for gas metering unit commissioning set out
by Resolution no. 631/2013/R/gas, as amended and
supplemented. The Resolution establishes that, regard-
less of the class of the traditional meter replaced, the
decommissioning carried out in accordance with the
smart meter directives be conventionally deducted
from the stratification of the historical gross values us-
ing the values of the gross fixed assets related to the as-
sets installed earliest (so-called regulatory FIFO).

Resolution no. 559/2021/R/gas determined the
amounts for the recovery of non-depreciation (so-
called IRMA) for the G4 and G6 traditional metering
units replaced with gas smart meters in accordance
with the smart meter directives.

Resolution no. 614/2021/R/com approved the criteria
for determining and updating the rate of return on in-
vested capital for the infrastructural services of the elec-
tricity and gas sectors for the 2022-2027 period
(TIWACC 2022-2027). The 2PWACC is split into two
sub-periods, each lasting three years. Albeit maintaining
a three-year update frequency of the parameters relat-
ing to the macroeconomic and fiscal context, the Au-

thority introduced an annual update mechanism (at
least for the first three-year period) for the macroeco-
nomic variables, if the cumulative effect of the update
of the parameters leads to a change in the WACC above
a threshold of 50 bps (basis point spread). For gas distri-
bution and metering service, the value of the WACC as
at 2022 is set at 5.6%, in pre-tax real terms.

Resolution no. 634/2021/R/gas postponed until 30
April of year t the publication of the provisional refer-
ence tariffs relating to year t and until 31 March of year
t+1 the publication of the final reference tariffs relating
to year t.

Resolution no. 154/2022/R/gas determined the final
reference tariffs for gas distribution and metering servic-
es for 2021, calculated on the basis of the actual bal-
ance sheet figures for 2020.

Resolution no. 194/2022/R/gas determined the provi-
sional reference tariffs for gas distribution and metering
services for 2022, based on the preliminary balance
sheet data for 2021 pursuant to Art. 3, subsection 2, of
the RTDG.

Resolution no. 525/2022/R/gas governed the operat-
ing procedures for application of the cap on the tariff
recognition of capital costs in locations in the start-up
phase, confirming the application of the cap in all loca-
tions with year of first supply (YFS) after 2017 and defin-
ing the application methods of a three-stage mecha-
nism set out by Article 33 of the RTDG:

— first stage, lasting three years, starting from the refer-
ence tariffs from tariff year YFS+1;

— second stage, lasting two years, applicable to the ref-
erence tariffs in tariff years YFS+4 and YFS+5;

— third stage, starting from the reference tariffs from
tariff year YFS+6.

Resolution no. 654/2022/R/com confirmed the values
of the WACC parameters common to all the infrastruc-
ture services of the electricity and gas sectors shown in
Table 1 of the TIWACC 2022-2027. Following applica-
tion of the so-called trigger mechanism, envisaged by
Article 8 of the TIWACC 2022-2027 for the update to
the WACC for the sub-period 2022-2024, the calcula-
tion of the WACC deriving from the update to the rele-
vant financial parameters shows a variation in the
WACC, for each service, below 50 bps compared to the
current value.

Resolution no. 679/2022/R/gas re-determined the ref-
erence tariffs for natural gas distribution and metering
services for the years 2009 to 2021, taking into account
the requests for adjustment of physical and asset data
submitted by operators during the periods 1-15 Febru-
ary and 1-15 September 2022. In particular, the Resolu-
tion:

— has updated the definitive reference tariffs for the
2020 tariff year for ATEM Turin 2, on the recommen-
dation of ltalgas, in order to take into account the
changes made to Article 22 of the RTDG concerning
the treatment of the stock of contributions existing in
2011, introduced by Resolution no. 154/2022/R/gas;
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— partly updated the recovery of depreciation of tradi-
tional meters > G6 replaced in implementation of the
Gas Smart Meters Directives, postponing the imple-
mentation of the requests with effects in favour of
businesses to a later stage.

Resolution no. 736/2022/R/gas approved, for the year
2023, the mandatory tariffs for the natural gas distribu-
tion, metering and marketing services.

Resolution no. 737/2022/R/gas approved the infra-pe-
riod update of the tariff requlation of gas distribution
and metering services, for the second half-period 2023-
2025 of the current regulatory period.

In particular, among its other provisions, the Resolution:

— in relation to efficiency gains (x-factor), has not
changed the productivity recovery targets already set
for the first 2020-2022 three-year period of the regu-
lation period;

— in relation to the recognition of the capital costs en-
visaged for the installation of smart meters from
2023, has defined a decrease in the new levels of
standard cost for the 2023-2025 three-year period
with reference to meters up to class G25 and con-
firmed the pre-existing levels of standard cost, ap-
propriately revalued, with reference to meters higher
than class G25;

— with reference to the recognition of the residual val-
ue of the smart meters installed in the first stage of
roll-out of the Directives for the commissioning of
gas metering units, it has provided for the recogni-
tion of the residual value for smart meters decom-
missioned early up to 2018;

— in relation to the definition of the parameter compo-
nent to cover the operating and capital costs of smart
metering/remote management, it has provided for
the activation of a single regulation component, set at
€ 1.59/smart re-delivery point for the tariff year 2023;

— with reference to the definition of the level of the
standard cost recognised for switch readings to be ap-
plied in the three-year period 2023-2025, the Authority
has established a value of € 0.50 to be applied to
switch readings relating to re-delivery points equipped
with a smart meter and it confirms the current value of
€ 5 for each switch reading in the case of re-delivery
points equipped with a conventional meter.

Tariff requlation — Greece

The concessions held by the three distributors of the
DEPA Infrastructure Group cover the entire Greek territo-
ry; in particular, EDA Thess operates in Thessaly and the
Thessaloniki area, EDA Attikis in Attica (including the city
of Athens) and DEDA in the remaining Greek territory.

The expiry and renewal of the gas distribution conces-
sion in Greece are governed by the Greek Energy Law,

68. Net fixed asset value of assets net of contributions, capitalised
interest, revenues from connection contributions and/or user fees

partially amended (i.e. Articles 2, 80l and 88) by Law no.
4812/2021, enacted on 30 June 2021. According to this
amendment, the duration of the licence is set at a mini-
mum of 20 years and may be extended to a further 30
years upon expiry of the original licence, following an
application by the licence holder. In this case, the li-
cence holder must apply for an extension one year be-
fore the expiry date (31 December 2043). The renewal
takes place through an “act with declaratory effect” is-
sued by the Regulatory Authority for Energy (RAE), the
Greek Reqgulator, in accordance with Articles 5-9-13-16
of the Regulation of Natural Gas Permits (Decision of
the Minister no. 178065/2018, published in Journal
3430/2018). Law no. 4951-2022 (Article 134) also intro-
duced a possible repayment, for the outgoing operator,
for the residual value of their assets, equal to the value
of the RAB®® at the end of the licence, plus a premium
of at least 15%.

The activity of natural gas distribution and metering in
Greece is regulated by the RAE: its responsibilities in-
clude the setting and updating of tariffs, as well as the
establishment of rules for access to infrastructure and
the provision of related services (e.g. Distribution Code-
Decisione RAE 589/2016).

The duration of a tariff adjustment period is set at four
years: the current adjustment period at the end of the
financial year is the period from 2019 to 2022. In par-
ticular, the Greek regulation provides that, prior to the
beginning of each regulatory period, the operator shall
submit to the RAE, for approval, the Development Plan
and the Business Plan for the following regulatory peri-
od on the basis of which the operator’s distribution tar-
iffs and regulated revenues for the relevant period are
determined.

In the event that there are differences between the as-
sumptions made in the Development Plan and the Busi-
ness Plan and the actual data for the reference period, a
deviation of the actual revenues from the regulated rev-
enues will be generated: this deviation (defined as a "re-
coverable difference’), whether positive or negative, is
considered in the definition of the regulated revenues
of the following regulatory period and will therefore be
recovered or returned as part of the tariffs for the fol-
lowing four years. To satisfy the need not to assign
(only) to end customers in disadvantaged areas with
limited infrastructural developments the costs of the
distribution and metering service, the RAE, with Deci-
sion no. 485/22 Article 20 envisaged the possibility of
socialising any potential recoverable difference be-
tween all distribution companies of a single corporate

group.

The rate system establishes in particular that the refer-
ence revenues for the formulation of rates is deter-
mined so as to cover the costs incurred by the operator
and allow for a fair return on invested capital. In particu-
lar, the following tariff components are identified:

and all costs related to planning. To increase the RAB, a percentage of
Working Capital calculated parametrically.



the cost of net invested capital for requlatory purposes RAB (Regulatory Asset Base)
through the application of a rate of return (WACC); the WACC is nominal pre-tax and
is defined ex ante for the regulatory period;

— economic-technical amortisation/depreciation, hedging investment costs;

— the operating costs, which are defined for the following regulatory period, are not
re-estimated at the end of the regulatory period; thus the operator can retain the
efficiency achieved during the regulatory period;

— the additional revenues obtained from activities other than gas distribution are sepa-
rated;

— the recoverable difference defined by the difference between the regulated revenues
(calculated based on the final balance) and the revenues obtained from invoicing;

— connection fees may be borne by the distribution operator and, in that case, taken
into account in determining the RAB if the operator’'s penetration rate is low (letter K)
point XIIl Decision RAE 328/2016 - Approval of the pricing regulation).

Required RAB x Reg. WACC + Depreciation + Opex - Additional
Revenues = Revenues
Evaluated for each Return on RAB Fixed Assets are The reasonable The DSO may

year in the Tariff
Calculation Period

calculated by
multiplying the RAB
of the Operator
with the Weighted
Average Cost of
Capital (WACC)

expenses of the DSO
on the accounting for the operation of
method provided the Key Activity of

by law with no strict Natural Gas
obligation to set a Distribution

specific period of

depreciation. Existing

DSOs have chosen

depreciated based

undertake other
activities: Auxiliary
services (e.g.
installation and
maintenance of
smart meters) and
Optional services
(e.g. energy

+ Recoverable
Difference

The difference
between the
Required Revenues
and the Actual
Revenues (which
includes the
revenues from the
application of the
Distribution tariffs
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efficiency services).
For these services,

according to the
billed quantities)

different approaches
regarding duration
of depreciation for the DSO submits to
each category of RAE a tariff proposal
assets for approval

The main elements of tariff regulation are as follows:

Highlights 2019-2022 Regulation period

End of regulation period (tariffs) 31 December 2022

Calculation of net invested capital recognised for regulatory
purposes (RAB)

Historical cost

Distribution and metering:

8.18% for 2019 - 745% for 2020 and
7.03% for 2021 and 2022

Remuneration of net invested capital recognised for regulatory
purposes (WACC)

Extra WACC of 1.5% for 4 years on new
investments if in line with the KPls
defined by the Authority

Incentives for new investments

(*) The RAB of the Greek distribution companies, calculated by applying the criteria adopted by the local
regulatory Authority, with reference to investments made up to 31 December 2022, is equal to € 0.7 billion.
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and the relevant reference timetable:

| |
| |
Regular Regular
Tariff Tariff
Revision Revision
| |
| |
Tariff Tariff Tariff Tariff
Reference Calculation Reference Calculation
Year Year Year Year
| |
| |
[ o [ o
| |

Current Regulatory Period

4 years

Natural gas balancing service — Settlement

On 8 November 2022, by way of Resolution no. 555/2022/R/gas, the Authority insti-
tuted, starting in 2024, a functional incentive mechanism for Settlement procedures,
aimed at encouraging the utmost timeliness on the part of distribution companies to
rectify the metering data that generated a withdrawal of the re-delivery point that was
deemed anomalous, failing to positively pass the consistency check in the balancing or
adjustment session, determining, as a conseqguence, the activation of the “sterilisation”
mechanism for the inconsistent withdrawal with the attribution of a resulting penalty.

To this end, each distribution company must pay, with reference to each re-delivery
point connected to the distribution network for which the above occurs, a unit fee (€
35 for class of meter unit below or equal to G6, € 70 for class of meter unit between
G10 and G25, € 140 for class of meter unit greater than or equal to G40) multiplied by
the progressive number of sterilisations per re-delivery point, discounted by a session
for which, albeit in the presence of sterilisation, no penalty is assigned.

Energy efficiency

On 28 June 2022, the Authority approved Resolution no. 292/2022/R/efr, which de-
termines, pursuant to Resolution no. 270/2020/R/efr, the contribution to tariffs to be
paid to distributors that meet their energy saving targets as part of the EEC mechanism
for the 2021 mandatory year, which began on 17 July 2021 and ended on 31 May 2022.

Taking into account the relevant parameters of quantity and price the of EEC traded on
the market and through bilateral transactions, and the amount of certificates available
to operators in relation to the targets of obliged parties, the contribution to tariffs is set
at € 25344/EEC (equal to the sum of the cap of € 250/EEC and the additional unitary
contribution of € 344/EEC).

On 31 May 2022, the Italgas Group cancelled a total of 239,199 EECs and additionally
purchased 148,532 EECs from the GSE at a price of € 10.00/EEC.

In Resolution no. 7/2022 of 12 October 2022, the Authority defined the energy efficien-
cy obligations for 2022 of distributors with more than 50 thousand end users connect-
ed to its distribution network as at 31 December 2020. For subsidiaries and investees of
ltalgas S.p.A., the quantitative obligation for 2022, expressed as a number of White Cer-
tificates, is: i) 247,838 for Italgas Reti; ii) 35,987 for Toscana Energia and iii) 1,979 for
Umbria Distribuzione Gas.

In the November 2022 interim cancellation session, relating to the 2022 mandatory year
(1 June 2022 - 31 May 2023), the Italgas Group cancelled a total of 406,875 EECs against
an advance payment from the CSEA of € 200.00/EEC, for a total of € 81.4 million.

2024




5.2 Comment on the economic and financial results®®

5.2.1 Reclassified income statement

(€ million) 2021 ‘ 2022 ‘ Abs. change ‘ Change %
Gas Distribution regulated revenues 1,294.5 1,313.5 19.0 15
of which distribution revenues 1,200.1 1,225.8 257 2.1
of which Other distribution revenues 944 87.7 (6.7) (7.1
Other revenues 76.3 2424 166.1 =
of which special items - 18.6 186 -
Total revenues (*) 1,370.8 1,555.9 185.1 13.5
Adjusted total revenues 1,370.8 1,537.3 166.5 121
Operating costs (361.9) (454.6) (92.7) 25.6
EBITDA 1,008.9 1,101.3 924 9.2
Adjusted EBITDA 1,008.9 1,082.7 73.8 7.3
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment (425.7) (459.9) (34.2) 8.0
EBIT 583.2 641.4 58.2 10.0
Adjusted EBIT 583.2 622.8 39.6 6.8
Net financial expense (60.4) (56.3) 41 (6.8)
of which special items ©4) - 64 -
Adjusted net financial expense (54.0) (56.3) (2.3) 43
Net income from equity investments 25 34 0.9 36.0
of which special items = 2.7 2.7 0.0
Gross profit 525.3 588.5 63.2 12.0
Adjusted gross profit 531.7 567.2 355 6.7
Income taxes (141.9) (152.4) (10.5) 74
taxation related to special items 15 (1.5) (3.0) =
Adjusted income taxes (143.4) (150.9) (7.5) 52
Net profit 3834 436.1 52.7 13.7
Net profit attributable to the Group 362.8 407.3 445 12.3
Net profit attributable to minority shareholders 20.6 28.8 8.2 39.8
Adjusted net profit 388.3 416.3 28.0 7.2
Adjusted net profit attributable to the Group 367.7 395.7 28.0 7.6
Adjusted net profit attributable to minority interests 20.6 20.6 - -

(*) Unlike the legal statement, the reclassified income statement requires the listing of Total revenues and Operating costs net of the impact of IFRIC
12 "Service concession agreements” (€ 772.0 and € 727.8 million respectively in 2021 and 2022), connection contributions (€ 19.6 and € 19.2 million
respectively in 2021 and 2022), repayments from third parties and other residual components (€ 0.8 and € 9.6 million respectively in 2021 and 2022)

69. The paragraph “Comment on the economic and financial
results” refers to the Italgas Group, which comprises: Italgas S.p.A.,
Italgas Reti S.p.A., Medea S.p.A., Janagas Sr.l, Italgas Acqua S.p.A.,
Toscana Energia S.p.A., Immogas S.r.l., Geoside S.p.A., Bludigit S.p.A.,

Italgas Newco S.p.A., DEPA Infrastructure S.A., Public Gas Distribution
Networks S.A., Attiki Natural Gas Distribution Single Member Company
S.A. and Thessaloniki — Thessalia Gas Distribution S.A
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Adjusted operating profit (adjusted EBIT), net of non-recurring items, achieved in fi-
nancial year 2022, amounted to € 622.8 million, with an increase of € 39.6 million
compared to 31 December 2021 (+6.8%) as a result of higher adjusted total revenues (€
166.5 million; +12.1%), operating costs (€ 92.7 million; +25.6%) and amortisation, depre-
ciation and impairment (€ 34.2 million; +8.0%). The DEPA Infrastructure Group, which
is included in the scope of consolidation as at 1 September 2022, contributed € 214
million to the EBIT for the financial year.

Adjusted net profit for FY 2022 amounted to € 416.3 million, an increase of € 28.0 mil-
lion compared to the financial year 2021, or +7.2%.

Adjusted net profit attributable to the Group came to € 395.7 million and has in-
creased on FY 2021 (€ 28.0 million; +7,6%).

5.2.2 Reconciliation of reported EBIT and net profit
with adjusted EBIT and net profit

ltalgas’ management assesses Group performance on the basis of alternative perfor-
mance indicators’® not envisaged by IFRS, obtained by excluding special items from
EBIT and net profit.

The income components are classified as special items, if significant, when: (i) they re-
sult from non-recurring events or transactions or from transactions or events which do
not occur frequently in the ordinary course of business; or (ii) they result from events or
transactions which are not representative of the normal course of business.

The tax rate applied to the items excluded from the calculation of adjusted net profit is
determined on the basis of the nature of each revenue item subject to exclusion. Ad-
justed EBIT and adjusted net profit are not provided for by either IFRS or other standard
setters. These performance metrics allow for analysis of the business trends, making it
easier to compare results. The NON-GAAP financial report must be considered com-
plementary to and not replacing the reports prepared according to IFRS.

The income components classed among special items in 2022, amounting to € 21.3
million, referred to:

— the capital gain on the sale of the controlling interest in Gaxa to Edison (€ 2.7 million);

— the capital gain from the transfer of Medea's transmission assets to Energie Reti Gas
(€ 5.1 million);

— the recognition at fair value (€ 13.5 million), in application of IFRS 3, of the Janagas’
assets, a company acquired by Fiamma 2000.

The income components classified under special items for the year 2021 concern the
higher costs (€ 64 million) resulting from the bond buyback transaction finalised in
February 2021.

70. For the definition of alternative performance indicators, reference should be made to the chapter "Non-
GAAP Measures” in this report.



(€ million) 2021 2022
Total revenues 1,370.8 1,555.9
Excluding special items = (18.6)
- capital gain from the transfer and sale of Medea's transport assets to ERG - (5.1)
- recognition of Janagas’ assets at fair value = (13.5)
Adjusted total revenues 1,370.8 1,537.3
Total operating costs (361.9) (454.6)
EBITDA 1,008.9 1,101.3
Excluding special items = (18.6)
Adjusted EBITDA 1,008.9 1,082.7
EBIT 583.2 6414
Excluding special items - (18.6)
Adjusted EBIT 583.2 622.8
Net financial expense (604) (56.3)
Excluding special items 6.4 =
- financial expense from bond buyback 6.4 -
Adjusted net financial expense (54.0) (56.3)
Net income from equity investments 2.5 34
Excluding special items = (2.7)
- capital gain from the sale of the controlling interest in Gaxa - (2.7)
Adjusted net income from equity investments 25 0.7
Gross profit 525.3 588.5
Excluding special items 6.4 (21.3)
Adjusted gross profit 531.7 567.2
Income taxes (141.9) (152.4)
Excluding special items (1.5) 15
Net profit (loss) 3834 436.1
Net profit (loss) attributable to minority interests 20.6 28.8
Net profit (loss) attributable to the Group 362.8 407.3
Adjusted net profit (loss) 388.3 416.3
Adjusted net profit (loss) attributable to minority interests 20.6 20.6
Adjusted net profit (loss) attributable to the Group 367.7 395.7
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5.2.3 Analysis of the Reclassified Income Statement
items

Total revenues

(€ million) 2021 ‘ 2022 | Abs. change Change %
Distribution revenues 1,200.1 1,225.8 257 2.1
Other distribution revenues 944 877 (6.7) (7.1)
Total gas distribution regulated revenues 1,294.5 1,313.5 19.0 15
Other revenues 76.3 2424 166.1 2177
of which special items - 18.6 186 -
Adjusted total revenues 1,370.8 1,537.3 166.5 121
Total revenues 1,370.8 1,555.9 185.1 135

Adjusted total revenues of the first quarter of 2022 amount to € 1,537.3 million, up by €
166.5 million compared to 2021 (+12.1%), and refer to natural gas distribution regulated
revenues (€ 1,313.5 million) and other adjusted revenues (€ 223.8 million). Total reve-
nues from the inclusion of the DEPA Infrastructure Group in the scope of consolidation
amounted to € 51.4 million.

Gas distribution regulated revenues increased by € 19.0 million compared to 2021
due to an increase in revenues from transmission (€ 25.7 million) partially offset by a
reduction in other regulated gas distribution revenues (€ -6.7 million).

The increase in distribution revenues (€ 25.7 million) is mainly attributable to the effect
of the consolidation of the DEPA Infrastructure Group (€ 50.3 million), the increase in
the specific RAB (€ 27.8 million), the deflator (€ 5.9 million) and the contribution of the
Sardinian networks (€ 6.7 million), partially offset by the reduction in the WACC envis-
aged by Resolution no. 614/2021/R/com (€ -54 .4 million), the change in the X-factor (€
-84 million) pursuant to Resolution no. 570/2019/R/gas as well as the effect of the sale
of the plants of ATEM Naples 1 to another operator (€ -4.2 million).

The reduction of other distribution revenues (€ 6.7 million) is mainly linked to the ef-
fect of the lesser contribution pursuant to Article 57 of ARERA Resolution no. 367/14, as
subsequently amended and supplemented, relating to the replacement of traditional
meters with electronic ones (€ 2.0 million as at 31 December 2022 and € 13.9 million as
at 31 December 2021), and lower customer service revenues partly offset by greater
incentives for leak detection (€ 4.1 million) and revenues from gas supply interruption
activities due to arrears (€ 1.4 million).

Adjusted other revenues (€ 223.8 million) increased by € 147.5 million compared to
2021, mainly due to the increase in energy efficiency activities.



Operating costs

(€ million) 2021 2022 | Abs. change Change %
Fixed gas distribution costs 237.2 244.8 7.6 3.2
- net personnel cost 1379 148.8 10.9 79
- net external costs 99.3 96.0 (3.3) (3.3)
Other assets 53.5 143.6 90.1 168.4
- net personnel cost 53 6.9 16 30.2
- net external costs 482 136.7 88.5 183.6
Other costs and provisions 3.8 (1.0) (4.8) (126.3)
EEC (2.2) 1.8 4.0 (181.8)
Concession-related expenses 69.6 65.4 (4.2) (6.0)
Operating costs 361.9 454.6 92.7 25.6

Operating costs amounted to € 454.6 million, an increase of € 92.7 million over 2021 (of

which € 20.8 million was due to the inclusion of the DEPA Infrastructure Group in the

scope of consolidation), mainly as a result of higher net external costs of € 85.2 million

(essentially driven by energy efficiency activities) and net labour costs of € 12.5 million,

offset by lower allocations to provisions for risks, other charges and Energy Efficiency

Certificates of € 0.8 million as well as lower concession charges of € 4.2 million.

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment
(€ million) 2021 2022 | Abs. change Change %
Amortisation and depreciation 424.8 459.0 34.2 8.1
Intangible assets IFRIC 12 344.8 375.1 30.3 8.8
Other Intangible Assets 409 419 1.0 24
Property, plant and equipment 39.1 42.0 2.9 74
- of which amortisation of Right of Use 229 24.6 17 74
Impairment 0.9 0.9 - -
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment 425.7 459.9 34.2 8.0

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment (€ 459.9 million) increased by € 34.2 mil-
lion (+8.0%) on 2021, mainly due to the investments made and the change in the scope
of consolidation connected with the DEPA Infrastructure Group (€ 9.2 million) and the
acceleration related to the replacement plan for medium- and large-calibre meters (€
4.7 million).
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Net Financial expense

(€ million) 2021 2022 | Abs. change Change %
Expense (income) on short-term and long-term financial debt 56.1 52.7 (3.4) (6.1)
of which special items 6.4 - (6.4) =
Upfront fee 6.3 6.7 04 6.3
Other net financial expense (income) (0.1) (1.5) (1.4) -
- Exp_e_nses (lncome_) _retated to the d\scountmg of environmental 11 06 (0.5) (45.5)
provisions and provisions for employee benefits
- Other net financial expense (income) (1.2) (2.1) (0.9) 75.0
Financial expense capitalised (1.9 (1.6) 0.3 (15.8)
Adjusted net financial expense 54.0 56.3 2.3 4.3
Net financial expense 60.4 56.3 (4.1) (6.8)

Adjusted net financial expense amounted to € 56.3 million as at 31 December 2022,

up by € 2.3 million compared to the same period last year. The increase is mainly attrib-

utable to the increase in average gross financial debt, partially offset by the slightly de-

creasing average cost of debt.

Other net financial expense (income) amounted to € 2.1 million and mainly related to

interest on tax receivables (€ 1.2 million) and financial income from discounting “Super/

Ecobonus’ receivables (€ 0.6 million).

The special items in 2021 included the accounting effects of the bond buyback (€ 6.4

million) finalised in February 2021.

Net Income from equity investments

Adjusted net income from equity investments as at 31 December 2022 amounted to

€ 0.7 million.

Income taxes
(€ million) 2021 2022 | Abs. change Change %
Current taxes 154.6 160.8 0.2 4.0
Net deferred taxes (12.7) (84) 43 (33.9)
Income taxes 141.9 152.4 10.5 74
taxation related to special items 15 (1.5) (3.0) -
Adjusted income taxes 1434 150.9 75 5.2
Effective tax rate (%) 27.0% 25.9% (4.1)
Adjusted effective tax rate (%) 27.0% 26.6% (1.5)

Income taxes came to € 1524 million, up € 10.5 million compared to the same value of

the previous year, essentially as a consequence of the higher period result.

The tax rate was 25.9% (27.0% in 2021). The adjusted tax rate was 26.6%.

The reconciliation of the theoretical tax rate with the effective tax rate is described in

the note “Income taxes” in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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The Reclassified Statement of Financial Position combines the assets and liabilities of
the mandatory format included in the consolidated financial statements based on the
criterion of how the business operates, conventionally split into the three basic func-
tions of investment, operations and financing.

The statement provided represents useful information for the investor because it makes
it possible to identify the sources of financial resources (own and third-party funds) and

uses of financial resources in fixed and working capital. I
The Italgas’ Reclassified Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, com- O
pared with that as at 31 December 2021, is summarised below: §

(€ million) 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 Abs. change. %

Fixed capital (*) 7106.2 8,120.6 1,0144 -g

Property, plant and equipment 3721 379.0 6.9 a

Intangible assets 6,938.1 7,975.5 1,0374

Equity investments 351 66.2 311

Financial receivables and securities instrumental to operations 2.8 34 0.6

Net payables for investments (241.9) (303.5) (61.6)

Net working capital 115.6 340.0 2244

Provisions for employee benefits (95.6) (69.9) 25.7

Assets held for sale and directly related liabilities 2.2 - (2.2)

NET INVESTED CAPITAL 71284 8,390.7 1,262.3

Shareholders’ equity 2,142.5 2,390.6 248.1

- attributable to the Italgas Group 1,8914 2,108.3 216.9

- attributable to minority shareholders 2511 282.3 31.2

Net financial debt (**) 4,985.9 6,000.1 1,014.2

HEDGING 71284 8,390.7 1,262.3

(*) Net of the effects deriving from the application of IFRS 15.

(**) As at 31 December 2022, the item: i) includes the effects of applying IFRS 16 amounting to € 72.0 million;
ii) does not include liabilities amounting to € 34.8 million consisting of the pro-rata share of the shareholder’s
loan, subordinated and convertible into shares, subscribed by the shareholder Phaeton Holding SA, and
deemed not to be financial debt. Net financial debt including the effects of this shareholders’ loan amounted
to € 6,034.9 million. In accordance with Consob Communication no. DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006, the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements show net financial debt including the effects of IFRS 16 and
the debt to Phaeton Holding SA.

The net invested capital at 31 December 2022 amounted to € 8,390.7 million and con-
sists of the items outlined below.

Fixed capital (€ 8,120.6 million) increased by € 1,014.4 million compared to 31 Decem-
ber 2021 and reflects the effect of the inclusion of the DEPA Infrastructure Group and
Janagas in the scope of consolidation, net of the deconsolidation of Gaxa and the sale
of the ATEM Naples 1 plants.
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Below is an analysis of the change in Property, plant and equipment and Intangible

assets:
(€ million) a';rnglﬁ%ﬂgm IFRIC 12 assets | Intangible assets Total
Balance at 31 December 2021 3721 6,732.0 206.1 7,310.2
Investments 370 730.0 473 814.3
- of which IFRS 16 264 = = 264
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment (42.0) (378.0) (39.9) (459.9)
- of which D&A pursuant to IFRS 16 (24.6) = = (24.6)
Change in the scope of consolidation 171 883.3 116.6 1.017.0
Subsidies = (21.9) = (21.9)
Disposals and sales (5.8) (300.9) (0.1) (306.8)
Other changes 0.6 3.0 (2.0 1.6
Balance at 31 December 2022 379.0 7.647.5 328.0 8,354.5

Intangible fixed assets (€ 7,975.5 million) mainly include assets for services in conces-
sion posted in the accounts pursuant to IFRIC 12 (€ 7,647.5 million). Net of the effect
caused by the sale of fixed assets relating to the Municipalities of ATEM Naples 1, the
increase of € 1,0374 million is mainly attributable to the acquisition of the DEPA Infra-
structure Group, which resulted in the recognition of assets pursuant to IFRIC 12 in the
amount of € 824.9 million and goodwill in the amount of € 115.8 million.

Tangible fixed assets (€ 379.0 million), which mainly relate to plant, buildings and in-
dustrial and commercial equipment, increased by € 6.9 million primarily as a result of
investments for the period of € 29.2 million (of which € 18.6 million related to the appli-
cation of IFRS 16) and the first-time consolidation of the DEPA Infrastructure Group in
the amount of € 11.5 million, net of amortisation and depreciation of € 42.0 million (of
which € 24.6 million related to the right of use under IFRS 16).

Equity investments (€ 66.2 million) increased by € 31.1 million due mainly to the sub-
scription of 49% of the share capital of Energie Rete Gas (€ 23.1 million) and the acqui-
sition of a minority share in the capital of Picarro Inc. (€ 14.1 million), net of the compa-
ny reorganisation relating to the affiliate Valdarno, valued at 31 December 2021 using
the equity method (€ -5.5 million).



Consolidated net working capital at 31 December 2022 amounts to € 340.0 million
and is broken down as follows:

(€ million) 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 Abs. change
Trade receivables 388.6 315.7 (72.9)
Inventories 105.3 120.5 15.2
Tax receivables 71.6 116.7 451
Accruals and deferrals from regulated activities 115.8 188.6 72.8
Other assets 185.7 815.1 6294
Trade payables (300.9) (709.4) (408.5)
Provisions for risks and charges (159.5) (144.3) 15.2
Deferred tax liabilities (50.8) (91.6) (40.8)
Tax payables (12.1) (28.2) (16.1)
Other liabilities (228.1) (243.1) (15.0)

115.6 340.0 2244

Compared to 31 December 2021, net working capital increased by € 224.4 million due
to: (i) lower trade receivables (€ -72.9 million) mainly due to the reduction in receivables
from sales companies (€ -232.8 million), from customers (€ -31.9 million) and due to
the deconsolidation of Gaxa (€ -16.1 million) partially offset by higher receivables relat-
ing to the "Super/Ecobonus” (€ 114.5 million), from the CSEA mainly relating to the
equalisation balance (€ 61.5 million) and the first-time consolidation of the DEPA Infra-
structure Group (€ 28.1 million); i) increase in inventories (€ 15.2 million) mainly relating
to digitisation and odourising equipment, as well as to the contribution of the DEPA In-
frastructure Group (€ 11.4 million); iii) increase in net tax liabilities (€ -11.8 million) mainly
due to the change in taxation for the period (€ -25.6 million) net of the effect of ac-
crued tax credits for "“Super/Ecobonus” (€ 37.5 million), as well as the contribution of
the DEPA Infrastructure Group and Janagas (€ -31.2 million); iv) increase in other assets
(€ 6294 million) mainly relating to accessory billing components of distribution subject
to reimbursement by the CSEA (including "Bonus gas” and UG2 in the amount of €
658.9 million) offset by lower receivables from the CSEA for incentives (€ 41.3 million);
v) increase in trade payables (€ 408.5 million) due to the debt position with sales com-
panies (€ 445.9 million) mainly for "Bonus gas” and UG2 offset by the reduction in pay-
ables to suppliers (€ 29.3 million) and the equalisation balance with the CSEA (€ 8.0
million); vi) reduction in provisions for risks and charges (€ 15.2 million); vii) increase in
other liabilities for the period (€ 15.0 million).

The consolidation of the DEPA Infrastructure Group resulted in an overall increase in
working capital of € 50.5 million.

During the last quarter, the Company finalised factoring agreements with financial
counterparties, on the basis of which receivables owed to the Company and to its sub-
sidiaries can be factored without recourse. In particular, the assignment of VAT receiva-
bles in the amount of € 30.0 million was finalised (2021: assignment of receivables to-
talling € 306.2 million).
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Net financial debt
(€ million) 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 | Abs. change
Financial and bond debt 6,376.9 6,510.8 133.9
Short-term financial debt (*) 571.6 1211 (450.5)
Long-term financial debt (**) 5735.3 6,317.7 5824
Finance lease payables - IFRS 16 70.0 72.0 2.0
Hedging derivative contracts Cash flow Hedge 5.9 (52.5) (58.4)
Short-term contracts 0.3 (17.1) (17.4)
Long-term contracts 56 (354) (41.0)
Financial receivables and cash and cash equivalents (1,396.9) (458.2) 938.7
Cash and cash equivalents (1,391.8) (451.9) 939.9
Financial receivables (5.0) (5.6) (0.6)
Securities not instrumental to operations (0.1) (0.7) (0.6)
Net financial debt (**) 4,985.9 6,000.1 1,014.2
Finance lease payables - IFRS 16 70.0 72.0 2.0
Net financial debt (excluding the effects pursuant to IFRS 16) (**) 4,915.9 5,928.1 1,012.2

(*) These include the short-term portions of long-term financial debt.

(**) As at 31 December 2022, the net financial debt shown in the Directors’ Report does not include liabilities
for € 34.8 million consisting of the pro-rata share of the shareholders’ loan to Italgas Newco, subordinated
and convertible into shares, subscribed by the shareholder Phaeton Holding SA, deemed not to be financial
debt. The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, in compliance with Consob Communication no.
DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006, show the net financial debt including the debt to Phaeton Holding SA.

As at 31 December 2022, net financial debt, excluding the impacts of financial liabilities
pursuant to IFRS 16 of € 72.0 million (€ 70.0 million in the corresponding period of
2021) and from the ltalgas Newco shareholders’ loan share, amounted to € 5928.1
million, up by € 1,012.2 million from 31 December 2021 (€ 4,915.9 million). Including
the effects resulting from application of IFRS 16 and the Italgas Newco shareholders’
loan share, the net financial debt came to € 6,034.9 million (€ 4,985.9 million at the end
of 2021). In compliance with Consob Communication no. DEM/6064293 of 28 July
2006, the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements report the composition of
financial debt including the effects of IFRS 16 and the above shareholders’ loan.

Financial and bond debt as at 31 December 2022 totalled € 6,510.8 million (€ 6,376.9
million as at 31 December 2021) and refer to: bonds (€ 4,483.7 million), loan agree-
ments with the European Investment Bank (EIB) (€ 953.6 million), payables to banks (€
1,001.5 million) and financial liabilities pursuant to IFRS 16 (€ 72.0 million).

Cash, amounting to € 451.9 million, decreased by € 939.9 million compared to 31 De-
cember 2021, due to use in M&A transactions during the period.

The breakdown of gross financial debt by type of interest rate as at 31 December 2022
is as follows:

(€ million) 31.12.2021 ‘ % 31.12.2022 %
Fixed rate 5,910.9 927 5,905.8 90.7%
Floating rate 466.0 73 605.0 9.3%

Gross financial debt 6,376.9 100.0 6,510.8 100.0%



Fixed-rate financial liabilities amounted to € 5905.8 million and mainly refer to bonds
(€ 4,483.7 million), four EIB loans (€ 846.1 million), bank loans (€ 504.0 million) and fi-
nancial liabilities pursuant to IFRS 16 (€ 72.0 million).

Floating-rate financial liabilities amounted to € 605.0 million, up by € 139.0 million
compared to 31 December 2021 as a result of the consolidation of bank loans sub-
scribed by DEPA Infrastructure Group companies (€ 245.0 million), partially offset by a
decrease in the use of bank lines by Italgas S.p.A.

With the exception of an EIB loan with a nominal value of € 90 million signed by Tosca-
na Energia and certain loans taken out by DEPA Infrastructure’s pre-acquisition subsidi-
aries, as at 31 December 2022 there were no loan agreements containing financial
covenants and/or that were secured by collateral.

Some of these contracts provide, inter alia, for the following: (i) negative pledge under-
takings, pursuant to which Italgas and the subsidiaries are subject to limitations regard-
ing the creation of real rights of guarantee or other restrictions concerning all or part of
the respective assets, shares or goods; (ii) pari passu and change of control clauses; (iii)
limitations on some extraordinary transactions that the company and its subsidiaries
may carry out. As at 31 December 2022, these commitments were respected.

Statement of comprehensive income

(€ million) 2021 2022
Net profit 3834 436.1
Other comprehensive income
Components reclassifiable to the income statement:
Change in fair value of cash flow hedge derivatives (Effective portion) 14.8 56.6
Tax effect (3.6) (13.6)
11.2 43.0
Components not reclassifiable to the income statement:
Actuarial gains (losses) from remeasurement of defined benefit plans for employees 19 117
Change in fair value of investments measured at fair value with effects on OCI - 0.8
Tax effect (0.5) (3.5)
14 9.0
Total other components of comprehensive income, net of tax effect 12.6 52.0
Total comprehensive income for the year 396 488.1
Attributable to:
- ltalgas 375.3 458.8
- Minority interests 20.7 29.3
396.0 488.1
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Shareholders’ equity

(€ million) 2022
Shareholders’ equity as at 31 December 2021 2,142.5
of which:

- Group shareholders’ equity 1,8914
- Shareholders’ equity of minority shareholders 251.1

Increase for:

- 2022 profit for the year 436.1
of which:

Profit attributable to the Group 407.3
Profit attributable to minority shareholders 28.8
- Stock grant reserve 0.5
- IAS 19 valuation reserve 84
- Cash Flow Hedge valuation reserve 451
- Fair value valuation reserve for equity investments 0.5

- Payment of share capital by minority shareholders =

Decrease for:

- ltalgas 2021 dividend distribution (238.9)
- 2021 dividend distributed to minority shareholders* (14.2)
- Change in scope of consolidation (73.7)
- Other changes

of which:

- Attributable to the Group 67.1
- Attributable to minority shareholders 17.2
Group shareholders’ equity 2,108.3
Shareholders’ equity of minority shareholders 282.3
Shareholders’ equity as at 31 December 2022 2,390.6

(*) This is the extraordinary dividend paid by Toscana Energia.

5.2.5 Reclassified Statement of Cash Flows

The reclassified statement of cash flows provided below is the summary of the legally
required cash flow statement. The reclassified statement of cash flows makes it possi-
ble to reconcile the change in cash and cash equivalents at the start and end of the
period with the change in net financial debt at the start and end of the period. The
measure which allows for the reconciliation between the two statements is the free
cash flow”, i.e. the cash surplus or deficit remaining after the financing of investments.

71. The free cash flow alternatively closed: (i) the change in cash for the period, after the addition/subtraction
of cash flows relating to financial payables/receivables (usage/repayment of financial receivables/payables)
and equity (payment of dividends/capital contributions); (i) the change in net financial debt for the period,
after the addition/subtraction of flows of debt relating to equity (payment of dividends/capital contributions).



Reclassified Statement of Cash Flows

(€ million) 2021 2022
Net profit 3834 436.1
Correction:
- Amortisation and depreciation and other non-monetary components 426.6 469.9
- Net capital losses (capital gains) on asset sales and eliminations 36 (30.8)
- Interest and income taxes 203.6 208.7
Change in working capital due to operating activities 76.5 (311.5)
Dividends, interest and income taxes collected (paid) (261.8) (200.7)
Cash flow from operations (*) 8319 571.7
Technical investments (809.3) (766.1)
Other changes related to investment activities 14.6 47.8
Divestments and other changes 12.5 3254
Free cash flow before M&A transactions 49.7 178.8
Companies included in the scope of consolidation (22.1) (958.7)
Acquisition of business units, plant and financial assets (1.7) (23.1)
Free cash flow 25.9 (803.0)
Change in short- and long-term financial debt and financial receivables 955.7 132.1
Reimbursements of financial liabilities for leased assets (21.5) (27.9)
Capital contribution from third parties 11.3 12.3
Equity cash flow (243.1) (253.3)
Net cash flow for the year 728.3 (939.8)
(*) Net of the effects deriving from the application of IFRS 15.
Change in net financial debt
(€ million) 2021 2022
Free cash flow before M&A transactions 49.7 178.8
Change due to acquisitions of equity investments, business units and assets (42.2) (981.9)
Increase in finance lease payables (15.2) (29.9)
Equity cash flow (243.1) (253.3)
Capital contribution from third parties 11.3 12.3
Other changes (Difference between interest accounted for, and paid fair value of derivatives) (4.0) 59.8
Change in net financial debt (243.5) (1.014.2)
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The cash flow from operations as at 31 December 2022, amounting € 571.7 million,
was partially absorbed by the flow from net investments, totalling € 392.9 million, gen-
erating a free cash flow before M&A transactions of € 178.8 million. As at 31 December
2022, the cash outflow from M&A transactions amounted to € 981.8 million, bringing
the free cash flow to € -803.0 million.

Taking into account payment of the dividend for € 253.3 million, net financial debt in-
creased by € 1,014.2 million.

5.3 Comment on the economic
and financial results of Italgas S.p.A.

ltalgas S.p.A. was incorporated on 1 June 2016 and listed on the Milan Stock Exchange
from 7 November 2016.

5.3.1 Reclassified income statement

In view of Italgas S.p.A.’s nature as an industrial investment holding, the following reclassi-
fied Income Statement has been prepared, which inverts the order of the income state-
ment items under Leg. Decree 127/91, presenting first those which relate to the financial
operations, as this is the most significant income component for those companies’.

(€ million) 2021 2022 | Abs. change Change %
Income from investments 264.1 270.1 6.0 2.3
of which special items - 19 19 -
Interest income 384 52.9 14.5 37.8
of which special items 29 - (2.9) -
Interest expenses and other financial expenses (61.5) (57.2) 4.3 (7.0)
of which special items (5.2) - 52 -
Financial income and expenses 241.0 265.8 24.8 10.3
Adjusted financial income and expenses 249.1 263.9 14.8 5.9
Income from services 102.2 83.8 (18.4) (18.0)
Other operating income 102.2 83.8 (18.4) (18.0)
Other operating costs

For staff (48.8) (48.7) 0.1 0.2
For performance of non-financial services and other costs (52.2) (37.7) 145 27.8
Amortisation and depreciation (5.3) (2.2) 31 585
Total of other operating costs (106.3) (88.6) 17.7 16.7
Gross profit 236.9 261.0 241 10.2
Adjusted gross profit 245.0 259.1 141 5.8
Income taxes 2.7 (1.2) (3.9) -
taxation related to special items (1.9) - 19 -
Adjusted income taxes 0.8 (1.2) (2.0) -
Net profit 239.6 259.8 20.2 84
Adjusted net profit 245.8 257.9 12.1 4.9

72. See Consob Communication 94001437 of 23 February 1994.



The net profit achieved in 2022 amounted to € 259.8 million, up by € 20.2 million from
the corresponding value for 2021. Adjusted net profit amounted to € 257.9 million.

The income component classified in special items in 2022 relates to the capital gain on
the sale of the controlling interest in Gaxa to Edison (€ 1.9 million), net of the related
taxation.

The income components classified as special items in 2021 regard i) lesser income (€
2.9 million) supported for the renegotiation of a loan in respect of the subsidiary Me-

113

dea, with effect as at 1 July 2021, net of the related taxation (€ 0.7 million) and ii) greater I
expense (€ 5.2 million) deriving from the bond buyback completed in February 2021,
net of the related taxation (€ 1.3 million). g
o
5.3.2 Analysis of the Reclassified Income Statement 8
items e
Financial income and expenses §
(€ million) 2021 ‘ 2022 | Abs. change Change %
Income from investments 264.1 270.1 6.0 2.3
of which special items = 19 19 =
Interest income 384 52.9 14.5 378
of which special items 2.9 - (2.9) =
Interest expenses and other financial expenses (61.5) (57.2) 4.3 (7.0)
of which special items (5.2) - 52 -
Adjusted financial income and expenses 249.1 263.9 14.8 5.9
Total financial income and expenses 241.0 265.8 26.7 33.0
Income from equity investments (€ 270.1 million) essentially includes the dividends dis-
tributed by Italgas Reti subsidiaries (€ 253.7 million) and Toscana Energia (€ 14.4 million).
Interest income (€ 52.9 million) essentially relates to income from the intragroup loans
granted by Italgas to its subsidiaries.
Interest expense and other financial expense (€ 57.2 million) refers to the costs relat-
ing to financial debt, and essentially concerns bond loan expense’ (€ 47.9 million) and
loans from banks (€ 4.3 million).
Other operating income
(€ million) 2021 2022 | Abs. change Change %
Income from services 102.2 83.8 (184) (18.0)
Other operating income 102.2 83.8 (18.4) (18.0)

Other operating income (€ 83.8 million) refers mainly to chargebacks to subsidiaries of
the costs incurred for the provision of services centrally managed by lItalgas S.p.A.
These services are regulated through agreements signed between Italgas S.p.A. and its
subsidiaries and refer to the following areas: ICT, personnel and organisation, planning,
administration, finance and control, procurement, general services, property and secu-
rity services, legal and corporate affairs and compliance, health, safety and environ-
ment, institutional relations and regulation, external relations and communication, in-
ternal audit and Enterprise Risk Management (ERM).

73. The details of bond issues during the year and related terms are provided in the note "Short-term financial
liabilities, long-term financial liabilities and short-term portions of long-term financial liabilities” in the Notes to
the separate financial statements.
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Other operating expenses

(€ million) 2021 2022 | Abs. change Change %
For staff (48.8) (48.7) 0.1 0.2
For performance of non-financial services and other costs (52.2) (37.7) 14.5 27.8
Amortisation and depreciation (5.3) (2.2) 31 585
Total of other operating costs (106.3) (88.6) 17.8 16.7

Other operating expenses (€ 88.6 million) refer to personnel costs (€ 48.7 million), and

to costs for non-financial services and other costs (€ 37.7 million), depreciation and

amortisation (€ 2.2 million). Costs for non-financial services and other costs include

consulting and professional services (€ 16.8 million), costs for service contracts within

the Group mainly related to ICT services provided by Bludigit and technical services

provided by ltalgas Reti (€ 11.7 million), costs for insurance and banking services (€ 1.7

million), and other costs for miscellaneous services (€ 7.5 million).

5.3.3 Reclassified Statement of Financial Position
(€ million) 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 | Abs. change
Fixed capital 6.709.8 7.350.2 953.2
Property, plant and equipment 12.3 10.7 (1.6)
Intangible assets 04 12 0.8
Equity investments 3.0104 3.107.8 974
Financial receivables and securities instrumental to operations 3.687.8 4.544.3 856.5
Net payables (receivables) relating to investment activities (11) (1.0) 0.1
Net working capital (4.9) (7.8) (2.9)
Provisions for employee benefits (12.3) (9.0) 3.3
NET INVESTED CAPITAL 6.692.6 7.646.2 953.6
Shareholders’ equity 17377 1.806.6 68.9
Net financial debt 4.954.9 5.839.6 884.7
HEDGING 6.692.6 7.646.2 953.6

Net invested capital amounted to € 7,646.2 million and rose by € 959.5 million com-
pared to 31 December 2021, mainly as a result of the greater financial receivables in-
strumental to operations (€ 856.5 million).

Equity investments amounting to € 3,107.8 million relate to the subsidiaries Italgas Reti,
ltalgas Acqua, Toscana Energia, Geoside, Italgas NewCo and Bludigit (€ 3,092.3 mil-
lion), to the jointly controlled companies Umbria Distribuzione Gas and Metano S. An-
gelo Lodigiano (€ 1.0 million) and to associates and other companies (€ 14.5 million).



Net working capital

(€ million) 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 | Abs. change
Trade receivables 37.2 429 57
Tax receivables 17.3 321 13.6
Deferred tax assets 47 - (4.7)
Other assets 3.0 3.7 0.7
Trade payables (17.1) (18.6) (1.5)
Provisions for risks and charges (8.0) (6.8) 12
Deferred tax liabilities - (9.7) (9.7)
Tax payables (31.2) (34.9) (3.7)
Other liabilities (10.8) (16.5) (5.7)
(4.9) (7.8) (2.9)

Net working capital (€ -7.8 million) increased by € 2.9 million compared to 31 Decem-

ber 2021 mainly due to the increase in (i) trade receivables (€ 5.7 million), (i) trade pay-

ables (€ 1.5 million), (iii) other liabilities (€ 5.7 million) and (iv) other assets (€ 0.7 million),

partially offset by (v) the decrease in net tax items (€ 4.5 million) and (vi) provisions for

risks and charges (€ 1.2 million).

Net financial debt

(€ million) 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 | Abs. change
Financial and bond debt 6,547.8 6,494.2 (53.6)
Short-term financial debt (*) 875.8 475.9 (399.9)
Long-term financial debt 5,662.5 6,010.1 3476
Finance lease payables - IFRS 16 9.5 8.2 (1.3)
Hedging derivative contracts Cash flow Hedge 5.9 (50.9) (56.8)
Short-term contracts 0.3 (17.1) (174)
Long-term contracts 56 (33.8) (394)
Financial receivables and cash and cash equivalents (1,598.8) (603.7) 995.1
Cash and cash equivalents (1,384.6) (355.8) 1,0288
Financial receivables non-instrumental to operations (214.2) (2479) (33.7)
Net financial debt (**) 4,954.9 5,839.6 884.7
Finance lease payables - IFRS 16 95 8.2 (1.3)
Net financial debt (excluding the effects pursuant to IFRS 16) 4,945.4 5,831.4 886.0

(*) Includes the short-term portion of long-term financial debt and financial debt to subsidiaries.

As at 31 December 2022, net financial debt, excluding the impacts of financial liabilities
pursuant to IFRS 16 of € 8.2 million (€ 9.5 million in the corresponding period of 2021),
amounted to € 5,831.4 million, up by € 886.0 million from 31 December 2021 (€ 4,9454
million). Including the effects deriving from the application of IFRS 16, the net financial
debt came to € 5,839.6 million (€ 4,954.9 million as at 31 December 2021).
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Financial and bond debt as at 31 December 2022 amounted to € 6,494.2 million (€
6,547.8 million as at 31 December 2021) and primarily related to: bonds (€ 4,483.6 mil-
lion), loan agreements on funding from the European Investment Bank/EIB (€ 867.2
million), bank loans (€ 751.4 million), liabilities to subsidiaries (€ 383.8 million) and finan-
cial payables under IFRS 16 (€ 8.2 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the breakdown of debt by type of interest rate, inclusive of li-
abilities for leases pursuant to IFRS 16 was as follows:

(€ million) 31.12.2021 ‘ % 31.12.2022 %
Fixed rate 6,082.1 929 6,1354 94.5
Floating rate 465.7 7.1 358.8 55
Gross financial debt 6,547.8 100.0 6,494.2 100.0

Fixed-rate financial liabilities amounted to € 6,1354 million and consisted of bonds (€
4,483.6 million), three EIB loans (€ 759.7 million), bank loans (€ 500.1 million), liabilities
to subsidiaries (€ 383.8 million) and financial liabilities pursuant to IFRS 16 (€ 8.2 mil-
lion).

Fixed-rate financial liabilities increased by € 53.3 million compared to 31 December
2021, mainly due to the conclusion of a new EIB loan, partly offset by the reduction of
bonds due to the repayment made in January 2022.

Floating-rate financial liabilities decreased by € 106.9 million due to the lower utilisation
of bank credit lines (€ 350.0 million), partially offset by the stipulation of a new term
loan (€ 250.0 million).

As at 31 December 2022, there are no loan contracts in place containing financial cov-
enants and/or backed by real guarantees. Some of these contracts provide, inter alia,
for the following: (i) negative pledge commitments pursuant to which ltalgas and its
subsidiaries are subject to limitations on pledging real property rights or other restric-
tions on all or part of the respective assets, shares or merchandise; (i) pari passu and
change-of-control clauses; and (iii) limitations on certain extraordinary transactions
that the Company and its subsidiaries may carry out. As at 31 December 2022, these
commitments were respected.



5.3.4 Reclassified Statement of Cash Flows

(€ million) 2021 2022
Net profit 239.6 259.8
Correction:

- Amortisation and depreciation and other non-monetary components 41 8.8
- Interest and income taxes (240.9) (262.7)
Change in working capital due to operating activities (9.5) (20.2)
Dividends, interest and income taxes collected (paid) 244.1 274.8
Cash flow from operating activities 2374 2604
Technical investments (8.7) (1.0)
Equity investments (0.7) (105.2)
Net financial investments instrumental to operations (506.8) (856.6)
Other changes related to investments activities (2.6) -
Divestments and other changes 4.6 244
Free cash flow (276.8) (677.7)
Change in financial receivables not related to operations 48.3 (33.7)
Change in current and non-current financial debt 1,181.8 (76.7)
Reimbursements of financial liabilities for leased assets (2.2) (1.8)
Equity cash flow (223.6) (239.0)
Cash flow for the year 7275 (1,028.8)

Change in net financial debt

(€ million) 2021 2022
Free cash flow (276.8) (677.7)
Equity cash flow (223.6) (239.0)
Other changes (Difference between interest accounted for, and paid fair value of

derivatives) (3.9) 32,5
Increase in finance lease payables 11 (0.5)
Change in net financial debt (503.2) (884.7)
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5.4 Non-GAAP Measures

Alternative performance indicators

On 5 October 2015, the ESMA (European Security and Markets Authority) published its
guidance (ESMA/2015/1415) on the presentation criteria for alternative performance
indicators (API or APM), which replaces the CESR/05-178b recommendations from 3
July 2016. The NON-GAAP financial report must be considered complementary to and
not replacing the reports prepared according to IAS — IFRS.

The alternative performance indicator adopted in this report are illustrated below.

Main alternative performance indicators

Alternative economic performance indicators

Description

Gas Distribution regulated revenues

Reclassified operating costs

EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA

EBIT

Adjusted EBIT

Adjusted Earnings per Share

Operating performance indicator representing revenues from regulated gas
distribution activities, calculated by subtracting Other revenue from the
Total revenue. Other revenue is revenue from unregulated activities,
revenue for construction and enhancement of infrastructures recognised
pursuant to IFRIC 12, the release of connection contributions relating to the
financial year and any other components entered in the statement of
reconciliation of the income statement of the subsequent chapter
"Reconciliation of the reclassified income statement, statement of financial
position and statement of cash flows".

Operating performance indicator representing the legally-required
operating costs minus costs for construction and enhancement of the
infrastructure recognised pursuant to IFRIC 12 and any other components
entered in the statement of reconciliation of the income statement of the
subsequent chapter “Reconciliation of the reclassified income statement,
statement of financial position and statement of cash flows".

Operating performance indicator, calculated by subtracting from net profit
the income taxes, net income from equity investments, net financial
expense, amortisation, depreciation and impairment.

Operating performance indicator, calculated by subtracting income
components classified as special items (as defined in the chapter “Com-
ment on the economic and financial results” of this Report) from EBITDA.

Operating performance indicator, calculated by subtracting from net profit
the income taxes, net income from equity investments and net financial
expense.

Operating performance indicator, calculated by subtracting income
components classified as special items (as defined in the chapter “Com-
ment on the economic and financial results” of this Report) from EBIT.

Indicator of the profitability of the company'’s shares, calculated as the ratio
between the adjusted net profit attributable to the Group and the total
number of shares.

Alternative capital performance indicators

Description

Net working capital

Fixed capital

Net invested capital

A capital indicator that expresses the capital employed in current and non-fi-
nancial assets and liabilities. This is defined as the sum of the values relating
to trade receivables and payables, inventories, tax receivables and payables,
provisions for risks and charges, deferred tax assets, deferred tax liabilities
and other assets and liabilities.

A capital indicator that expresses the total fixed assets. It is defined as the
sum of the values relating to items of Property, plant and equipment,
Intangible assets net of Other liabilities relating to connection contributions,
Equity investments and Net debt relating to investment activities.

A capital indicator that expresses the investments made by the company in
operations. This is defined as the sum of the values related to fixed capital,
net working capital, provisions for employee benefits and assets held for
sale and directly related liabilities.




Alternative financial performance indicators

Description

Cash flow from operating activities

Free cash flow before M&A transactions

Free cash flow

Net financial debt

It represents the net cash flow from the operating activity of the mandatory
schemes, excluding the effects deriving from the application of the IFRS 15
accounting standard (Other liabilities relating to connection contributions).

It represents the cash surplus or deficit remaining after the financing of
investments, excluding the flow deriving from Merger and Acquisition
transactions.

It represents the cash surplus or deficit remaining after financing of the
investments.

Determined as the sum of short and long-term financial debt, net of cash
and cash equivalents and current financial assets, such as, for example,
securities held for trading (note 18). As at 31 December 2022, the net
financial debt reported in the Directors’ Report does not include liabilities for
€ 34.8 million consisting of the pro-rata share of the shareholders’ loan to
Italgas Newco, subordinated and convertible into shares, subscribed by the
shareholder Phaeton Holding SA, deemed not to be financial debt. The
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, in compliance with
Consob Communication no. DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006, show the net
financial debt including the debt to Phaeton Holding SA.

5.4.1 Reconciliation of the reclassified Income
Statement, Statement of Financial Position

and Statement of Cash Flows

In line with ESM/2015/1415 guidance, the reconciliation of the Income Statements,
Statements of Financial Position and Statements of Cash Flows of the ltalgas Group
and ltalgas S.p.A., commented in the Directors’ Report is provided below with the relat-

ed legally required statements.

In compliance with the ESMA provisions for the taxonomy of ESEF (European Single
Electronic Format) annual financial statements, a number of items in the balance
sheet and income statement were reclassified, also readjusting the values as at 31 De-

cember 2022.

For more details, see the “Financial Statements” section of the notes to the consolidat-
ed financial statements and separate financial statements.
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Reconciliation between reclassified consolidated financial statements and the legally required

financial statements

Reclassified Income Statement

(€ million)

Reference to the

2021

2022

explanatory
notes of the
consolidated
financial
statements

Figures from
mandatory
statements

Partial
figures from
mandatory
statements

Figures from
reclassified
statements

Figures from
mandatory
statements

Partial
figures from
mandatory
statements

Figures from
reclassified
statements

Revenues (from mandatory
statements)

- Revenues for construction
and upgrading of distribution
infrastructures IFRIC 12

- Release of connection
contributions relating to the
financial year

- Reimbursement of faulty
meters

- Repayments from third
parties

Total revenue (from reclassi-
fied statements)

Operating costs (from
mandatory statements)

- Revenues for construction
and upgrading of distribution
infrastructures IFRIC 12

- Reimbursement of faulty
meters

- Repayments from third
parties

Operating costs (from
reclassified statements)

EBITDA

Amortisation, depreciation
and impairment (from
mandatory statements)

- Release of connection
contributions relating to the
financial year

Amortisation, depreciation
and impairment (from
reclassified statements)

EBIT
Net financial expense

Net income from equity
investments

Gross profit
Income taxes

Net profit (loss)

2,163.2

(nota 27)

(nota 27)

(nota 27)

(nota 27)

(1,134.7)

(nota 27)

(nota 27)

(nota 27)

(445.3)

(nota 27)

583.2

(60.4)

2.5

525.3

(141.9)

3834

(772.0)

(19.6)

772.0

08

1,370.8

(361.9)

1,008.9

(425.7)

583.2

(60.4)

2.5

525.3

(141.9)

3834

2,312.5

(1,192.0)

(479.1)

641.4

(56.3)

34

588.5

(152.4)

436.1

(727.8)

(19.2)

727.8

2.3

7.3

19.2

1,555.9

(454.6)

1,101.3

(456.9)

6414

(56.3)

34

588.5

(152.4)

436.1



Reclassified statement of financial position

(€ million) 31.12.2021 31.12.2022
Reference to the
explanatory Partial Figures Partial Figures
(Where not expressly indicated, the item is obtained directly notes of the figures from from | figures from from
from the legally-required statement) consolidated mandatory | reclassified | mandatory | reclassified
financial statements | statements | statements | statements
statements
Fixed capital
Property, plant and equipment 3721 379.0
Intangible assets, of which: 6,938.1 79755
- Intangible assets (nota 14) 7469.8 8,509.3
from which to deduct Connection contributions (nota 21) (531.7) (510.7)
From which to deduct Contributions collected in advance (nota 21) - (231)
Equity investments 351 66.2
Financial receivables and securities instrumental to operations 28 34
Net payables relating to investment activities, composed of: (241.9) (303.5)
- Payables for investment activities (nota 19) (241.6) (308.8)
- Payables due to Conscoop shareholders (nota 18) (5.6) -
- Receivables from investment/divestment activities (nota 9) 53 53
Total fixed capital (from reclassified statements) 7,106.2 8,120.6
Net working capital
Trade receivables 388.6 3157
Inventories 105.3 120.5
Tax assets, composed of: 716 116.7
- Current and non-current income tax assets (nota 11) 446 636
- Other current tax assets (nota 12) 107 36.6
- IRES receivables for National Tax Consolidation Scheme (nota 9) 16.3 16.5
Accruals and deferrals from regulated activities 1158 188.6
Other assets, composed of: 1864 8151
- Other receivables (nota 9) 1779 8054
- Other assets (nota 12) 79 9.7
Trade payables (300.9) (7094)
Provisions for risks and charges (159.5) (144.3)
Deferred tax liabilities (50.8) (91.6)
Tax payables, composed of: (12.1) (28.2)
- Current income tax liabilities (nota 11) (34) (16.1)
- Other tax liabilities (nota 21) (87) (12.1)
- Parent company's payables for liquidation of Group VAT - -
Other liabilities, composed of: (234.7) (243.1)
- Other payables (nota 19) (220.9) (248.6)
- Third-party share of Italgas Newco shareholders' loan (nota 18) = 34.8
- Other liabilities (nota 21) (7.2) 6.2)
- Contributions collected in advance (nota 21) - (23.1)
Total net working capital (from reclassified statements) 109.7 340.0
Provisions for employee benefits (95.6) (69.9)
Assets held for sale and directly related liabilities, composed of: 2.2 =
- Assets held for sale (nota 17) 2.2 =
NET INVESTED CAPITAL 71225 8,390.7
Shareholders' equity including minority interests (2,142.5) (2,390.6)
Net financial debt
Financial and bond debt, composed of: (6,376.9) (6,510.8)
- Long-term financial liabilities (nota 18) (5735.3) (6,352.5)
- Third-party share of Italgas Newco shareholders' loan (nota 18) = 34.8
Short-term financial liabilities, composed of:
- Short-term portions of long-term financial debt (nota 18) (208.0) (117.8)
Short-term financial liabilities:
- Short-term financial liabilities (nota 18) (363.6) (3.3)
- Financial liabilities pursuant to IFRS 16 (nota 18) (70.0) (72.0)
Hedging derivative contracts Cash flow Hedge, consisting of: (5.9) 52.5
Short-term contracts (nota 20) 0.3) 171
Long-term contracts (nota 20) (5.6) 354
Financial receivables and cash and cash equivalents, composed of: 1.396.9 458.2
Cash and cash equivalents 13918 4519
Current financial assets, composed of: 51 6.3
Financial receivables non-instrumental to operations (nota 8) 5.0 56
- Other financial assets held for trading or available for sale (nota 8) 0.1 0.7
Total net financial debt (from reclassified statements) (4,980.0) (6,000.1)
HEDGING (7,122.5) (8,390.7)
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Reclassified statement of Cash Flows

(€ million)

2021

2022

ies . . . Pl e Figures from il s Figures from
Reclassified Statement of Cash Flows items and intersection of legally from o from -
required statement items mandatory g bt mandatory ekl

o b— statements statements statements

Net profit
Correction:
Amortisation, depreciation and other non-monetary components: 426.6 469.9
- Amortisation and depreciation 4444 478.1
- Net impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 09 0.9
- Contributions for connections - uses (19.6) (19.1)
- Effect of valuation using equity method 2,5 (0.6)
- Other income on equity investments = 2.7
- Non-monetary items (stock grants) 34 79
Net capital losses (capital gains) on asset sales and eliminations 36 (30.8)
Interest, income taxes and other changes: 203.6 208.7
- Interest income (3.6) (5.1)
- Interest expense 65,3 614
- Income taxes 141,9 152.4
Change in working capital due to operating activities: 76.5 (311.5)
- Inventories (3.5) (4.8)
- Trade and other receivables 351 64.4
- Trade and other payables (50.4) 397.9
- Change to provisions for risks and charges (43,5) (38.6)
- Other assets and liabilities 1484 (678.1)
- Third-party share of Italgas Newco shareholders’ loan (34.8)
from which to deduct Deferrals for connection contributions - increases 77 11.0
from which to deduct Deferrals for connection contributions - uses (19.6) (19.1)
from which to deduct effects of transactions to municipalities - -
- Change in provisions for employee benefits (9.6 (17.6)
Dividends, interest and income taxes collected (paid): (261.8) (200.7)
- Dividends collected 13 14
- Interest income 3,6 4.0
- Interest paid (59,8) (53.7)
- Income taxes (paid) refunded (206,9) (152.4)
Cash flow from operating activities 831.9 5717
Technical investments: (809.3) (766.1)
- Property, plant and equipment (30,8) (10.7)
- Intangible assets (786,2) (766.5)
- Contributions for connections - increases 77 11.0
Other changes relating to investment activities: 14.6 47.8
Disinvestments: 12.5 3254
- Assets available for sale - 51
- Property, plant and equipment 13 25
- Intangible assets - 293.2
- Companies outside the consolidation area = 19.6
- Change in receivables relating to investment activities 11,2 -
- Disposal of minority shares = 5.0
Free cash flow before M&A transactions 49.7 178.8
Newly consolidated companies (22.1) (958.7)
- Price paid for equity (22,1) (851.5)
- Cash gnd. cash equivalents from companies entered into the ~ (107.2)
consolidation area
Business units and assets (1.7) (23.1)
Free cash flow 25.9 (803.0)
Change in financial debt: 955.0 132.1
- Change in short- and long-term financial debt 955,0 (8.8)
- Third-party share of Italgas Newco shareholders' loan = 34.8
—_Cash and cash equivalents from companies entered into the consolida- - 1072
tion area
- Medium- to long-term financial receivables - (1.1
Reimbursements of financial liabilities for leased assets (21.5) (27.9)
Capital contribution from third parties 11.3 12.3
Equity cash flow (243.1) (253.3)
Net cash flow for the year 728.2 (939.8)




Reconciliation between reclassified financial statements of Italgas S.p.A. and the legally required

financial statements

Reclassified income statement

Reference 2021 2022
to the
(€ million) iﬁin;ﬁz Figures from f ure:af‘:ct;frl Figures from Figures from el ﬁgfl:;: Figures from
financial mandatory rgnan datory reclassified mandatory mandatory reclassified
S TEETE statements statements statements statements staternents statements
Revenues (from mandatory
statements) 104.5 86.8
- Income for seconded (nota 25) 2.3) (3.0)
personnel
Total revenue (from
reclassified statements) 102.2 Sl
Operating costs (from
mandatory statements) g e
- Income for seconded (nota 25) 23 30
personnel
Operating costs (from
reclassified statements) Lt (86.4)
EBITDA 11 (2.6)
?L“d".in“,iit.'r?n”eﬂf preciation (5.3) (5.3) 2.2 2.2)
EBIT (4.2) (4.2) (4.8) (4.8)
Net financial expense (23.1) (23.1) (4.2) (4.2)
I“'ﬂf;‘g?;%”gg from equity 264.1 2641 2701 2701
Gross profit 236.9 236.9 261.0 261.0
Income taxes 2.7 2.7 (1.2) (1.2)
Net profit (loss) 239.6 239.6 259.8 259.8
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Reclassified statement of financial position

(€ million) 31.12.2021 31.12.2022
Reference to the Partial Figures Partial Figures

(Where not expressly indicated, the item is obtained directly explanatory notes | figures from from | figures from from

from the legally-required statement) of the financial mandatory | reclassified | mandatory | reclassified
statements statements | statements | statements | statements

Fixed capital

Property, plant and equipment 123 10.7

Intangible assets 04 12

Equity investments 3,0104 3,107.8

Net payables for investments (0] (1.0)

Financial receivables and securities instrumental to operations 3,687.8 4,544.3

Total fixed capital (from reclassified statements) 6,709.8 7,663.0

Net working capital

Trade receivables 372 42.9

Tax assets, composed of 17.3 321

- Income tax assets (nota 11) 126 58

- Other current tax assets (nota 12) 47 20.5

- Group VAT receivables (nota 9) 0.0 58

Deferred tax assets 47 -

Other assets 44 37

- Other current and non-current assets (nota 12 e 20) 44 37

Trade payables 171 (18.6)

Provisions for risks and charges (8.0) (6.8)

Deferred tax liabilities = 9.7)

Tax payables, composed of: (31.2) (34.9)

- Income tax liabilities (nota 11) (11.5) (4.7)

- Other current tax liabilities (nota 21) 14) (1.9

- Group VAT payables (nota 19) (18.3) (32.9)

Other liabilities (10.8) (16.5)

Total net working capital (from reclassified statements) (10.8) (7.8)

Provisions for employee benefits (12.3) (9.0)

NET INVESTED CAPITAL 6.686.7 7,646.2

Shareholders' equity including minority interests (1,737.7) (1,806.6)

Net financial debt

Financial and bond debt, composed of: (6,547.8) (6,494.2)

- Long-term financial liabilities (nota 18) (5,662.5) (6,010.1)

- Short-term portions of long-term financial debt (nota 18) (1794) (383.7)

- Short-term financial liabilities (nota 18) (6964) (92.2)

- Financial liabilities pursuant to IFRS 16 (nota 18) (9.5) (8.2)

Hedging derivative contracts Cash flow Hedge, consisting of: (5.9) 50.9

Short-term contracts (0.3) 16.0

Long-term contracts (5.6) 349

Financial receivables and cash and cash equivalents, composed of: 15988 603.7

- Financial receivables non-instrumental to operations (nota 9) 2142 2479

- Cash and cash equivalents (nota 7) 1.,384.6 355.8

Total net financial debt (from reclassified statements) (4,954.9) (5.839.6)

HEDGING (6,686.7) (7,646.2)



Reclassified statement of cash flows

(€ million) 2021 2022
N - ) . i Partial figures Figures from Partial figures Figures from
eclassified Statement of Cash Flows items and intersection of from ie from ien

legally-required statement items mandatory :::::ileﬁnetcsl mandatory ;f;::iigﬁ:
statements statements

Net profit 239.6 259.8

Correction:

Amortisation, depreciation and other non-monetary components: 4.8 8.8

- Amortisation and depreciation 53 2.2

- Impairment of equity investments (2.0) -

- Non-monetary items (stock grants) 15 6.6

Interest, income taxes and other changes: (240.9) (262.7)

- Dividends and other income from equity investments (261.4) (268.2)

- Interest income (384) (52.9)

- Interest expense 61.5 57.2

- Income taxes (2.6) 12

Change in working capital due to operating activities: (10.2) (20.2)

- Inventories - -

- Trade and other receivables 36.5 (10.7)

- Trade and other payables (34.3) 4.3

- Change to provisions for risks and charges (04) (1.3)

- Other assets and liabilities (10.6) (11.1)

Change in provisions for employee benefits (14) (1.4)

Dividends, interest and income taxes collected (paid): 244.1 274.8

- Dividends and other income collected from equity investments 2614 268.2

- Interest income 384 519

- Interest paid (57.3) (49.7)

- Income taxes (paid) refunded 16 44

Cash flow from operating activities 2374 2604

Technical investments: (516.2) (1.0)

Property, plant and equipment (1.3) (1.0)

Intangible assets (74) =

Equity investments (0.7) (105.2)

Financial receivables instrumental to operations (506.8) (856.6)

Change in receivables relating to disinvestment activities (2.6) =

Disinvestments: 4.6 244

- Equity investments and operating activities sold 4.6 244

Free cash flow (276.8) (677.7)

- Change in financial receivables not related to operations 48.3 (76.6)

- Change in short- and long-term financial debt 1,181.8 (33.7)

Change in financial liabilities for leased assets (2.2) (1.8)

Equity cash flow (223.6) (239.0)

Other changes relating to non-monetary components - o

Cash flow for the year 727.5 (1,028.8)
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5.5 Business Outlook

In line with that set out in the 2022-2028 Strategic Plan, Italgas will continue to pursue
its objectives, mainly aimed at (i) continuing the digital transformation programme,
repurposing and extending the network to equip the country with cutting edge infra-
structure capable of receiving and distributing renewable gas such as biomethane and
green hydrogen; (i) consolidating actions in the energy efficiency sector, with the goal
of positioning itself among the leading sector operators; and (iii) capturing new exter-
nal growth opportunities through ATEM tenders, M&A in the gas distribution, water and
energy efficiency sectors, as well as, following the finalisation of the purchase of the
DEPA Infrastructure Group and developing the Greek market.

Russia - Ukraine conflict

As we know, in February 2022 the Russian-Ukrainian military conflict exploded follow-
ing the invasion by the Russian army into Ukraine sovereign territory. The state of polit-
ical and military tension generated and the consequent economic sanctions adopted
by the international community against Russia have had significant effects and created
turbulence on the global markets, on both the financial front and in terms of prices and
the export of raw materials, considering the significant role that Russia and Ukraine play
in the international economic chessboard.

Italgas confirms that it does not have production activities or personnel deployed in
Russia, Ukraine or countries geo-politically aligned with Russia, nor does it have com-
mercial and/or financial relationships with such countries. Italgas has continued to see
no materially significant restrictions to the execution of financial transactions through
the bank system, even after the exclusion of Russia from the SWIFT international pay-
ment system. Nevertheless, in a market already characterised by restrictions and slow-
downs in the procurement chain, especially in relation to components, we cannot rule
out that the political and economic tension induced by the conflict might exacerbate
such difficulties and have implications, in a way that cannot yet be estimated or pre-
dicted, on the effectiveness and timeliness of the Group's procurement capacity.

In particular, following a survey of a significant portion of our suppliers, conducted in
the months following the start of the conflict, it was found that none of the suppliers
surveyed reported any impact with the Russian market, while only one supplier report-
ed sub-supplies of Ukrainian origin for which it took steps to seek alternatives.

All the suppliers surveyed confirmed that they have implemented measures to prevent
the effects of any cyber attacks. Monitoring in the following months did not show any
critical issues arising as a result of the conflict.

It is also noted that most of the processes managed by the suppliers surveyed can be
classified as energy-intensive.

The survey confirmed, as previously highlighted, the growing problems in the procure-
ment of electronics and components linked to steel, both in terms of price, delivery
time and availability. The subsequent increase in utilities costs is creating tensions on
prices. Currently there are no significant critical issues in production on the energy ma-
terials/commodities markets.

With reference to the tensions on the financial markets, Italgas continues to be only
marginally exposed to foreign exchange risk and in any case only against the US dollar.

With regard to the availability of sources of financing and the related costs, it is reported
that i) more than 90% of Italgas’ financial debt is fixed rate, ii) the upcoming repayment
of a bond envisaged for 2024 has no refinancing requirements in the short term, iii) the
Group in any case holds liquidity at leading credit institutions for an amount, as at 31
December 2022, of € 451.9 million, which, including in light of the existing investment
plans and the operations planned in the short term, would make it possible to manage
any restrictions on access to credit with no significantly material effects.

With reference to the indirect risks associated with the sales companies that use the
ltalgas Group's networks, if they are found to be suffering, in a deteriorated internation-
al scenario, from adverse commodity procurement conditions such as, for example,
huge increases in the prices of the commodity that cannot be passed on to end cus-
tomers resulting in a worsening of their financial conditions and related difficulty in



regularly complying with their contractual obligations towards the Italgas Group, it is
recalled that the rules for user access to the gas distribution service in Italy are estab-
lished by ARERA and regulated in the Network Code, which also defines the system for
existing financial guarantees to protect the distributor.

With reference to the risk of lower volumes of gas injected into the national infrastruc-
ture, as we know, the current tariff regulation does not lead to exposure of the distribu-
tors to changes in volumes of gas distributed. In any case, the risk of a prolonged inter-
ruption to injection of natural gas into the distribution infrastructure, which could
impact in a significantly negative way upon the Group's operating continuity, would
nevertheless be mitigated by the actions already in place and/or being studied at na-
tional and European level, such as the optimisation of storage, the diversification of
procurement sources and the increase in domestic output.

Lastly, examining the natural gas distribution service in Greece, and in light of the sce-
narios illustrated above, the Group has not noted and does not anticipate any signifi-
cant adverse repercussions on receipts expected from gas sales companies such as to
jeopardise the financial balance of the Group, or on the regularity of payments by
counterparties.

5.6 Other information

Treasury shares

The company did not own any treasury shares as at 31 December 2022.

Related party transactions

Based on ltalgas’ current ownership structure, Italgas related parties include, in addition
to directors, statutory auditors, executives with strategic responsibilities, companies asso-
ciated with the Group or under its joint control, also the subsidiaries directly or indirectly
controlled by CDP., therefore including the shareholder Snam, and the Ministry of Econo-
my and Finance (MEF). Transactions with these entities relate to the exchange of assets,
the provision of services and, in the case of CDP, the provision of financial resources.

These transactions are part of ordinary business operations and are generally settled at
arm’s length, i.e. the conditions which would be applied between two independent
parties. All the transactions carried out were in the interest of the companies of the
Italgas Group.

Pursuant to the provisions of the applicable legislation, the Company has adopted in-
ternal procedures to ensure that transactions carried out by the Company or its subsid-
iaries with related parties are transparent and correct in their substance and procedure.

The Directors and Statutory Auditors declare potential interests that they have in rela-
tion to the Company and the Group every six months, and/or when changes in said
interests occur; in any case, they promptly inform the Chief Executive Officer (or the
Chairman, in the case of the Chief Executive Officer's interests), who in turn informs
the other directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors, of the individual transactions
that the Company intends to carry out and in which they have an interest.

CDP and CDP Reti consolidate Italgas pursuant to IFRS 10. In addition, through the
Board of Directors’ decision of 1 August 2019, CDP reclassified its investment in Italgas
S.p.A. as a controlling interest pursuant to Article 2359, paragraph 1.2) of the Italian Civil
Code and Article 93 of the CLF. Italgas is not subject to management and coordination
activities by CDP.

As at 31 December 2022, Italgas manages and coordinates its subsidiaries, pursuant to
Article 2497 et seq. of the Italian Civil Code.

The amounts involved in commercial, miscellaneous and financial relations with relat-
ed parties, descriptions of the key transactions and the impact of these on the balance
sheet, income statement and cash flows, are provided in the paragraph "Related-party
transactions” of the Notes to the consolidated and annual financial statements.

Relations with Key Managers are shown in the paragraph "Operating costs” of the Notes
to the consolidated financial statements.
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Operating performance of
subsidiaries

For information on the outlook of areas where Italgas
operates in whole or in part through subsidiaries, please
refer to "Operating performance” and "Comment on
the economic and financial results” of this Report.

Branch offices

In compliance with Art. 2428, fourth paragraph of the
Italian Civil Code, note that the Italgas does not have
secondary offices.

Research and development

Research and development activities carried out by Ital-
gas are not of a considerable amount. For more details,
see the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Significant events after year end

The significant transactions carried out after 31 Decem-
ber 2022 are summarised below. The Integrated Annual
Report has been submitted to the examination of the
Company's Board of Directors and its publication was
authorised on 24 March 2023. Therefore, this docu-
ment does not note any events that occurred subse-
quent to that date.

Capital transactions

On 9 March 2023, in execution of the 2018-2020
Co-Investment Plan approved by the Ordinary and Ex-
traordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of 19 April 2018, the
Board of Directors resolved on the free allocation of a
total of 499,502 new ordinary shares of the Company
to the beneficiaries of said Plan (third cycle of the Plan)
and executed the third tranche of the share capital in-
crease resolved on by the aforesaid Shareholders Meet-
ing, for a nominal amount of € 619,38248 taken from
retained earnings reserves.

Legal and Regulatory Framework

— In February 2023, Italgas Reti challenged Resolution
no. 654/2022/R/com, by which the Authority con-
firmed the values of the WACC parameters common
to all the infrastructure services of the electricity and
gas sectors reported in Table 1 of the TIWACC 2022-
2027. Following the application of the so-called trig-
ger mechanism, provided for in Article 8 of the
TIWACC 2022-2027 for the updating of the WACC
for the sub-period 2022-2024, the calculation of the
WACC resulting from the updating of the relevant fi-
nancial parameters results in a change of the WACC,
for each service, of less than 50 bps (basis point
spread) compared to the value in force. The setting
of a date for the hearing is currently pending.

— In February 2023, Italgas Reti challenged Resolution
no. 679/2022/R/gas, by which the Authority redeter-
mined the reference tariffs for natural gas distribution
and metering services for the years 2009 to 2021.
The setting of a date for the hearing is currently
pending.

Other events

= On 19 January 2023, ltalgas presented its 2022-2028
Sustainable Value Creation Plan, “Builders of the Fu-
ture”, to its stakeholders, which was approved by the
Company's Board of Directors on 14 December
2022. This Plan sets out specific actions and ambi-
tious targets for the creation of value for the Group's
stakeholders and for the territories in which it is pres-
ent and operates; the document is part of the trajec-
tory already outlined in the 2022-2028 Strategic
Plan, which provides for € 8.6 billion in investments.

— On 7 February 2023, ltalgas was included for the

fourth consecutive year in the S&P Global Sustain-
ability Yearbook, S&P Global's annual publication that
collects best practices, experiences and success sto-
ries of the world's leading companies on sustainabili-
ty issues.
ltalgas has also confirmed its leadership position with
inclusion in the "Top 1% S&P Global ESG Score” cate-
gory, reflecting its excellent performance.
This was achieved following the Corporate Sustain-
ability Assessment (CSA) conducted in 2022: 708
companies, out of the 7,800 asse